
 
 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

 
 Thursday, 12th July, 2012 

at 6.00 pm 
 

CONFERENCE ROOM 3 - CIVIC CENTRE 
 

This meeting is open to the public 
 

 Members 
 

 Councillor Moulton (Chair) 
Councillor Barnes-Andrews 
Councillor Chaloner 
Councillor Fitzhenry 
Councillor Hannides 
Councillor Lewzey 
Councillor McEwing 
Councillor Pope 
Councillor Tucker 
Councillor Vinson 

 Appointed Members 
 

 Mrs U Topp, (Roman Catholic Church) 
Mr T Blackshaw, The Church of England 
(Dioceses of Winchester & Portsmouth) 
Vacancy – Primary Parent Governors 
Representative 
Vacancy – Parent Governors Representative 
Secondary Schools  

 Contacts 
 

 Ed Grimshaw 
Democratic Support Officer 
Tel. 023 8083 2390 
Email: ed.grimshaw@southampton.gov.uk  

  
 Suki Sitaram 

Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement 

Tel: 023 8083 2060 
Email: suki.sitaram@southampton.gov.uk  

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Role of Overview and Scrutiny Smoking Policy 

Overview and Scrutiny includes the 
following three functions: 
 

The Council operates a no-smoking policy in all 
civic buildings. 

• Holding the Executive to account by 
questioning and evaluating the 
Executive’s actions, both before and 
after decisions taken.   

• Developing and reviewing Council 
policies, including the Policy 
Framework and Budget Strategy.   

• Making reports and recommendations 
on any aspect of Council business 
and other matters that affect the City 
and its citizens.   

 
Overview and Scrutiny can ask the 
Executive to reconsider a decision, but 
they do not have the power to change 
the decision themselves.  
 

Mobile Telephones 
 
Please turn off your mobile telephone whilst in 
the meeting.  
 
Fire Procedure 
 
In the event of a fire or other emergency a 
continuous alarm will sound and you will be 
advised by Council officers what action to take. 
 
Access  
 
Access is available for disabled people. Please 
contact the Democratic Support Officer who will 
help to make any necessary arrangements. 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee 
 

The Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee holds the Executive to 
account, exercises the call-in process, 
and sets and monitors standards for 
scrutiny.  It formulates a programme of 
scrutiny inquiries and appoints Scrutiny 
Panels to undertake them.  Members of 
the Executive cannot serve on this 
Committee. 
 
Southampton City Council’s Priorities 

• More jobs for local people  

•  More local people who are well 
education and skilled  

• A better and safer place in which to 
live and invest  

• Better protection for children and 
young people  

• Support for the most vulnerable 
people and families  

• Reducing health inequalities  

• Reshaping the Council for the future  
 

 

Dates of Meetings: Municipal Year 2012/13 
 
To be discussed  

 



 

 

CONDUCT OF MEETING 
 
Terms of Reference  

 
Business to be discussed 

 
The general role and terms of reference for 
the Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Committee, together with those for all 
Scrutiny Panels, are set out in Part 2 
(Article 6) of the Council’s Constitution, and 
their particular roles are set out in Part 4 
(Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules – 
paragraph 5) of the Constitution. 
 

Only those items listed on the attached 
agenda may be considered at this meeting. 
 
Quorum 
The minimum number of appointed Members 
required to be in attendance to hold the 
meeting is 4. 
 

Rules of Procedure 
The meeting is governed by the Council 
Procedure Rules and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules as set out in Part 
4 of the Constitution. 
 

 

Disclosure of Interests 

Members are required to disclose, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct, both 
the existence and nature of any “personal” or “prejudicial” interests they may have in relation 
to matters for consideration on this Agenda. 
 

Personal Interests 

A Member must regard himself or herself as having a personal interest in any matter:  

(i) if the matter relates to an interest in the Member’s register of interests; or 

(ii) if a decision upon a matter might reasonably be regarded as affecting to a 
greater extent than other Council Tax payers, ratepayers and inhabitants of the 
District, the wellbeing or financial position of himself or herself, a relative or a 
friend or:- 

 (a) any employment or business carried on by such person; 

 (b) any person who employs or has appointed such a person, any firm in 
which such a person is a partner, or any company of which such a 
person is a director; 

 (c) any corporate body in which such a person has a beneficial interest in a 
class of securities exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

 (d) any body listed in Article 14(a) to (e) in which such a person holds a 
position of general control or management. 

A Member must disclose a personal interest 
 



 

 
Prejudicial Interests 

Having identified a personal interest, a Member must consider whether a member of the 
public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably think that the interest was so 
significant and particular that it could prejudice that Member’s judgement of the public 
interest. If that is the case, the interest must be regarded as “prejudicial” and the Member 
must disclose the interest and withdraw from the meeting room during discussion on the 
item. 
 
It should be noted that a prejudicial interest may apply to part or the whole of an item. 
 
Where there are a series of inter-related financial or resource matters, with a limited 
resource available, under consideration a prejudicial interest in one matter relating to that 
resource may lead to a member being excluded from considering the other matters relating 
to that same limited resource. 
 
There are some limited exceptions.  
 
Note:  Members are encouraged to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or his staff in 
Democratic Services if they have any problems or concerns in relation to the above. 
 

Principles of Decision Making 
 
All decisions of the Council will be made in accordance with the following principles:- 
 

• proportionality (i.e. the action must be proportionate to the desired outcome); 

• due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 

• respect for human rights; 

• a presumption in favour of openness, accountability and transparency; 

• setting out what options have been considered; 

• setting out reasons for the decision; and 

• clarity of aims and desired outcomes. 
 

In exercising discretion, the decision maker must: 
 

• understand the law that regulates the decision making power and gives effect to it.  The 
decision-maker must direct itself properly in law; 

• take into account all relevant matters (those matters which the law requires the authority 
as a matter of legal obligation to take into account); 

• leave out of account irrelevant considerations; 

• act for a proper purpose, exercising its powers for the public good; 

• not reach a decision which no authority acting reasonably could reach, (also known as 
the “rationality” or “taking leave of your senses” principle); 

• comply with the rule that local government finance is to be conducted on an annual basis.  
Save to the extent authorised by Parliament, ‘live now, pay later’ and forward funding are 
unlawful; and 

• act with procedural propriety in accordance with the rules of fairness. 
 



 

 

AGENDA 

Agendas and papers are now available online via the Council’s Website 

 
1 APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
 To note any changes in membership of the Panel made in accordance with Council 

Procedure Rule 4.3.  
 

2 ELECTION OF VICE - CHAIR  
 

 To consider nominations for the appointment of Vice Chair for the Municipal Year 
2012/13.  
 

3 DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS  
 

 In accordance with the Local Government Act 2000, and the Council's Code of 
Conduct adopted on 16th May 2007, Members to disclose any personal or prejudicial 
interests in any matter included on the agenda for this meeting.  
 
NOTE: Members are reminded that, where applicable, they must complete the 
appropriate form recording details of any such interests and hand it to the Democratic 
Support Officer prior to the commencement of this meeting.   
 

4 DECLARATIONS OF SCRUTINY INTEREST  
 

 Members are invited to declare any prior participation in any decision taken by a 
Committee, Sub-Committee, or Panel of the Council on the agenda and being 
scrutinised at this meeting.  
    

5 DECLARATION OF PARTY POLITICAL WHIP  
 

 Members are invited to declare the application of any party political whip on any matter 
on the agenda and being scrutinised at this meeting.  
 

6 STATEMENT FROM THE CHAIR  
 

7 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the Minutes of the meetings held on 12th April 
and the 8th May 2012 and to deal with any matters arising, attached.  
 

8 ANNUAL MEETING PROGRAMME 2012 - 2013  
 

 Report of the Democratic Services Manager seeking approval of a revised programme 
of meeting dates, attached.  
 
 
 
 



 

9 SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN  
 

 The report of the Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and the Director of 
Children’s Services and Learning detailing the results of the OFSTED inspection of 
Safeguarding and Children Looked After Services, attached.  
 

10 SAFE CITY PARTNERSHIP PLAN  
 

 Report of the Community Safety Manager detailing for Committee the content of the 
Plan and indentify any related issues or concerns, attached.  
 

11 FORWARD PLAN  
 

 Report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business Improvement detailing items 
requested for discussion from the current Forward Plan, attached.  
 

12 SHARED SERVICES  
 

 Report of the Cabinet Member for Resources detailing the Council’s developing 
approach to the development of shared services, attached.  
 

13 SCRUTINY REVIEW PROGRAMME 2012/13  
 

 Report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business Improvement seeking 
approval for a Scrutiny Review programme for 2012- 2013, attached.   
 

Wednesday, 4 July 2012 Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 



 

 

- 32 - 
 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING  

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 12 APRIL 2012 
 

Present: 

Councillors Barnes-Andrews (Chair), Vinson, B Harris, Kolker, Mead, Morrell and Thomas 
 
Apologies 

Councillors L Harris, Stevens, Walker, Dr R Williams, Mr J Bettridge, Mrs U Topp and 
Mr T Blackshaw 
 

 
Also in attendance 

Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council 
Councillor Moulton – Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Learning 
 

 
74. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
The Panel noted apologies from Councillors R Williams, Walker and L Harris and the 
apologies of Mr Bettridge, Mr Blackshaw and Mrs Topp. In addition the Committee  that 
Councillor Thomas was in attendance as a nominated substitute for Councillor R Williams 
in accordance with Procedure Rule 4.3. 
 

75. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
 
RESOLVED: that the minutes for the Committee meeting on 8th March 2012 be approved 
and signed as a correct record.  (Copy of the minutes circulated with the agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 

76. FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement detailing items requested for discussion from the current Forward Plan, 
(Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee noted the briefing paper detailing the Future Service 
Delivery Arrangements for ROMANSE and CCTV set out as Appendix 1 of the report. 
 

77. SCHOOL ATTENDANCE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director for Children’s Services and 
Learning detailing the overall absence figures from schools within the City. (Copy of the 
report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 
Liz Filer (Head Teacher at Bassett Green Primary School) and Graham Wilson (Head 
Teacher at Saint George Voluntary Aided College) were in attendance and, with the 
consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting.  

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

- 33 - 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee review progress made against school attendance targets 
in twelve months in line with the work being undertaken with the Troubled Families 
initiative. 
 

78. BIG SOCIETY INQUIRY - DRAFT FINAL REPORT  
 
The Committee considered  the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement detailing a draft of the Committee’s report on the Big Society in 
Southampton.(Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed 
minutes). 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee  
 

(i) considered and approved the draft recommendations set out  in the report of the 
Big Society Inquiry in line with amendments circulated by the Chair and Vice-
Chair at the meeting; 

(ii) delegated authority to the Chair of the Committee to approve any minor 
amendments arising from considerations raised at the Committee’s meeting on 
12th April 2012.   

(iii) agreed that the amended recommendations and report be presented to the 
Cabinet meeting on the 16th April 2012; 

 
79. UPDATE ON PROGRESS - PREVIOUS SCRUTINY INQUIRIES  

 
The Committee noted the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement providing an update on the progress made by the Executive in implementing 
recommendations generated by the Scrutiny Inquiries which have been completed. (Copy 
of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 

80. MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement, detailing actions and monitoring progress of the recommendations of the 
Panel. (Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed 
minutes). 
    



 

 

- 34 - 
 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING  

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 8 MAY 2012 
 

Present: 

Councillors Barnes-Andrews (Chair), Vinson, B Harris, Kolker, Morrell, Stevens, Dr R Williams, 
Daunt and Norris 
 
Apologies 

Councillors L Harris and Mead and Mr J Bettridge, Mrs U Topp and Mr T Blackshaw 
 
Also in attendance 

 Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council  

 
81. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
The Panel noted that Councillor Norris was in attendance as a replacement for Councillor 
Walker and Councillor Daunt was in attendance as a nominated substitute for Councillor  L 
Harris,in accordance with Procedure Rule 4.3. 
 

82. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public were excluded 
from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the confidential appendices to the 
following Item. The Committee noted that Appendices 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the appended 
Cabinet report were not for publication by virtue of category 3 (financial and business 
affairs) of paragraph 10.4 of the access to information procedure rules as contained in the 
Constitution. It is not in the public interest to disclose this information because it 
compromises financial and business information that if made public would prejudice the 
Council’s ability to operate in a commercial environment and obtain best value during a 
‘live’ procurement process prior to final tenders being received and contracts being entered 
into. 
 

83. CALL-IN OF EXECUTIVE DECISION CAB 11/12 7980 - FUTURE DELIVERY 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR ROMANSE AND CCTV  
 
The Committee considered the Senior Manager, Customer and Business Improvement, 
detailing the Call-in of the Executive Decision CAB 11/12 7980 – Future Delivery 
arrangements for Romanse and CCTV. (Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 
RESOLVED  
 

(i) that the Committee recommended that the Decision Makers re-consider the 
called-in decision at the next decision meeting; and 

(ii) that the Committee recommended that the Chair and Vice- Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee should be briefed on the confidential 
details of future projects. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

- 32 - 
 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING  

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 12 APRIL 2012 
 

Present: 

Councillors Barnes-Andrews (Chair), Vinson, B Harris, Kolker, Mead, Morrell and Thomas 
 
Apologies 

Councillors L Harris, Stevens, Walker, Dr R Williams, Mr J Bettridge, Mrs U Topp and 
Mr T Blackshaw 
 

 
Also in attendance 

Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council 
Councillor Moulton – Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and Learning 
 

 
74. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
The Panel noted apologies from Councillors R Williams, Walker and L Harris and the 
apologies of Mr Bettridge, Mr Blackshaw and Mrs Topp. In addition the Committee  that 
Councillor Thomas was in attendance as a nominated substitute for Councillor R Williams 
in accordance with Procedure Rule 4.3. 
 

75. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (INCLUDING MATTERS ARISING)  
 
RESOLVED: that the minutes for the Committee meeting on 8th March 2012 be approved 
and signed as a correct record.  (Copy of the minutes circulated with the agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 

76. FORWARD PLAN  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement detailing items requested for discussion from the current Forward Plan, 
(Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee noted the briefing paper detailing the Future Service 
Delivery Arrangements for ROMANSE and CCTV set out as Appendix 1 of the report. 
 

77. SCHOOL ATTENDANCE  
 
The Committee considered the report of the Executive Director for Children’s Services and 
Learning detailing the overall absence figures from schools within the City. (Copy of the 
report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 
Liz Filer (Head Teacher at Bassett Green Primary School) and Graham Wilson (Head 
Teacher at Saint George Voluntary Aided College) were in attendance and, with the 
consent of the Chair, addressed the meeting.  

 

Agenda Item 7
Appendix 1



 

 

- 33 - 
 

RESOLVED that the Committee review progress made against school attendance targets 
in twelve months in line with the work being undertaken with the Troubled Families 
initiative. 
 

78. BIG SOCIETY INQUIRY - DRAFT FINAL REPORT  
 
The Committee considered  the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement detailing a draft of the Committee’s report on the Big Society in 
Southampton.(Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed 
minutes). 
 
RESOLVED that the Committee  
 

(i) considered and approved the draft recommendations set out  in the report of the 
Big Society Inquiry in line with amendments circulated by the Chair and Vice-
Chair at the meeting; 

(ii) delegated authority to the Chair of the Committee to approve any minor 
amendments arising from considerations raised at the Committee’s meeting on 
12th April 2012.   

(iii) agreed that the amended recommendations and report be presented to the 
Cabinet meeting on the 16th April 2012; 

 
79. UPDATE ON PROGRESS - PREVIOUS SCRUTINY INQUIRIES  

 
The Committee noted the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement providing an update on the progress made by the Executive in implementing 
recommendations generated by the Scrutiny Inquiries which have been completed. (Copy 
of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed minutes). 
 

80. MONITORING SCRUTINY RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
The Committee noted the report of the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement, detailing actions and monitoring progress of the recommendations of the 
Panel. (Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and appended to the signed 
minutes). 
    



 

 

- 34 - 
 

SOUTHAMPTON CITY COUNCIL 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETING  

MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON THE 8 MAY 2012 
 

Present: 

Councillors Barnes-Andrews (Chair), Vinson, B Harris, Kolker, Morrell, Stevens, Dr R Williams, 
Daunt and Norris 
 
Apologies 

Councillors L Harris and Mead and Mr J Bettridge, Mrs U Topp and Mr T Blackshaw 
 
Also in attendance 

 Councillor Smith – Leader of the Council  

 
81. APOLOGIES AND CHANGES IN PANEL MEMBERSHIP (IF ANY)  

 
The Panel noted that Councillor Norris was in attendance as a replacement for Councillor 
Walker and Councillor Daunt was in attendance as a nominated substitute for Councillor  L 
Harris,in accordance with Procedure Rule 4.3. 
 

82. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, specifically the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules contained within the Constitution, the press and public were excluded 
from the meeting in respect of any consideration of the confidential appendices to the 
following Item. The Committee noted that Appendices 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 of the appended 
Cabinet report were not for publication by virtue of category 3 (financial and business 
affairs) of paragraph 10.4 of the access to information procedure rules as contained in the 
Constitution. It is not in the public interest to disclose this information because it 
compromises financial and business information that if made public would prejudice the 
Council’s ability to operate in a commercial environment and obtain best value during a 
‘live’ procurement process prior to final tenders being received and contracts being entered 
into. 
 

83. CALL-IN OF EXECUTIVE DECISION CAB 11/12 7980 - FUTURE DELIVERY 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR ROMANSE AND CCTV  
 
The Committee considered the Senior Manager, Customer and Business Improvement, 
detailing the Call-in of the Executive Decision CAB 11/12 7980 – Future Delivery 
arrangements for Romanse and CCTV. (Copy of the report circulated with the agenda and 
appended to the signed minutes). 
 
RESOLVED  
 

(i) that the Committee recommended that the Decision Makers re-consider the 
called-in decision at the next decision meeting; and 

(ii) that the Committee recommended that the Chair and Vice- Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Committee should be briefed on the confidential 
details of future projects. 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: ANNUAL MEETING PROGRAMME 2012 – 2013  

DATE OF DECISION: 12 JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: DEMOCRATIC SERVICES MANAGER 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None. 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

Following the publication of the new Administrations Executive meeting dates, the 
Chair of Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee requested that consideration 
be given to revising the Committee programme of meeting dates to reflect the 
established practice of meeting on the Thursday before the Executive decision 
making meetings.    

In accordance with Member User Group (December 2005): That where time permits 
any changes to the published calendar requested in the day or time of meetings 
should firstly be submitted to the appropriate committee for approval.  The existing 
date programme was confirmed by Council on 16th May, 2012.  Therefore, this report 
is brought to Committee for consideration.   

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) To consider and approve the revised programme of meeting dates 
set out in the report.  

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To ensure that the Committee has an opportunity to review any forthcoming 
executives decisions.  

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

2. The Committee’s current programme of meetings is detailed on the internet 
and conforms to the established principle that Scrutiny meetings are held on 
Thursday evenings.   

3. These dates were set up to reflect the original programme of executive 
decision dates however with the change of these dates they no longer reflect 
the established principle of meeting on the Thursday prior to decision making. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Agenda Item 8



 2

4. The following table details the current and proposed dates: 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROGRAMME 
2012 – 2013 

EXISTING DATE PROPOSED DATE 

2nd August 2012  16th August 2012 

30th August 2012  13th September 2012 

27th September 2012 11th October 2012 

25th October 2012 8th November 2012 

22nd November 2012 13th December 2012 

16th January 2013  24th January 2013 

10th January 2013  14th February 2013 

7th March 2013  14th March 2013 

11 April 2013 11th April 2013 
 

5. It is proposed that the meetings will start at 6:00pm and that there will be a 
pre-meeting for Committee Members only starting at 5:30 pm. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

6. Not to adjust the programme of meetings.  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue 

7. None. 

Property/Other 

8. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory Power to undertake the proposals in the report:  

9. None. 

Other Legal Implications: 

10. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

11. None. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 3

AUTHOR: Name:  Judy Cordell Tel: 023 8083 2766 

 E-mail: judy.cordell@southampton.gov.uk 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. None. 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None. 

Integrated Impact Assessment   

Do the implications/subject/recommendations in the report require an 
Integrated Impact Assessment to be carried out. 

Yes/No 

Other Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None.  

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:   

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN 

DATE OF DECISION: 12 JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES & 
DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN’S SERVICES AND LEARNING 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

An ‘Announced’ inspection of Safeguarding and Children Looked After services by 
OfSTED took place during 23 April to 4 May 2012.  The report was published by 
OfSTED on 13 June 2012.  A copy of it is attached as Appendix 1 to this report. 

The report recommends that the Council works with its partners to address 17 areas 
for improvement identified by OfSTED as being important in the future improvement 
of services. Three of these are highlighted for immediate implementation; 10 are 
identified as being important to progress within three months and four to be 
addressed within six months. The areas for immediate implementation are concerned 
with: quality of social work, ‘core group’ meetings and delivery of statutory visits to 
children in care.  A quality improvement plan has been developed to respond to the 
recommendations. This is set out as Appendix 2 to this report. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Committee consider this report with supporting appendices 
and discuss the content of the Plan and identify any related issues 
or concerns with the Cabinet Member to address with the service. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To adhere to the external inspection judgements following the Safeguarding and 
Looked After Children inspection. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

2. The inspection makes 22 judgements across the two main areas of service. 10 of 
these relate to ‘safeguarding’ services provided by the council and its partners and 
12 of them relate to services and outcomes for ‘children looked after’. These are 
set out in Table 1.  Of the 22 judgements there are four regarded as the overall 
key judgements which OfSTED then uses to categorise its overall view of 
Safeguarding in Southampton.  These are;  

1. Safeguarding: overall effectiveness  

2. Safeguarding: capacity to improve  

3. Children Looked After: overall effectiveness  

4. Children Looked After: capacity to improve.  

3. On all four of these judgements rated Southampton as ‘adequate’.  The 22 
individual judgements comprised: 1 ‘good’, 18 ‘adequate’ and 3 ‘inadequate’. The 
one ‘good’ judgement is for health outcomes for children looked after. The three 
inadequate judgements are for: a) safeguarding: quality of provision; b) children 

Agenda Item 9



 2

looked after: economic well‐being and c) children looked after: quality of 

provision. 

4. The inspection report sets out the detail behind the findings. Whilst there are 
areas of both strength and weakness identified throughout the report, there were 
key messages.  

5. The kernel of the city’s ability to safeguard and look after children is its children’s 

social care workforce. The quality of this is not fit‐for‐purpose.  Efforts over the last 

two years in particular to make it so have been undermined significantly by very 
high staff turnover and too many agency staff, particularly in critical areas of child 
protection and court proceedings. This is related directly to the changes to terms 
and conditions. 

6. Whilst children’s social care managers have established effective processes to 
manage cases and ensure processes are well implemented, there remains far 

too much inconsistency and variability of front‐line practice. 

7. Basic building blocks of practice remain too inconsistent. For example, file 
chronologies, whilst completed, are not sufficient to inform the care planning for 
individual children. 

8. Whilst strong partnerships are evident (e.g. the CYPT, the LSCB), these are 
operating at a level to be expected, and there is a need for evidence of greater 
challenge being posed with a view to positively effecting outcomes.  

9. Some specific strengths and weaknesses highlighted are as follows:  
Strengths  
• Safeguarding – systematic application of common assessment processes 

across agencies.  
• Parents, carers and children are satisfied with services when their social 

worker is consistent and experienced.  
• Transparency for parents and carers regarding expectations of them.  
• Thresholds for intervention are clear.  
• Specialist teams (e.g. fostering, adoption, disability) provide consistently high 

quality services that are child focused.  
• Strength and expertise of senior managers in working to maximise the ability 

of the existing workforce, and growing strength of leadership team in 
children’s social care. 

  
Weakness  
• Level of staff turnover.  
• High percentage of agency social workers.  
• Preponderance of newly qualified social workers.  
• Quality of practice including the quality of assessments and variability of 

supervision  
• Evidence of engagement of children, young people, parent and carers to 

shape service provision.  
• Ability and capacity of the services to address ethnicity meaningfully at an 

individual level.  
• Formulating, implementing and pursing child protection and care plans at a 

single and multi agency level.  
• Insufficient preparation for independence and adulthood, including the 

provision of suitable long term housing solutions.  



 3

10. Our response to the outcomes 

At December 2011, the Directorate self assessment, updated every six months, 
concluded that the service was continuing to improve and had the prospect of 
being judged good overall, though adequate in some important respects.  This 
self assessment was submitted, as part of evidence to the inspection team.  The 
difference between the inspection outcome and the self assessment is shown in 
Table 1.  The reason for the difference in judgements is linked to the three 
inadequate judgements a) safeguarding: quality of provision; b) children looked 

after: economic well‐being and c) children looked after: quality of provision. 

OfSTED looked in depth at case management over a period of several years. 
The self assessment was more focussed upon evidence relating to current 
practice, evidenced also by the quality assurance of other OfSTED inspections of 
Safeguarding (unannounced), and inspections of Private Fostering, Adoption and 
Fostering that rated these important parts of Safeguarding services as good or 
better.  

11. Whilst the areas of development identified by OfSTED were known to the 
management team a judgement was drawn on the level of improvements that 
was being achieved and the evidence to support this.  This evidence whilst 
considered was not deemed to have been consistent enough or in place for long 
enough to warrant a better judgement than ‘inadequate’ in three areas, including 
quality of provision judgements in both safeguarding and children looked after 
services. The fact that two of the three inadequate judgements relate to ‘quality of 
provision’, which in Ofsted terms relates directly to staff calibre, capacity and the 
consistency of case work, these judgements, impacted negatively on the 
conclusions that inspectors reached on for the remaining 19 areas of judgement. 

12. How are we progressing the development and implementation of an action 
plan 

The report recommendations require a response from a range of parties, across 
the city council, NHS Southampton City and the wider Children and Young 
People’s Trust partners – e.g., police, schools and voluntary services. 

 Table 1 – Self Assessment vs OfSTED Announced Inspection judgements 

13.  Southampton Self 
Assessment Grade 
December 2011  

OfSTED Announced  
Inspection Grade  

May 2012  
Safeguarding Services  
Overall effectiveness  Good  Adequate  
Capacity to improve  Good  Adequate  
Equality and diversity  Adequate  Adequate  
Quality of provision  Adequate  Inadequate  
Safeguarding outcomes for children 
and young people 

Adequate  Adequate  

The contribution of health agencies 
to keeping children and young 
people safe  

Good  Adequate  

Partnership working  Good  Adequate  
Performance management and 
quality assurance 

Good  Adequate  

Leadership and management  Good  Adequate  



 4

Ambition and prioritisation Good  Adequate  
Children Looked After Services  
Overall effectiveness  Good  Adequate  
Capacity to improve  Good  Adequate  
Quality of provision  Good  Inadequate  
Being healthy outcomes  Good  Good  
Staying safe outcomes  Good  Adequate  
Enjoying and achieving outcomes  Adequate  Adequate  
Making a positive contribution 
(including involvement) 

Adequate  Adequate  

Economic well‐being outcomes  Adequate  Inadequate  

Performance management and 
quality assurance 

Good  Adequate  

Leadership and management 
(ambition and prioritisation) 

Good  Adequate  

Leadership and management  Good  Adequate  
 

14. The City Council is establishing a working group to lead and manage the 
implementation of a quality improvement plan centred on a commitment to 
securing a fit for purpose children’s social care workforce; and ensuring sufficient 
high calibre supervision, training and career development to sustain and retain 
the workforce, e.g., capacity to assist newly qualified social workers manage 
complex care procedures.  NHS Southampton City, is taking responsibility for 
ensuring health providers respond to the recommendations, particularly those 
specific to the health arena.  The Children and Young People’s Trust ‘Stay Safe’ 
working group will hold responsibility for joining partners together.  

15. The Department for Education (DfE) has recently commissioned the development 
of a national Children’s Improvement Board to oversee and advise on improving 
outcomes for children and young people across a number of areas.  One key 
activity for the Board has been the development of a Peer Review programme.  
The programme is designed to complement external inspections regimes, such 
as OfSTED.  The expectation, from the DfE, is that all 152 Local Authorities 
Children’s Services will participate in a Peer Review during the financial year 
2012/13.  Peer reviews are led by a Director of Children’s Services from a local 
authority in the same region as the authority being reviewed.  They are supported 
by a team of three experienced senior officers from different local authorities, also 
from the same region.   

16. Southampton’s Children’s Services and Learning are taking part in a Peer 
Review of its proposals for responding to the recommended improvements 
identified by OfSTED. This Peer review will take place in December 2012. This 
timetable aligns with the completion date for all the recommendations.  Findings 
from the peer review will be available to the Council and its Partners in February 
2013 in the form of a report. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

17. To not respond to the considered views of the national regulatory service for 
inspecting the collective effectiveness of safeguarding and children looked after 
services would potentially put the Local Authority and its partners at risk of failing 
to meet the safeguarding needs of vulnerable local children and young people.  
Not responding to areas for improvement identified by OfSTED would also have 



 5

significant reputational consequences for the council when its safeguarding 
arrangements are next assessed by OfSTED. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue 

18. There are no capital implications as a direct result of this report.   

19. In order to respond to a large number of the recommendations revenue resources 
will be found within the existing Children’s Services and Learning budgets 

Property/Other 

20. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory Power to undertake the proposals in the report:  

21. This report has not had the benefit of Legal Services input. 

Other Legal Implications: 

22. This report has not had the benefit of Legal Services input. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

23 None. 

AUTHOR: Name:  Felicity Budgen Tel: 023 8083 3021 

 E-mail: Felicity.budgensouthampton.gov.uk 



 6

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Inspection of safeguarding and looked after children services 

2. Draft quality improvement plan 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

1. None 

Integrated Impact Assessment   

Do the implications/subject/recommendations in the report require an 
Integrated Impact Assessment to be carried out. 

Yes/No 

Other Background Documents 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document 
to be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. None  

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at:  

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: All 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
Inspection of safeguarding and 
looked after children services   
Southampton  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Inspection dates: 23 April to 4 May 2012 

Reporting inspector Pietro Battista 

 

Age group: All 

Published: 13 June 2012 

 

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 1



 

© Crown copyright 2012 

 

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk 

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial purposes, provided 

that the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of 

publication are stated. 

 

Further copies of this report are obtainable from the local authority or at www.ofsted.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

1 

Contents 

About this inspection 1 

The inspection judgements and what they mean 1 

Service information 1 

Safeguarding services 5 

Overall effectiveness  5 

Capacity for improvement  6 

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young people 8 

Children and young people are safe and feel safe  8 

Quality of provision  9 

The contribution of health agencies to keeping children and young people 
safe    15 
 

Ambition and prioritisation   18 

Leadership and management   18 

Performance management and quality assurance 20 

Partnership working  22 

Services for looked after children 23 

Overall effectiveness  23 

Capacity for improvement  24 

How good are outcomes for looked after children and care leavers? 26 

Being healthy  26 

Staying safe  28 

Enjoying and achieving  29 

Making a positive contribution, including user engagement 31 

Economic well-being  32 

 
Quality of provision  34 

Ambition and prioritisation  38 

Leadership and management  39 

Performance management and quality assurance 40 

Record of main findings 42 

 

 

 



Southampton  inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

2 

About this inspection 

1. The purpose of the inspection is to evaluate the contribution made by 
relevant services in the local area towards ensuring that children and 
young people are properly safeguarded and to determine the quality of 
service provision for looked after children and care leavers. The inspection 
team consisted of four , one shadow 
additional inspector and one inspector from the Care Quality Commission. 
The inspection was carried out under the Children Act 2004. 

2. The evidence evaluated by inspectors included: 

 discussions with 52 children and young people receiving services, 32 
carers, front line staff and managers, senior officers including the 

Safeguarding Children Board, elected members and a range of 
community representatives 

 analysing and evaluating reports from a variety of sources including 
lan, performance data, 

information from the inspection of local settings, such as schools and 
day care provision and the evaluations of serious case reviews 
undertaken by Ofsted in accordance with gether To 

, 2010 

 a review of 103 case files for children and young people with a range 
of need. This provided a view of services provided over time and the 
quality of reporting, recording and decision making undertaken 

 outcomes arising from visits to a range of services including: contact 
and assessment, child protection and children in need, looked after 
children s centres and schools 

 the outcomes of the most recent annual unannounced inspection of 
local authority contact, referral and assessment services undertaken 
in May 2011 

 interviews and focus groups with front line professionals, managers 
and senior staff from NHS Southampton City, the University 
Southampton Hospital Foundation Trust, and the Solent NHS Trust. 

The inspection judgements and what they 
mean 

3. All inspection judgements are made using the following four point scale. 

 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

3 

Outstanding (Grade 1) A service that significantly exceeds minimum 
requirements 

Good (Grade 2) A service that exceeds minimum requirements 

Adequate (Grade 3) A service that only meets minimum requirements 

Inadequate (Grade 4) A service that does not meet minimum requirements 

Service information 

4. Southampton has a resident population of approximately 46,700 children 
and young people aged 0 to 18, representing 19.5% of the total 
population of the area. In January 2012, 29.4% of the school population 
was classified as belonging to an ethnic group other than White British, 
compared to 22.5% in England overall. Polish and Punjabi are the most 
recorded commonly spoken community languages in the area and 21.1% 
of pupils speak English as an additional language. Some 2.2% of pupils 
are of Black African background. 

5. Southampton has 80 schools comprising 61 primary schools, 12 secondary 
schools, five special schools and two pupil referral units. Early years 
service provision is delivered predominantly through the private and 
voluntary sector, including childminders in 112 settings. There are 10 local 
authority maintained nurseries. 

6. The Southampton Children and Young People Trust was set up in January 
2008. The Trust includes representatives from education services, primary, 
secondary, special and further education; Hampshire Constabulary; 
Jobcentre Plus; the Police Authority; NHS Southampton City; the Safe City 

Faiths, Southampton Safeguarding Children Board and the Youth 
Offending Service. 

7. The Southampton Safeguarding Children Board (SSCB) has been 
independently chaired since April 2008. The Board brings together the 
main organisations working with children, young people and families in the 
area that provide safeguarding services. 

8. Social care services for children have 220 foster carers and 64 children 
placed in independent foster agency placements, as of 31 March 2012. 
Community-

protection and court teams (PACTs), two family centres, a family contact 
centre, and city-wide teams for children with disabilities (the children and 
young p development service) adoption, fostering, children looked 
after, an unaccompanied asylum see

. There is a single emergency out of hours service. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

4 

9. Early intervention and prevention support to families are delivered through 
 Integrated youth 

support service  
Targeted specialist services are provided through two multi-professional 
locality teams. 

10. At the time of the inspection there were 421 looked after children. They 
comprise 144 children less than five years of age, 242 children of school 
age (5 16), 35 post-16 young people and a total of 135 care leavers open 
to the Pathways Team. At the time of the inspection there were 266 
children who were the subject of a child protection plan. This is a slight 
decrease from the same time last year, when it was 279, and a significant 
increase from two previous years, when it was 179. These comprise 116 
females and 139 males, 11 were unborn children. Some 47.74% (127) of 
these children are aged under five, 37.60% (100) are aged 5-11 and 
14.66% (39) are 12 years or older. The highest category of registration 
was multiple at 55.29% (147) followed by neglect at 21.05% (56), 
emotional at 15.03% (40), sexual at 5.63% (15) and physical at 3% (8). 

11. Commissioning and planning of National Health Services and primary care 
are carried out by NHS Southampton as part of the Southampton, 
Hampshire, Isle of Wight & Portsmouth Primary Care Trust cluster. 
The Southampton Clinical Commissioning Group, due for authorisation 
prior to 1st April 2013, currently operates within NHS Southampton. The 
main provider of acute hospital services is University Hospital 
Southampton Foundation Trust. Community-based child and adolescent 
mental health services (CAMHS) are provided by Solent NHS Trust. In-
patient CAMHS is provided by Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust, 
private providers, such as Huntercombe and Priory Group, are also 
instructed on a case by case basis. Community health services are 
provided for children and families by Solent NHS Trust, with additional 
community health services provided for adults by Southern Health NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

5 

Safeguarding services 

Overall effectiveness Grade 3 (adequate) 

12. The overall effectiveness of the council and its partners in safeguarding 
children and young people is adequate. Significant challenges have been 
faced by the council and its partners to reorganise safeguarding services 
both strategically and operationally over the past two years. Actions taken 
have resulted in improved performance and practice in some safeguarding 
areas, for example in the contact and referral services. However, many 
initiatives are very recent or are being further developed, and most have 
yet to be sustained. There is insufficient track record of sustained 
improvement across most safeguarding outcome areas, for example in the 
timeliness of assessments. 

13. Children most at risk of harm are now appropriately protected and 
prioritised. Prompt action is taken to ensure that children who may be at 
risk are assessed and appropriate intervention is made to ensure their 
safety. However, in recent years, delay in assessing potential risks and 
taking prompt corrective action has left too many children in 
circumstances that did not promote their welfare.  

14. Partnerships across all agencies are well established, with appropriate 
communication and collaboration at strategic and operational levels. The 
SSCB enables partners to work well together overall to deliver and develop 
safeguarding services. The Board provides some challenge to partners, 
where services are not performing to a sufficient standard. However, more 
work is required to ensure that child protection core groups are effective. 

15. Robust analysis of performance management information results in sound 
analysis of the impact of safeguarding services to be undertaken across all 
partner agencies. This enables managers to have an accurate 
understanding of the effectiveness of practice and service delivery and to 
take appropriate action to tackle shortfalls. Audits within the social care 
service have identified cases with poor practice where children 
experienced delays in case planning, it has not been possible to ascertain 
whether similar issues are present in other cases which have not been 
audited.  

16. Workforce development across the partnership is well established. Within 
ervices a detailed workforce strategy has not had 

sufficient impact to offset the high turnover of social work and managerial 
staff. This has had a significant, adverse effect on safeguarding work 
across the partnership. Staff have access to high quality training and 
development and have ready access to managers at all levels. However, 
staff supervision is not consistently regular or of sufficiently high quality. 
Managers provide social workers with extensive direction and support but 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

6 

the quality of safeguarding social work is not of a consistently high 
standard. 

17. User involvement and engagement is not systematically employed across 
safeguarding services in order to inform service development. On 
individual cases the views of users and young people are recorded, but it 
is not evident how these are used to inform case planning. 

Capacity for improvement Grade 3 (adequate) 

18. The council and its partners have adequate capacity to improve. Over 
recent years the council has focused its attention on the reorganisation of 

social care services in the context of continued and growing 
demand on services, increased financial constraints and workforce 
capacity challenges. Some improvements are beginning to be secured, in 
particular in relation to the handling of referrals and assessments. 
However a track record of sustained improvement has not been 
established across most safeguarding outcomes. 

19. In 2011 the council implemented changes to the terms and conditions of 
employees across all its services, which had an adverse effect on staff 

introduced market supplements and enhancements for key social work 
posts, but these measures were not sufficiently timely or effective to 
prevent significant numbers of social work and managerial staff in 
safeguarding services from leaving the employment. As a result, 
a significant turnover of staff has adversely impacted on the quality of 
safeguarding work to a level which is now overall inadequate. 

20. Workforce planning, combined with strenuous efforts by senior managers 
in the council, has secured some new permanent staff, but many are 
newly qualified with insufficient experience to undertake complex case 
work. Over reliance on agency staff has meant that additional financial 
resources have had to be assigned by the council, which are not cost 
effective. Turnover, and the management of poor performance of some 
agency staff, has exacerbated the lack of continuity of social work support 
and the effectiveness of case planning for some children. A new ambitious 

experienced permanent staff and to develop and retain good, newly 
qualified, social workers. However, this has yet to have sufficient impact. 

21. Senior managers within social care services are actively engaged in 
supporting staff to ensure that basic levels of social work and 
management are in place. This has ensured that recent overall practice is 
sufficiently safe and that staff are supported in undertaking their 
responsibilities. Such direct involvement is necessary pending the 
appointment of more permanent operational staff, although it is not the 
most effective use of strategic management resources. In the short term 
such measures are effective to underpin and stabilise safeguarding 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

7 

services. However, it is not possible to ascertain how long this will be 
required or if it is sustainable. 

22. Early intervention and support services are becoming increasingly effective 
and work collaboratively across the partnership to engage with children 
and families to avert the need for safeguarding intervention and to 
support children and families in need of protection. These provide a level 
of consistency and continuity whilst core safeguarding services are 
improving in their capacity and quality. 

Areas for improvement 

23. In order to improve the quality of provision and services for safeguarding 
children and young people in Southampton, the local authority and its 
partners should take the following action. 

Immediately: 

 ensure that the quality of social work to safeguard children is of a 
consistently high standard and that this is supported by regular high 
quality supervision by managers 

 ensure that core groups are held regularly, that they include the 
active engagement of all relevant agencies and that they implement 
and develop the child protection plan to ensure that it is effective. 

Within three months: 

 ensure staffing stability, in particular in the protection and court 
teams, so that sufficient social workers are in place who are suitably 
qualified, trained and experienced to provide children at risk and 
those in need with timely and skilled support 

 ensure that the needs of homeless children and young people are 
fully assessed and that sufficient suitable accommodation is available 
for them, including emergency provision 

 ensure that facilities for the medical examination of children and 
young people under 13 years of age who are the victims of abuse, 
including sexual assault, are available and are readily accessible at 
weekends  

 ensure that service users are made aware of complaints processes 
and that lessons learnt from complaints are used to inform service 
development. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

8 

Within six months: 

 ensure that there are sufficient experienced social work staff and 

responsibilities. 

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young 
people 

Children and young people are safe and feel safe  
 Grade 3 (adequate) 

24. Services to ensure that children and young people are safe and feel safe 
are adequate. are assessed and 
are responded to appropriately. Responses to child protection referrals are 
timely. There are some delays in responding to those children assessed as 
in need. In some child protection cases, there has been undue delay in 
recognising the need to escalate cases to legal planning and possible court 
action to protect children and to secure their long term well-being. Clear 

common assessment framework 
(CAF) processes enable children who do not meet thresholds for access to 
social care to receive appropriate support.  

25. The role and function of the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) are 
well understood across the partnership and referrals have been made by a 
wide range of agencies across the statutory and voluntary sectors. Cases 
referred to the LADO receive a timely and robust response that ensures 
that children and young people are protected. The LADO actively follows 
up concerns that arise from referrals with those agencies concerned and 

chair of the SSCB where appropriate. Concerns raised by the LADO about 
allegation management in schools that purchase human resources support 
from external providers were reported to the SSCB and, as a result, 
policies across the four sub-regional Local Safeguarding Children Boards 
have been revised to ensure a consistent approach. No electronic system 
for recording allegations against adults is in place, which 
ability to use information fully to identify risk. This is recognised by the 
council and its partners. 

26. Processes within the council and its partners to ensure safe recruitment of 
staff are effective overall and meet statutory minimum requirements. A 
range of checks are undertaken of the suitability of persons who have 
contact with children, including checks with the Criminal Records Bureau 
and these are regularly updated. The SSCB has ensured that partner 
agencies have clear guidelines for safe recruitment and has supported 
voluntary sector partners to promote and develop the use of safe 
recruitment practices. Contracts with external providers include 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

9 

requirements for safe recruitment and are routinely monitored and 
reviewed by the council and its partners.  

27. Safeguarding judgements in Ofsted i  residential, 
fostering and adoption services range from adequate to outstanding, and 
those for independent providers are at least adequate. The large majority 

in helping 
children to stay safe. Most children seen during this inspection report that 
they feel safe and all report that they have at least one trusted adult to 
turn to if they are worried or afraid. However, some children report being 
bullied at school because of their ethnicity or learning difficulty and say 
that although they have reported it to staff, it has not ceased. 

28. A well coordinated response to children who go missing is guided by a 
clear SSCB protocol that involves all relevant agencies. Effective risk 
assessment of each incident takes account of historical factors to ensure 
that cases are prioritised appropriately. Those children and young people 
assessed as missing, rather than having an unauthorised absence, are 
offered a return interview by an independent person. Routine monitoring 
of missing children enables themes and trends to be identified and to be 
used to inform training and development across the partnership. For 
example, training of front line police officers has led to an improved focus 

g children reports. Effective monitoring of 
cases has enabled the identification of links between a significant cohort 
of children who have gone missing. This has resulted in a prompt and 
individualised response that has significantly reduced the incidence of 
children going missing and the associated risks.  

29. Multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA) and the multi-
agency risk assessment conference (MARAC) arrangements are well 
established, with appropriate protocols and representation from relevant 
agencies at suitable strategic and operational levels.  

30. Most complaints to the c
response. However, data provided by the council indicates that almost one 
quarter of complaints are not fully resolved in accordance with its 
timescales. Lessons learnt from individual complaints are routinely 
reported to senior managers. However, while the most recent review of 
complaints for 2010-2011 provides a commentary on compliance with 
internal processes, it does not identify or analyse themes and trends that 
emerge from complaints. This limits the extent to which the council can 
improve its services. 

Quality of provision                                Grade 4 (inadequate) 

31. The quality of provision, which includes service responsiveness and direct 
work with children and families, is inadequate. Significant turnover in the 
c
inconsistent quality of social work provision and managerial oversight of 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

10 

key safeguarding services over several years. Improvements in some 
services, which had begun to show positive outcomes, such as within the 
referral and assessment services, were adversely affected by a large 
number of staff leaving in 2011-2012. There have been some very recent 
improvements in the quality of social work practice in child protection and 
child in need cases, however these are not yet fully embedded. Too many 
children have not received a safe service over an extended period of time 
which has impacted on the effectiveness of the current interventions. 
Whilst current front line practice is sufficiently robust to ensure that most 
children receive an appropriate response, there are still significant 
weaknesses, particularly in the PACTs.  

32. Of the 20 cases randomly selected for this inspection, half were assessed 
to be inadequate by inspectors and this confirmed the c  own audits 
of these cases. Poor practice and ineffective management oversight was 
also identified in many other cases that inspectors reviewed, although 
there were a few examples of better practice. A significant factor in these 
persistent shortcomings has been the staff turnover, particularly within the 
PACTs. These teams have experienced exceptionally high staff turnover 
and have an over-reliance on agency staff, some of whom have left very 
soon after starting. Recruitment of permanent staff has mainly been of 
newly qualified social workers, who lack the experience to deal effectively 
with high risk child protection cases. As a consequence there have been 
frequent changes of social worker for significant numbers of children and 
families. This has led to a loss of momentum and case knowledge as social 
workers change, and drift and delay as incoming staff get to know 
children and their families. Parents seen by inspectors report that they 
have to repeat their stories too often and that new social workers often 
take over without a full understanding of their circumstances. 

33. 
protection intervention are clear. Most contacts now receive a more 
consistent response than previously. Recent referrals have received a 
response that is timely for the child, though often not within timescales 
established by statutory guidance. New referrals are appropriately 
prioritised and those cases that require a child protection response are 
now recognised and dealt with promptly, with escalation to strategy 
discussions and child protection enquiries where required. Cases assessed 
by managers as needing no further 
are appropriately referred for a response under the CAF.  

34. The recent reconfiguration of the referral and assessment services has 
ensured that there are robust arrangements for identifying and responding 
to children and young children at risk of significant harm. All new referrals 
are responded to in a more timely way and collaborative processes are 
established with partner agencies to safeguard children and young people. 
The arrangements for the protection and care of children with disabilities 
provided by the multi-agency Jigsaw service are robust. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

11 

35. Children who have been known to social care services or have been 
allocated to social workers for some time have not always received a 
timely or adequately risk-assessed response at the point of referral or as 
new concerns have arisen whilst they were receiving social work support. 
Inspectors saw cases where children were exposed to risk for months and 
longer because of delays in recognising and responding to potentially 
abusive circumstances. In all those cases the council has, in recent 
months, identified the concerns and has taken appropriate protective 
action. However, the delays have meant that children have spent long 
periods living in adverse environments and that more permanent solutions 
were not achieved at an early stage. 

36. The quality of assessments is too variable, and inspectors found that the 
quality of assessments has only improved consistently in the past year. 
Recent assessments seen are of at least an adequate quality and many, 
though not all, include a robust analysis that lead to appropriate 
recommendations. Assessments appropriately involve partner agencies 
and routinely record the wishes and views of the child and parents. 
However, consideration of their views is not always evident in the 
conclusions reached and in subsequent interventions. Children are seen, 
and in most cases are seen alone, but issues of culture, ethnicity and 
religion are seldom discussed or considered beyond a minimal level. 
However, many assessments carried out prior to the last 6 12 months do 
not always indicate that children have been seen alone. Too many of 
these assessments contain descriptive narrative that lack rigorous 
analysis. This has an enduring impact in some cases as assessments are 
not routinely updated and so practice is not informed by an up to date, 
comprehensive understanding of risk to the child or their needs. 

37. Child protection enquiries appropriately evaluate risk and protective 
factors. However, often these enquiries do not lead to the completion of 
an initial or core assessment and as a result the opportunity to holistically 
assess the child , particularly in cases that do not 
proceed to a child protection conference. In those that do proceed, it is 
often inappropriately left to the conference to collate and assess wider 
information which should have been made available through a core 
assessment. 

38. Too many assessments are not completed in line with timescales and 
some very recent core assessments are overdue by some weeks. While 
these have been risk assessed by managers, the lack of timeliness results 
in delay in providing services to meet the needs of children and their 
families. The views of other professionals are clearly included in core 
assessments and do inform the analysis and conclusions. 

39. The views of children and young people are routinely recorded in 
assessments, although how these are used to influence practice and 
decision-making is not always explicit. Equality and diversity issues are 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

12 

considered to a minimal extent, although interpreters are used where 
necessary. The diverse needs of children with a disability are robustly 
assessed and considered within the work of the Jigsaw team. 

40. Social work reports to initial child protection conferences are sufficiently 
detailed and analytical to ensure that risks and protective factors can be 
evaluated. Most child protection conferences are timely, are appropriately 
chaired and are routinely attended by most partner agencies. 

41. Too many plans to safeguard children or to support children in need have 
not been progressed effectively. Drift and delay are particularly evident in 
a significant number of cases seen in the PACTs and while there is 
evidence of some improvements over the last three to four months, high 
turnover of staff and managers has contributed to failures in the 
implementation of plans and the oversight of cases. Children on plans 
have had frequent changes of social worker which has contributed to a 
lack of purposeful intervention. Actions set out in child protection plans 
have not always been carried out and as a consequence the protection 
needs of children have not been adequately progressed. 

42. Review child protection conferences take place regularly and there is some 
evidence that they appropriately assess the progress of the child 
protection plan. However, in some cases successive review conferences 
have reassessed enduring risks without establishing contingencies or 
considering whether legal action should be taken, and this has contributed 
to drift and delay for some children. It is only recently that managers 

have increasingly considered the use 
of legal planning and action through the courts. This option is now being 
raised by child protection conference chairs and prompt access to legal 
advice is available to facilitate such consideration. This has resulted in a 
significant increase in the number of children being brought into 
proceedings and the number of children looked after for their protection. 

43. In a number of cases seen by inspectors, core groups have not been held 
regularly. In some cases no core group meetings were held between 
review child protection conferences. Where core groups have taken place, 
there is limited evidence that the child protection plan is developed by the 
group or that it evaluates progress against objectives. Records indicate 
that core group meetings are not routinely attended by practitioners other 
than those from 
report that health visitors and school staff often do not take part. Child 
protection plans are drawn up in considerable detail at child protection 
conferences. They cover key risks and needs and include timescales and 
designated leads. Parents report that they are generally clear about what 
needs to change for their children to come off child protection plans. 
However, they do not always receive core group minutes, which reduces 
clarity about the progress made and further expectations from them. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

13 

44. Some child in need cases are unallocated and the council has 
implemented new systems and processes to ensure rigorous oversight and 
monitoring of such cases. Child in need cases do not routinely have plans 
in place to inform the work, and this means that interventions are not 
always supported by a structured approach with clear objectives. 
However, those children in need held by the Jigsaw team do have good 
quality plans with specific and measurable objectives and as a result 
progress is more assured. 

45. Young people aged 16 and 17 who present as homeless receive an 
assessment under the local protocol but there is no evidence in case 
records that the option of accommodation under Section 20 of the 1989 
Children Act is considered. In three cases seen, vulnerable young people 
were placed in bed and breakfast accommodation, which means  some 
young people are being placed in accommodation without adequate 
safeguards. 

46. Record keeping by social workers is mostly sufficiently up to date although 
records vary too much in the level of detail contained. Most files contain 
chronologies. However, most chronologies do not contain appropriate 
information to assist case planning or to enable staff new to the case to 
promptly understand the case history. Case records contained evidence of 
supervision discussions. However, these are not always regular and 
instructions identified in supervision have not always been carried out, 
sometimes because a social worker or manager has left. For example, in 
one case supervision decisions made some months ago to investigate 
historical allegations of serious abuse were not acted upon until very 
recently. The quality of supervision was too variable between the teams in 

sible for safeguarding children, 
ranging from good in some teams such as the Jigsaw service to poor in 
other such as the PACTs.  

47. Parents reported that they had experienced too many changes of social 
worker and that this had impacted negatively on the support that they had 
received. However, most parents who had the same social worker for a 
significant period found their support to be helpful and to have improved 
their family life. Most have found their social workers to be knowledgeable 
and sufficiently experienced but a small number thought that their social 
workers were too inexperienced and mechanistic in their approach to 
understand and help them to resolve their problems. All parents reported 
that there is undue emphasis by social workers on mothers and that 
fathers are excluded in case planning. Some also found that too little 
direct support is provided for children in the child protection process to 
help them to understand what is happening. 

48. The use of the CAF has improved considerably over the last 18 months 
and is now well established. Partners now view the CAF as an effective 
problem solving tool with good joint working across services. All CAFs are 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

14 

submitted to a multi-disciplinary panel which ensures that assessments are 
robust and that services have the capacity to provide the necessary 
resources to achieve the objectives of the plan. Step down arrangements 
are in place to support families coming off higher levels of intervention or 
to continue contact with families when immediate objectives have been 
achieved. Family based CAFs have been piloted and have proven effective 
in providing holistic support to families. CAFs are proving effective in 
supporting children to improve their attendance and behaviour at school 
and in supporting families with relatively high level of needs who do not 
reach the thresholds for social care intervention. However, the council 
does not have a systematic approach to assessing the impact of CAFs and 
so the full impact remains to be determined.  

49. Safeguarding of children is afforded a high priority by schools and the 
education services. The council has well established services for 
supporting the emotional development of pupils. Emotional well being 
development officers work with educational psychologists and support 
emotional literacy support assistants based in most schools. The use of 
nurture groups is well established in the primary sector and is now also 
used in the secondary sector and the further education college. An anti-
bullying officer has supported schools to implement their anti bullying 
policies and has helped schools to work with parents. Restorative justice 
approaches and mediation are increasingly used effectively and most 
secondary schools have peer mentors. Recent initiatives to reduce 
incidences of bullying and to keep children and young people safe have 
focused on safe use of the internet, awareness raising and combating 
cyber bullying.  

50. Multi-agency work to reduce absence and exclusion is increasingly 
effective, although further improvement is required. Schools are 
increasingly taking collective responsibility for identifying children and 
young people at risk of exclusion early to take action to keep them in 
education or training. The primary heads inclusion group, established at 
the start of this academic year, is having a positive impact on improving 
behaviour, managing moves and avoiding exclusions, as is the secondary 
head group. The new Key Stage 2 pupil referral unit is helping improve 
behaviour, reintegration of pupils and raising their attainment. Education 
welfare officers monitor the safety of children and young people who do 
not attend school regularly and audit registers. The alternative pathways 
programme for Year 11 pupils established in 2011 is engaging 70 young 
people through personalised programmes who would otherwise not be 
attending school. Youth intervention services are in regular contact with 
other young people who are not attending school through 1:1 
programmes or programmes provided through services commissioned 
through the voluntary sector. They are particularly vigilant of the safety of 
these young people.  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

15 

51. A wide range of early preventative services support children and families. 
These include prevention and inclusion social workers who work with 
schools and families, parent support advisors and family workers. 
Approximately 100 families currently receive support, with some 150 
families receiving support annually. School attendance is lower, whilst 
levels of exclusions and cautions and convictions are higher than in similar 
areas, but performance is 
successful in making contact with the families of new born babies 
although the ease with which contact can be made through working with 
health colleagues varies across the area
centres are effective in safeguarding children and in helping families to 
develop their parenting skills. A range of support is available for young 
carers that promotes their social and emotional well-being and provides 
opportunities for structured group activity, social contact and individual 
support.  

The contribution of health agencies to keeping children and 
young people safe           Grade 3 (adequate) 

52. The contribution of health agencies to keeping children and young people 
safe is adequate. The designated doctor and designated nurse for 
safeguarding posts have recently been moved into the PCT, NHS 
Southampton. The post-holders have strategic oversight of the 
implementation of action plans relating to the recent serious case reviews 
(SCRs), and are part of the SCR sub-committee. Appropriate priority is 
given to ensure prompt identification of and response to safeguarding 
concerns across provider services through performance monitoring and 
supervision by named nurses. 

53. Health providers have taken appropriate action to address significant 
deficits in the arrangements for safeguarding children and young people 
that were identified in recent serious case reviews in the area. This is 
being closely monitored through governance arrangements, 
commissioning and reporting through the SSCB. 

54. NHS Southampton PCT has established robust governance structures that 
ensure that provider health trusts have sufficient oversight of their 
arrangements to safeguard children, and that there are clear reporting 
lines to the SSCB. Self-assessment audits of provider trusts are closely 
monitored to ensure that targets for improvement are complied with. 
These audits indicate high levels of compliance with safeguarding 
requirements across providers. NHS Southampton PCT has established 
robust performance monitoring systems and reporting lines that enable it 
to effectively evaluate its services over a period of significant change. 

55. Sufficient action has been taken by NHS Southampton PCT working with 
Solent NHS Trust and primary care to ensure that there is adequate 
information sharing and joint working between health visitors, school 
nurses and GPs. This has been facilitated by the introduction of new 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

16 

protocols, forms and multi-agency meetings. These have been positively 
received by those practitioners involved and there is evidence of increased 
identification of risks to children.  

56. Recent recruitment to vacant health visitor and school nurse posts has 
eased workload pressures across the teams, although target recruitment 
levels have not yet been achieved. The provision of additional 
safeguarding training, supervision and oversight to these teams has 
enabled an increased focus on identification of risk to children, early 
intervention and joint working, which is being monitored by service 
managers to ensure that safeguarding practice is improved and 
embedded. 

57. A joint protocol has been developed by the four LSCBs for liaison and 

and substance misuse services. CAMHS representation has recently been 
included on the adult mental health strategic planning group and some 
multi-agency meetings have been established to discuss individual cases. 

58. Access to safeguarding training for health practitioners is good at all 
levels, with increasing numbers of staff being trained in accordance with 
national guidance. 

59. Health practitioners report that they have good access to safeguarding 
supervision on request, although dedicated safeguarding supervision is not 
routinely provided across all health practitioner groups. The Solent NHS 
Trust is addressing this in a new supervision model that is being 
developed. 

60. Effective action has been taken by the University Hospital Southampton 
Foundation Trust to tackle deficits identified in their systems for identifying 
risks to children and young people when adults attend the accident and 
emergency (A&E) department. This has led to a significant increase in 
concerns being identified and appropriately responded to. Good links are 
established between the hospital A&E department and paediatric in-
patient wards. However, the physical environment in the A&E department 
at the hospital is unsuitable for children and young people. A 
refurbishment plan is due to commence in 2013. 

61. Solent NHS Trust provides facilities for the medical examination of children 
and young people who are victims of sexual assault or abuse, including a 
specialist centre based at University Hospital, entitled the Magnolia Centre. 
Specialist forensic examination is provided by community paediatric 
consultants from Solent NHS Trust. The service is highly regarded and 
valued across the partnership, but is not available at weekends for 
children aged under 13. This undermines good care and outcomes when 
the need arises, although the level of demand at weekends is low. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

17 

62. Health practitioners report that they experience difficulties in contacting 
and achieving a consistent response from social work teams when making 
referrals to them. Most health practitioners seen by inspectors felt that 
thresholds were high, not consistently applied, and that they needed to be 
persistent or had to escalate concerns to get a response. Most felt that 
there had been an improvement in the response that they have received 
recently. Particular difficulties are reported to arise in communication with 
social care teams that have had a high turnover of staff. 

63. Health practitioners are increasingly involved in CAF assessments. A recent 
audit indicated that a quarter of all CAFs were completed by health based 
staff. Attendance of health professionals at safeguarding meetings has 
recently increased, although health practitioners reported that they do not 
routinely receive timely notification of meetings to enable them to attend. 
There has been a strong improvement in GPs submitting reports to case 
conferences where they are unable to attend.  

64. Children and young people have access to a range of services that are 
effective in promoting good health outcomes around sexual health and 
pregnancy. The Family Nurse Partnership provides a highly valued service 
in supporting young mothers and supports the midwifery service in 
improving health outcomes for mothers and babies. A comprehensive 
contraception and sexual health service, including a specialist worker for 
the children of parents who are HIV positive has had a positive impact on 
health outcomes. Rates of teenage pregnancy are higher than comparator 
groups, but have shown a steady decrease in recent years. 

65. A newly recommissioned CAMHS enables CAMHS staff to support and 
supervise staff working with children and young people who have 
emotional problems or mental health problems that do not meet the 
threshold to receive services from CAMHS, and to signpost people to other 
appropriate services. Concerns have been raised across stakeholders that 
there are insufficient Tier 2 services to meet the needs of children and 
young people. This is being reviewed by the SSCB as well as by NHS 
Southampton PCT. Currently no system is in place for evaluating the 
emotional well-being of children and young people in Southampton, and 
there is a gap in the analysis of whether those needs are being met. The 
CAMHS provides effective support to children and young people, although 
thresholds were increased at the time of the recomissioning of the service. 
While there is no significant waiting list for initial assessment at Brookvale 
and the Orchard Centre, there can be long waiting times for specialist 
services. 

66. Children and young people with disabilities who have complex needs have 
good access to assessment and services through the Wordsworth Centre 
and Jigsaw. This service is in the process of being reconfigured, integrated 
and expanded to include young people up to 25 years of age. Children and 
young people who do not meet the threshold for Jigsaw receive prompt 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

18 

initial assessments. However, the eligibility criteria for therapy services are 
set at a high level of need and there are significant waiting lists for some 
services such as speech and language therapy. 

67. An occupational therapy transitions team, established in 2008, for children 
and young people with a disability is highly valued by people using the 
service. There are difficulties in securing positive transition planning into 
adult services for young people with disabilities who are not receiving a 
service from Jigsaw. 

Ambition and prioritisation  Grade 3 (adequate) 

68. Ambition and prioritisation are adequate. The partnership has established 
appropriate priorities, with a shared recognition that child protection and 
safeguarding services have not been sufficiently effective in recent years. 
Ambition is evident across the partnership to consolidate and extend the 
recent improvements that have been made and this is coupled with a 
realistic understanding of how much remains to be done. Service reviews 
are leading to greater alignment of provision, for example in relation to 
the screening and response to domestic abuse cases. While these are not 
yet fully implemented there are early indications of some success in 
achieving a more consistent and proportionate response.  

69. The independent chair of the SSCB has provided strong challenge, for 
example in relation to the potential threats to safeguarding service 
delivery posed by recent industrial action in the council. Local priorities 
have been identified and acted on, for example in relation to neglect 
following the findings of a serious case review. There is elected member 
representation on the SSCB, however the chair has no formal contact with 
the c
influence. Furthermore, some service deficits, such as the lack of 
community paediatric health and forensic sexual assault provision at 
weekends, had not been formally identified and considered by the Board. 

70. Elected members across all parties prioritise safeguarding of children and 
champion the needs of children. Members regularly meet with staff in the 
council to oversee how safeguarding services are being delivered and 
routinely receive performance information and analysis from officers and 
from safeguarding operational and strategic groups. However, while the 
council has prioritised safeguarding services through additional funding to 
meet overspends in safeguarding budgets and to pay market forces 
supplements to social workers to aid recruitment and retention, this was 
not sufficiently timely or effective to prevent significant destabilisation of 
key safeguarding services through the loss of experienced staff. 

Leadership and management  Grade 3 (adequate) 

71. Leadership and management are adequate. Significant resource deficits 
and weaknesses in services are well understood by managers within 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

19 

who routinely have access to a wide range 
of financial and performance management information. There is regular 
reporting to the lead member for c services and the overview and 
scrutiny committee. Concerted effort is being made to resolve service 
shortcomings and this is supported by appropriate leadership and 
challenge by the SSCB. Additional funding has been secured from the 
council to offset some safeguarding resource deficits, primarily to appoint 
agency staff to cover for social work vacancies. Managers are fully aware 
that the high usage of agency staff represents poor value for money but 
measures to reduce this over-reliance have had little impact and costs 
remain high. 

72. The last two years have seen the gradual emergence of a new and 
stronger which has 
worked with partners to identify and resolve very significant inadequacies 
in key aspects of child protection and child in need services. This has now 
ensured a more secure front line social care response but significant 
shortcomings remain for children requiring longer term child protection 
interventions, and while managers are responding urgently, efforts are 
hampered by difficulties in recruiting and retaining suitable qualified and 
experienced staff. 

73. Staffing is a significant problem in the teams responsible for safeguarding 
children. Many qualified and experienced social workers left the council 
following revisions to staff terms and conditions of employment in 2011 
and there has subsequently been an over-reliance on agency social 
workers and inexperienced newly qualified social workers. The PACTs have 
also experienced high levels of sickness absence, and while managers 
apply robust sickness management processes, the negative impact on 
capacity remains. These factors have meant significant weaknesses in the 
continuity of support provided to some children and their families, in case 
planning and in managerial oversight. The staffing position is regularly 
reviewed by senior managers and is reported to members.  

74. 
services are clear. Staff report having regular supervision and ready 
access to managers for informal discussions about casework. However, 
the regularity, quality and consistency of supervision evidenced in case 
records is too variable. Senior managers within social care services are 
actively supporting staff and are highly visible to ensure that work is 
carried out to at least a minimum safe standard. Safeguarding managers 
have a clear understanding of the issues affecting the service and have 
taken a range of appropriate measures to tackle the immediate challenges 
and to address the longstanding issues, such as poor risk management 
and drift in case planning. 

75. Social work caseloads are manageable, averaging some 20 children per 
social worker, and have been sustained at this level for nearly two years. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

20 

This is a significant improvement on the position prior to that when 
caseloads were unacceptably high at between 50 and 70 children for some 
social workers. Staff report good access to training and development 
opportunities and newly qualified staff have benefited from structured 
learning activities. However, some newly qualified and inexperienced staff 
in the PACTs are carrying cases that are too complex for their stage of 
professional development. 

76. Awareness by senior managers of the significant challenge in the PACTs 
has led to compensatory arrangements that are valued by staff. For 
example, child protection conference chairs spend time each week within 
the PACTs to offer advice and guidance about cases. They also provide 
targeted mentoring for newly qualified staff and staff identified who 
require additional support with child protection work. In addition, senior 
managers oversee casework very closely, for example scrutinising court 
statements before submission to ensure that they are fit for purpose. 
While this has the benefit of ensuring at least minimum standards, it is an 
unusually high level of oversight and in the long term is not a cost-
effective use of se  

77. Action plans from serious case reviews have been implemented and 
lessons learnt have been disseminated widely across the partnership. For 
example, progress has been made in raising the level of awareness about 
neglect indicators through workshops and training events. However, the 
full impact of this in practice has yet to be realised and inspectors saw 
cases where signs of neglect were not recognised and acted upon in a 
timely way.  

78. Service user engagement in service planning and development is not fully 
established and while there are some examples of attempts to capture the 

 and through the use of 
young inspectors in service reviews, the partnership recognises that 
further work is required in this area. The SSCB and its constituent partners 
have undertaken work with local mosques and madrassahs to raise 
awareness and ensure compliance with safeguarding standards.  

Performance management and quality assurance  

Grade 3 (adequate) 

79. Performance management and quality assurance are adequate. The 
council and its partners undertake a range of performance management 
and quality assurance functions across agencies and within individual 
services. At the strategic level, safeguarding performance is monitored 
through the SSCB, the Children and Young People  Trust Board and the 

crutiny Committee. Through reports and its own audit activity, 
the SSCB maintains a close view of safeguarding performance across the 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

21 

partnership and has been instrumental in raising concerns about the 
performance of safeguarding services within the council.  

80. While performance management processes have enabled the council to 
ocial care services 

and to recently ensure a more secure front-line response, a need for 
considerable further improvement remains. Senior managers recognise 
this and routinely exercise a very high degree of scrutiny of practice.  

81. The SSCB acknowledges that most of its audit activity has focused on pre-
social care and child protection levels to ensure that the right cases are 
being referred. This contributes to processes for monitoring thresholds, 
which were last formally reviewed two years ago. The audit of Children 
First tested the application of thresholds across the partnership and found 
that there is broad agreement that thresholds are at the right level. The 
SSCB has also collated and reviewed audits by partner agencies. However, 
it has not conducted thematic audits or systematic, in-depth audits of 
practice. This is recognised and plans are being developed to begin this 
work. 

82. s social care services conduct a range of 
casework and service audits and these effectively identify issues within 
individual cases and some wider issues affecting safeguarding services. 
However, these audits are not systematically conducted or repeated. Audit 
activity, together with extensive performance management information, 
enables managers to have a sound understanding of issues to be tackled 
and to implement robust action where necessary. However, while some 
actions taken have begun to secure improvements, the quality of too 
many social care interventions remains poor.  

83. Operational managers in children
improved focus on performance as a result of senior management action 
and there is a clear sense of integration of strategic performance 
management processes and operational delivery in individual cases. 
Improved data reports enable real-time tracking by managers at all levels 
of the progress in individual cases, for example of visits and timescales, as 
well as of aggregate data. Managers now appropriately tackle issues of 
poor performance and are increasingly clear about the quality of 
performance and practice that they expect from individuals. However, 
much remains to be achieved to ensure that the overall quality of 
safeguarding practice within social care service is improved and sustained.  

84. There is an increased focus on quality as well as quantity in some aspects 
of performance management. For example, child protection conference 
chairs provide formal monthly performance reports about social workers 
who report to and attend child protection conferences. These are used by 
the social worker and their immediate line manager as a staff 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

22 

development tool, and also by more senior managers to identify themes 
and trends.  

Partnership working Grade 3 (adequate) 

85. Partnership working to promote safeguarding is adequate. The SSCB 
meets its statutory responsibilities and provides sufficiently effective 
leadership across safeguarding services. Well-defined governance 
arrangements ensure regular communication between the SSCB and the 

 Trust, with clear respective roles and 
accountabilities. The SSCB chair is highly experienced and provides 
appropriate challenge to the partners.  

86. SSCB representation covers a wide range of partner agencies. Membership 
is at an appropriate level of seniority to enable decisions to be made on 
behalf of their respective organisations. Schools are represented by three 
members who have well-defined mechanisms for ensuring that their head 
teacher colleagues contribute to and are informed by SSCB decisions.  

87. At operational levels, effective arrangements are in place to enable close 
collaboration and communication between partner agencies, for example, 
a 
and the police child abuse investigation team. Staff report that day to day 
links with professional colleagues are well established and operate 
effectively. However, parents and records indicate that attendance at core 
group meetings by some professionals such as health visitors and school 
staff is not sufficiently regular or consistent. The SSCB has recognised 
this, but has yet to take effective action. Difficulties in weekend access to 
paediatric child abuse medical examinations and sexual abuse forensic 
services have been examined at strategic level by health commissioners 
but have not been identified as a concern by the SSCB.  

88. Representatives from the voluntary sector are actively involved in a variety 
of strategic and operational groups in which they are able to make a 
positive contribution. They report good relationships with other statutory 
partners, 
has necessitated forging new relationships with staff and familiarising 
those staff members with the range of services provided by the sector to 
facilitate signposting and access to those services within the community. 
This is disruptive of professional relationships and impairs the efficiency 
and effectiveness of joint working with children and families.  

89. The  Trust provides a comprehensive range of 
multi-agency child protection training which promotes good partnership 
and networking between agencies. Staff across the partnership are readily 
able to access training and there has been recent success in securing 
attendance from independent schools in relevant child protection training. 
However, recognition of the need to deliver multi-agency training in core 
group working is very recent and has yet to be established.  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

23 

 

Services for looked after children 

Children and young people in the care of the council have requested that they 
are referred to as children looked after. The council and its partners have 
respected this request and this is the term used in the body of this report. 

Overall effectiveness Grade 3 (adequate) 

90. The overall effectiveness of the council and its partners is adequate. Many 
of the issues identified in the safeguarding section of this report have 
impacted across children looked after services and are not repeated in this 
section. 

91. Significant challenges have been faced by the council and its partners to 
reorganise children looked after services both strategically and 
operationally over the past two years. Actions taken have resulted in 
improved performance and practice in some areas, for example in the 
fostering and adoption services. Health outcomes for looked after children 
are good. Educational outcomes are more varied but are adequate overall, 
as are opportunities for children looked after to make a positive 
contribution. 

92. Appropriate services are established to ensure that children are safe, and 
most children and young people indicate that they do feel safe. However, 
in recent years, delay in assessing potential risks and taking prompt 
corrective action has left too many children in circumstances that did not 
promote their welfare. Some children were left too long with their families 
when they should have been looked after by the council and some 
children have experienced significant delay in progressing their care plans 
or in permanency planning. 

93. Opportunities for young people to achieve economic well-being are 
inadequate as a result of insufficient suitable accommodation for some 
care leavers, poor pathway planning and the lack of sufficient preparation 
to enable young people to become independent.  

94. Partnerships to support children looked after across all agencies are well 
established, with appropriate communication and collaboration at strategic 
and operational levels. The corporate parenting committee has been 
assigned the status of a local authority committee. It is well represented 
by partners and appropriately oversees the effectiveness of support to 
children looked after. A small number of young people on the Children in 
Care Council are contributing to the development of some areas of 
children looked after work, although the views of the wider children 
looked after population are not fully represented. The council is now 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

24 

taking measures to increase the involvement of children looked after in 
service development. 

95. Robust performance management information enables sound analysis of 
the effectiveness of children looked after services to be undertaken across 
the partnership. Managers have an accurate understanding of the 
effectiveness of practice and service delivery and take appropriate action 
to tackle shortfalls. However, this is only beginning to improve the quality 
of provision.  

96. Performance is variable across the service. Strong adoption and fostering 
services provide good support for children looked after. The performance 
of health services in meeting the health needs of children looked after is 
good. However, too many children have experienced significant delay in 
case planning. Comprehensive, up to date assessments are not 
consistently in place, statutory visits by social workers are not sufficiently 
regular, and staff turnover adversely impacts on continuity of support and 
the effectiveness of case planning. 

97. Workforce development across the partnership is well established. Within 
 care services a detailed workforce strategy has not had 

sufficient impact to offset the high turnover of social work and managerial 
staff, particularly in the PACTs, and as a result the quality of provision for 
children looked after is inadequate. Staff turnover has had less impact in 
the fostering and adoption and pathway teams. To some extent the 
support provided to these teams has mitigated the impact of significant 
difficulties experienced by the PACTs in providing continuity and 
consistency of support to many children looked after.  

Capacity for improvement Grade 3 (adequate) 

98. The council and its partners have adequate capacity to improve children 
looked after services. Many of the issues impacting on capacity within 
safeguarding services are relevant to children looked after services and 
are not repeated. 

99. Over recent years the council has focused its attention on the 
reorganisation of social care services in the context of continued 
and growing demand on services, increased financial constraints and 
workforce capacity challenges. Some improvements were beginning to be 
secured, in particular in relation to ensuring that those children who need 
to be in care are in care. This has resulted in a significant increase in the 
numbers of children looked after and in the number going through court 
proceedings. The increase has placed considerable strain on the capacity 
of children looked after services, despite the council injecting additional 
funding and resources to meet increased demand for services. 

100. Some services supporting children looked after have managed to provide 
high quality support, for example the fostering and adoption services and 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

25 

Jigsaw who support children looked after with a disability. However, other 
parts of the service, in particular the PACTs have struggled to meet the 
increased demand for their service. The significant social work and 
managerial staff turnover within the service and particularly the PACTs has 
negatively impacted on the quality and consistency of provision and case 
planning for many children looked after.  

101. The same issue detailed in paragraphs 19 and 20 above in this report 
apply to children looked after services. Whilst there have been some 
improvements in key services, overall there has not been a sustained track 
record of improvement across the core children looked after services.  

Areas for improvement 

102. In order to improve the quality of provision and services for children 
looked after and young people in Southampton, the local authority and its 
partners should take the following action. 

Immediately: 

 ensure that statutory visits to children looked after are undertaken 
within the required timescales 

Within three months: 

 ensure that children looked after are aware of the complaints process 
and are enabled to access the advocacy service 

 ensure that pathway plans are in place for all care leavers, that they 
are comprehensive and specific and effectively support care leavers 
in achieving their objectives, including the development of 
independence skills and the transition to independence 

 ensure that high quality personal education plans are in place for all 
relevant children looked after 

 ensure that comprehensive up to date assessments are in place for 
children looked after and care leavers which are analytical and 
robustly identify risks, needs and protective factors and effectively 
inform care planning 

 ensure that care plans are specific with clear intended outcomes, 
that these are recorded on the electronic recording system and that 
the implementation of the care plans is robustly monitored 

 ensure that legal planning meetings are timely and that actions from 
these meetings are robustly monitored and implemented.  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

26 

Within six months: 

 ensure that robust systems are in place that enable children looked 
after and care leavers to effectively contribute to developments in 
strategic planning, policy and practice 

 ensure that sufficient high quality accommodation is available to 
effectively meet the needs of care leavers  

 NHS Southampton PCT should ensure that there is sufficient capacity 
within the children looked after health team to meet the health 
needs of children looked after.  

How good are outcomes for looked after 
children and care leavers? 

Being healthy Grade 2 (good) 

103. The provision of support to ensure the health and well-being of young 
people in care is good. The designated doctor and nurse posts within 
Solent NHS Trust provide clear oversight of the operational responsibilities 
of the children looked after team (CLA). However, the strategic aspects of 
the role are underdeveloped, and it is not clear how responsibilities for 
strategic planning and reporting to the PCT are undertaken.  

104. All of the children looked after health practitioners are located within the 
wider Solent NHS Trust health safeguarding service and this enables good 
information sharing and joint working where there are safeguarding issues 
relevant to the children and young people. The small CLA team is 
currently not fully staffed due to a secondment. The establishment has not 
changed despite a significant increase in both the number of children 
being looked after and the number of child protection medical 
assessments being undertaken. This has had an adverse impact on the 
capacity of the team to maintain the high and improving performance in 
undertaking health assessments achieved in previous years. In recognition 
of the increasing demand for the service, a commissioning review of the 
service is planned by the PCT.  

105. Initial health assessments are undertaken by the CLA paediatric doctors 
which results in high consistency in practice and quality. Health 
assessments are undertaken at a local venue, No Limits, which is 
conveniently located for children and young people and de-stigmatises 
attendance as it is a centre for a range of other services. Young people 
are positive about the support and advice that they receive from the CLA 
team staff. However, some young people report that they are not offered 
a choice of venue. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

27 

106. Health assessments seen by inspectors are thorough and child focused, 
and appropriately consider wider social concerns that impact on the young 

, such as housing and support. Health care plans 
incorporate the issues identified in assessments and are regularly updated. 
Practitioners across the range of health services report that they are well 
engaged in undertaking the actions in health care plans. Progress on 
health actions is 
records  and there is no easily accessible 
summary or chronology. This makes it difficult to track outcomes. 

107. The CLA team undertake the health assessments for the majority of 
children in care who are placed outside of the area, most of whom are 
within 20 miles of Southampton, which facilitates continuity of care. 

108. Children and young people are screened for drug and alcohol misuse, and 
the CLA nurse provides advice and support where there are concerns 
about substance misuse. Referrals of children looked after to substance 
misuse services are increasing, and the rate of young people completing 
programmes is improving. However, rates of referral from this group 
remain lower than comparator groups. 

109. Children looked after, their carers and parents have access to effective 
services to support their emotional well-being through the behaviour 
resource service. This service is highly regarded by partner agencies and 
is effective in improving health outcomes for those who access it. 

110. Access by children looked after to initial assessments for CAMHS is 
prompt. Referrals for treatment are reviewed by the Therapeutic Panel to 
determine priority, after which there can be long waiting times for 
specialist services such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy and clinical 
psychology depending on priority of need. 

111. Children and young people including those looked after have good access 
to comprehensive contraception and sexual health services. Rates of 
pregnancy among children looked after are low. The Young Parents 
Midwifery Practice and the Family Nurse Partnership provide effective 
support and care planning for teenage mothers, including children looked 
after up to the age of 20 at the time of referral. This is a highly valued by 
service users and by other practitioners. 

112. CLA health professionals are appropriately engaged in care planning for 
young people leaving care, providing them with personal health 
summaries and signposting them to adult health services. The children 
looked after clinic is based at No Limits, which enables young people who 
have left care to contact the team. This is provided on an informal basis as 
there are no specific protocols for providing health support to care leavers. 
Care leavers were part of the interview process for new Designated Nurse 
for CLA and influenced the  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

28 

Staying safe Grade 3 (adequate) 

113. Safeguarding arrangements for children looked after are adequate. There 
have been significant delays in securing permanency for a significant 
number of children and young people. This, combined with delays for 
some children entering the care system, has impacted negatively on the 
welfare of those children. Statutory visits to children looked after are not 
always made in timescales. This, combined with significant changes in 
social workers for some children, reduces the opportunity for them to 
develop a trusting relationship with their social worker and for social 
workers to act on a full und  However, once 
a best interests decision has been made, children are placed for adoption 
in a timely manner. A very significant increase in the number of children 
where the plan is for adoption is impacting on capacity of the service, but 
the rvices have plans in place to address this. The number of 
Special Guardianship Orders being undertaken is increasing. The number 
of children being adopted is increasing after a fall in numbers in 
2010/2011.  

114. The proportion of children entering the care system has increased very 
significantly since 2008. This increase has impacted adversely on 
placement choice; in particular there is a shortage of local placements for 
mothers and their babies, teenagers and sibling groups. A higher 
proportion of children are placed in foster care than the national average. 
All children looked after, including those placed outside Southampton, are 
placed with foster care providers that have been rated good or better by 
Ofsted. All children looked after placed in residential care are in a 
provision which has been rated adequate or better. 

115. All children looked after who responded to the Ofsted pre-inspection 
survey reported that they feel safe or fairly safe, and almost all stated that 
there was at least one person that they could talk to if they felt unsafe. 
Almost all children and young people who responded to the survey found 
the advice that they receive from adults about keeping safe was useful. 

ity fostering services in December 2011 
rated the service to be outstanding, and an inspection of local authority 
adoption services in August 2011 rated the service good. The two local 

satisfactory. 

116. Stability of placements is better than the national average. Most children 
and young people who responded to the Ofsted pre-inspection survey 
stated that the care they received was either good or very good. This was 
reinforced when inspectors met with children who were very positive 
about their foster care placements. 

117. An effective multi-agency response is provided to those children who go 
missing from care. Return interviews are undertaken in a timely way by 
the most appropriate professional. The Miss U project pro-actively 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

29 

provides young people additional support if required. Strategy meetings 
are held for all young people who are looked after who go missing and 
planning takes place with carers to implement strategies to prevent 
further episodes of children going missing. 

118. Commissioning arrangements and the monitoring of contracts ensure that 
appropriate safeguarding standards are in place for all commissioned 
services for children looked after and care leavers. 

 

Enjoying and achieving Grade 3 (adequate) 

119. The impact of services to enable looked after children to enjoy and 
achieve is adequate. The local authority is committed to improving 

has had some positive impact on improving attainment. A thorough review 
of the virtual school approach by the local authority resulted in its 
replacement by the leadership team for promoting the educational 
achievements of children looked after in 2011. The achievements of 
children looked after are reviewed carefully by the team and designated 
teachers monitor their progress at school. Designated teachers now attend 
children looked after reviews and work more closely with social workers, 
to ensure that appropriate support is provided to secure improved 
educational outcomes. Recent training has been provided to designated 
teachers on how to discharge their role, together with improved access to 
advice and support.  

120. Schools are held to account for the progress and educational outcomes for 
children looked after and this is a key aspect of challenge discussions 
between schools and the Assistant Director in chil . Some 
71% of children looked after placed outside the city are in good or better 
schools but this reduces to 51% for schools within Southampton. This is 
lower than the rate of 62% for all pupils in the city.  

121. The school attendance of children looked after is monitored carefully both 
for those placed within and outside the area, and is improving. However, 
the council recognises the need to improve persistent absence which is 
higher than national levels. Early intervention work with young children at 
the edge of care and their families is helping families achieve better 
attendance for their children and professional development for designated 
teachers is improving their ability to support children looked after. Against 
a background of higher than average exclusion rates for the city overall, 
rates for children looked after are decreasing but are in need of further 
improvement. The recently established primary heads inclusion group, the 
secondary head teachers inclusion group and the new Key Stage 2 and 3 
pupil referral unit target support through managed alternative provision, 
emotional support programmes and short periods at the pupil referral unit 
to children and young people showing early signs of risk of exclusion. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

30 

122. The attainment of children looked after is improving and is mostly in line 
with national levels. Targeted additional support is used well to help 
individual pupils and is particularly effective in primary schools. At Key 
Stage 1 children looked after do better in mathematics than in reading and 
writing and they also do better in mathematics than English at Key Stage 
2. Story Sacks and the Hamlyn Reading Project are helping carers to 
provide the necessary support, and a phonics project was successful in 
improving the reading levels of children looked after. Increasingly, children 
looked after are making the expected progress in primary school and their 
attainment is in line with that for all pupils in the area. This level of 
progress is not, however, reflected in secondary schools, which has only 
improved marginally in recent years. 

123. Personal education plans (PEPs) provide a clear framework for evaluating 
the needs and progress of children and young people, but they have not 
been used to best effect to raise standards. PEPs record factual 
information about children and young people and outline attainment at 
different Key Stages. However, most do not include sufficient evaluation of 
progress and are not used to best effect to set improvement goals or to 
evaluate the impact of interventions. There is little indication of early 
planning and support for 15 and 16-year-olds to help them progress to 
education or training at the end of Key Stage 4. A new framework for 
completing personal education plans has been implemented recently by 
the leadership team for promoting the educational achievements of 
children looked after. Designated teachers and social workers have 
received training to use the new framework and report that it enables 
them to better target support. These plans are age specific and child 
friendly. The standard to which they are completed is too variable but is at 
least satisfactory. 

124. Children and young people looked after are encouraged to participate in 
out of school activities, to participate in sports, to take up interests and to 
learn to play musical instruments. Carers are provided with funding to 
help with activities. Children and young people have access to computers 
or are provided with laptops. Youth Options provide opportunities for 
young people to develop their social skills, to participate in residential 
events and to try out new activities. A project is underway to provide 
additional after school and holiday activities for younger children and to 
encourage young people who are looked after to volunteer, support 

participation in leisure activities is not reviewed consistently in PEPs to 
ensure that they benefit fully from the opportunities offered by the 
authority. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

31 

Making a positive contribution, including user engagement 
 Grade 3 (adequate) 

125. The extent to which looked after children and care leavers make a positive 
contribution is adequate. Participation of children looked after in forums in 
which they are able to contribute or to influence policy and planning is 
underdeveloped and there is not a systematic approach to gaining the 
wider views of children and young people. A plan has been put in place to 
develop this further. Young people are involved in the training of foster 
carers and were recently involved in some recruitment, including that of 
the children looked after nurse. A Promise, the equivalent of a pledge, has 
been developed with some young people. However, there is a lack of 
awareness amongst children and young people looked after of the Promise 
and a lack of evidence of its impact. 

126. Where children  views are heard the council is very responsive. For 
example, a young person wrote a letter to the Head of Safeguarding 
about their disappointment at the cancellation of the celebration evening 
for children looked after and as a result this event has now been 
reinstated for 2012. 

127. There are a few examples of consultation events leading to changes in 
policy and practice, such as the meeting with the Children in Care Council 
at Youth Options. The council meets regularly. However, currently only a 
small number of children are on the council and this limits its impact and 
ability to represent to views of the large children looked after population. 
Young people have influenced some developments, such as a facebook 
page where young people looked after can communicate with each other. 
Work is being undertaken to improve children and you
involvement in the Children in Care Council through meeting children in 
their own schools. Five schools have undertaken this so far. Some young 
people meet with a participation worker and are involved in the design 

uch as the 
development of a website for care leavers.  

128. During the inspection, the council facilitated a large group of children 
looked after to meet with inspectors. This group indicated that they would 
like to meet together more often and the council are now considering 
ways of responding to their request.  

129. Children and young people are actively enabled to participate in their 
reviews. Those who met inspectors felt that they were listened to 
concerning issues relating to their individual needs. The views of children 
looked after are routinely recorded and considered in social work visits. 
Particularly good work is undertaken within the adoption team to listen to 
the views of children and young people throughout the adoption process. 
Of the 25 children and young people who responded to the pre-inspection 
survey, 19 reported that reviews took notice of their wishes and feelings. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

32 

However, a number of young people are not aware of the advocacy 
service, how to make a complaint, or of the Children in Care Council. 
There is very little use of the advocacy service and the council recognises 
that further work needs to take place to improve children and young 

s to advocacy services. There is little evidence that 
organisational learning takes place through complaints and only a very 
small number of complaints have been made by children and young 
people who are looked after.  

130. An effective independent visitor scheme currently supports 11 children and 
young people and is making a positive impact on those young people. 
Currently there is significant demand for the service that is not being met 
due to its limited capacity. Plans are in place to increase the capacity of 
the service. 

131. Multi-agency actions to prevent young people looked after offending and 
reoffending are improving and the youth offending service was recently 
co located with the prevention and inclusion services. Restorative justice 
approaches are used extensively by the youth offending service with cross 
agency commitment to early detection of risk and preventative approaches 
which include the police, education, social care, youth intervention and the 
voluntary sector. Young people are no longer prosecuted for minor 
offences  whilst in foster care. Diversionary activities 
are increasingly used by the youth intervention and youth justice services 
to divert young people from criminal activities. The percentage of children 
and young people looked after cautioned or convicted has reduced 
steadily over the last three years, but continue to be higher than in similar 
areas. 

Economic well-being Grade 4 (inadequate) 

132. The impact of services to promote the economic well-being of looked after 
children and care leavers is inadequate. Insufficient suitable 
accommodation is available for care leavers and a significantly lower 
proportion of care leavers than seen nationally are in suitable 
accommodation. At the time of the inspection there were three care 
leavers and older young people looked after placed in bed and breakfast 
accommodation due to a lack of appropriate alternatives. Care leavers 
who were able to remain in their foster placements were very positive 
about their experiences. Good work with independent fostering agencies 
has enabled this continuity of care in some cases, but it is not always 
feasible for care leavers to remain in foster placements due to financial 
considerations and circumstances. 

133. Young people accommodated in hostels were more critical of their 
experiences. They report that they have not been adequately prepared for 
living independently and that they have not received the emotional 
support that they needed, which has sometimes resulted in their 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

33 

placements ending. Young people felt that they need better support for 
independence which starts at an earlier stage and a more gradual 
transition into independence. The council  analysis of outcomes for care 
leavers accommodated in hostels confirms that a significant number of 
placements have ended prematurely. Work is being undertaken to improve 
this.  

134. The options available to young people when progressing to independent 
living are too limited and sufficient time and support has not been 
provided to help them to develop the necessary skills and emotional 
capacity to live independently. One young person stated that the support 
they received was not proportionate to their needs. In recognition of these 
concerns, the council has implemented some recent improvements which 
include individualised packages of support for individual young people and 
a training bed is now being put in place in one of the hostels. Despite 
attempts by the council to recruit suitable supported lodgings, a very 
limited range of supportive lodging placements is available. The council is 
also aware that there is limited accommodation available for more 
vulnerable care leavers. This is a clear priority in the commissioning 
strategy and an assessment of need has been completed. In addition a 
combined voluntary sector lottery bid to provide support specifically to 
care leavers has been successful. The council has an arrangement with a 
furniture retailer that allows care leavers to choose their furniture when 
they move into their own accommodation. Staff report that this has been 
positively welcomed by young people. 

135. Collaborative joint working between the council, local colleges and schools 
enables a wide range of provision to be available to young people at 
foundation, advanced and specialist provision and alternative 
programmes. Each of the Southampton colleges has a personal advisor 
who supports young people looked after during transition to college and 
close working between schools and colleges ensures that the specific 
needs of young people can be planned for and accommodated by 
colleges. A range of apprenticeship opportunities are available across the 
area, but these are not used sufficiently to help care leavers to secure 
employment. The council is planning apprenticeships to create more 
opportunities for looked after young people and care leavers. 

136. The proportion of young people who progress to education and training at 
the end of Key Stage 4 improved last year and over the last three years 
over 80% of young people who started Year 12 completed their course. 
The authority recognises that at the age of 19 the proportion of care 
leavers in education training or employment is lower than in similar areas 
although levels are improving. Recent work through youth intervention 
programmes is helping to motivate and re-engage young people in 
education and training through 1:1 and small group work, which also 
enhances young people -esteem. Recent 
intervention through commissioned voluntary services is helping young 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

34 

people gain pre-employment training and work experience. However, this 
work is still to impact fully on care leavers in education, employment or 
training at the age of 19. 

137. The number of young people who have pathway plans is improving but 
remains low. The format for completing plans is clear and addresses 
relevant aspects. However, plans are often superficial, insufficiently 
evaluative and fail to set clear milestones to support young people 
through education or training and on to employment. The needs 
assessments are limited and descriptive rather than analytical and do not 
provide a comprehensive up to date assessment of the needs of the care 
leaver. The needs assessment do not consistently inform pathway 
planning. The authority recognises that they also do not consistently help 
secure support in a coherent manner to help young people develop living 
skills and to secure appropriate accommodation. 

Quality of provision Grade 4 (inadequate) 

138. The quality of provision for children looked after is inadequate. In some 
cases children have been left within their family for too long before action 
was taken to place children in care. In some cases of long-term neglect 
thresholds have not been applied appropriately or in a timely way. Despite 
evidence that this has improved in recent months, drift in case planning 
remains in some cases. In a number of cases there are delays in legal 
planning meetings taking place and in proceedings being initiated and 
being followed through within appropriate timescales. Prior to September 
2011, no system was in place to track cases following legal gateway 
meetings to enable any delay to be challenged at an early stage. Plans are 
not consistently progressed in a timely manner. These factors impact 
negatively on timely action being taken to place children in care.  

139. A significant number of children and young people have experienced 
undue delay before action has been taken ensure that they are looked 
after. Once decisions were made that children needed to be in care, 
appropriate action was then taken. In many cases planning and 
intervention has been reactive rather than proactive and children have 
often entered into care following a crisis, rather than in a planned manner, 
and this has impacted negatively on those children. 

140. Since September 2011, structures have been established within children s 
social care services, such as weekly consultations with legal services as 
well as planning meetings with legal services at an earlier stage. These 
are leading to some improvements. Some cases seen by inspectors have 
been progressed in a timely manner, for example inspectors saw evidence 
of recent timely pre-birth planning. The recently introduced care planning 
meeting and resources and alternatives to care panel, which considers 
cases of children on the edge of care as well as children in care, is 
improving decision making to ensure that children who need to be care 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

35 

are in care. However, in some cases lack of management oversight and 
clear direction has led to significant delays in progressing plans for 
children and young people. 

141. Assessments are too variable in quality. The majority of those seen by 
inspectors are inadequate or adequate and few are of a better standard. 
In a significant number of cases there is no comprehensive up to date 
assessment to inform planning. Overall assessments are not sufficiently 
analytical and do not focus sufficiently on the experience of the child. 
Risks and protective factors are not sufficiently explicit. There are delays 
in completing assessments and sometimes assessments are started by one 
social worker and completed by another social worker which impacts 
adversely on their quality and consistency. The views of older children are 
recorded but do not consistently influence case planning. The views of 
younger children are less evident in assessments. Issues of cultural 
ethnicity and diversity of children and their families are included but in 
most cases this is to a minimal level and overall is not sufficiently 
considered in case planning. Assessments in the Jigsaw service robustly 
incorporate issues of diversity in all assessments and care planning. The 
quality of work in Jigsaw which works with children looked after with 
disabilities is of a consistently high quality. 

142. Delays in proceedings being initiated have resulted in delays in 
permanency planning, although there have been some recent 
improvements. Reviews now more consistently focus on permanency 
planning at an early stage. Once children enter the care system there is 
undue delay in case planning in a significant number of cases. This has 
been recognised by the council and has led to recent improvements. A 
review of children accommodated under Section 20 of the Children Act 
(1989) led to a significant number of children being progressed to 
proceedings. As a result the high proportion of children accommodated 
under Section 20 has decreased significantly. 

143. Effective contingency planning is not consistently in place. The majority of 
care plans are not specific or measurable and are too limited. Intended 
outcomes and how these will be achieved are seldom clear, which makes 
the plan difficult to monitor. This has been recognised and a new planning 
format is now on the children social care electronic recording system, 
although staff have not yet been trained in its use. 

144. High staff turnover and an over-reliance on agency staff has led to a 
significant number of children having a number of changes of social 
workers and managers, particularly in the PACTs. This impacts negatively 
on the  relationships with 
children. Children who are allocated to the Pathways team have 
experienced some very stable relationships with their social workers and in 
the majority of cases are positive about their social workers. Young people 
described how important having a stable social worker was to them. One 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

36 

young person stated that changes in social workers had 
longer wanting to re-engage with social workers and repeat building 
another relationship and retelling their story . A few young people who 
had experienced continuity of social workers were much more positive and 
had excellent experiences of social workers. Other young people, who 
were less positive about their experiences, reported that they did not feel 
the social worker spent enough time with them. Life story work is being 
undertaken with some children in permanent placements. However, this is 
not routine or embedded in practice. Life story work in the adoption 
service is of a good standard and is consistently undertaken. 

145. Statutory visiting requirements for children looked after are not 
consistently met. A third of visits do not meet statutory timescales where 
a child is not in a permanent placement. Where a child is in a permanent 
placement statutory visiting requirements are met for the vast majority of 
children. Children are not always seen alone where it would be 
appropriate. The quality of recording of the visits is adequate overall, 
however, the purpose of the visit is not always sufficiently clear and in 

.  

146. Senior social care managers have taken appropriate action to ensure that 
standards of basic practice required are clear to staff. Guidance and 
training has been delivered to effect this change. This is having some 
positive impact. However, progress to improve the quality of social work 
practice has been undermined by the high turnover of staff, particularly in 
the PACTs. Senior managers recognise that they need to improve the skills 

currently have to be significantly involved in front line practice to ensure 
that minimum required practice is met. An example of the positive impact 
of senior managers  involvement in front line practice is the improvement 
in the quality of statements for court hearings, following representations 
from the courts concerning the poor quality of social work reports. Delays 
in assessments being both started and completed adversely impact on 
delays in securing permanency for children looked after. 

147. Children are provided with good quality foster placements and the quality 
of support that children and young people receive in their placements is 
good. To some extent, this support mitigates some of the negative 
experiences where there is a lack of continuity of other staff. There is 

emotional and mental health to prevent placements from breaking down. 
Foster carers report that a wide range leisure activities, such as Youth 
Options, effectively supports children in their placements. Options for 
young people to stay with family and friends and carers are consistently 
explored. The timeliness of assessments for family and friends to be 
carers has been identified as an area for development by the fostering 
service.  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

37 

148. 
homes to better meet the needs of children and young people. The ARC 
offers respite care for teenagers and intensive work with families to 
prevent young people entering the care system where this is appropriate. 
Although the impact of the work is too early too assess, evidence from 
some individual cases is positive. Parents met during the inspection were 
very positive about the service that they had received which is enabling 
improvements in their families  situation. Parents were very positive about 
being able to call the ARC services 24 hours a day if they needed support 
or advice and to be able to speak to someone who knew about their 
situation. The service is flexible in meeting the needs of families and offers 
intensive work and support for families, where appropriate. Parents 
described the staff as being non judgemental and stated that they felt 
listened too. Family group conferences are used well to enable children to 
remain within their own communities. 

149. Independent reviewing officers (IROs) are experienced and 
knowledgeable. Their caseloads are high and their capacity and ability to 
effectively carry out their responsibilities has been adversely impacted by 
staff sickness and the significant increase in the number of children 
coming into care. The timeliness of reviews has decreased and 
performance is below the national average. IROs have been effective in 
challenging drift in some cases. However, the high number of cases where 
there has been delay in planning has not enabled the reviewing officers be 
consistently effective. IROs do not have a clear or consistent system for 
tracking the progress of care plans in between reviews. As a result they 
use different methods of tracking and prioritisation. Social workers do not 
consistently notify IROs of significant changes to care plans. IROs are not 
always able to meet with children independently to gain their views, but 
are flexible in their approach and ensure a child centred approach to 
undertaking reviews. The quality of recording of reviews is improving and 
review reports are distributed in a more timely manner. 

150. Overall the quality of social work information provided to children looked 
after reviews is improving from a low baseline. However, social workers do 
not always provide an update on the progress of the care plan before the 
review and the quality of this information is too variable. The effectiveness 
of some reviews is undermined as a result of the lack of effective care 
planning before the review. Where care planning meetings are held in a 
timely way reviews are more effective.  

151. Recording of social work practice overall is adequate. However recording 
is not always up to date and some records are missing, for example, care 
plans are not always recorded. Chronologies are not always in place, are 
not consistently up to date and do not enable a new social worker or 
manager to promptly access the significant events in a case. 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

38 

152. A significant proportion of cases involving care leavers seen by inspectors 
were assessed to be inadequate. The majority of care leaver cases seen 
did not have a comprehensive assessment and lacked effective planning 
which impacted adversely on outcomes for those young people. However, 
social workers in the Pathway team do have good knowledge of the 
children and young people they work with and demonstrate commitment 
and persistency in supporting care leavers. In most cases staff have 
developed good stable relationships with children and young people, 
which is enhanced by young people being able to stay allocated to their 
social worker when they reach 18 years old. However, this commitment 
does not consistently lead to sufficient clarity about purpose and 
effectiveness of the interventions undertaken with those young people.  

153. The needs of unaccompanied asylum seeking children are met 
appropriately. There is good access to interpreters. The council runs a 
regular group for unaccompanied asylum seeking young people which is 
well received by those young people who attend. 

Ambition and prioritisation Grade 3 (adequate) 

154. Ambition and prioritisation for children looked after are adequate. Children 
looked after are a clear priority within the council s plans and their needs 
are routinely considered in key strategic groups that oversee and develop 
services for vulnerable children. The council demonstrate commitment to 
ensuring that children live in permanency at an early stage in their lives. 

155. The corporate parenting committee is well represented across the 
partnership. This includes cross party elected members, and other 
agencies such as health, housing and adult services. The corporate 
parenting committee has appropriate information provided which enables 
the group to identify key issues. There is evidence of effective challenge 
within the group and officers being held to account. There is evidence of 
some impact, however it is recognised that the group needs to use its 
detailed knowledge of the service to increase its effectiveness.  

156. A small group of committed elected members champion the needs of 
children in care, and work is ongoing to embed this across the wider 
group of elected members. Some elected members do take opportunities 
to meet with children looked a
are taken seriously and members ensure that action is taken.  

157. Sound self awareness of the strengths and the weaknesses of services to 
support children looked after enables the council and its partners to 
establish the right priorities. Appropriate prioritisation has led to effective 
provision in some areas, such as in fostering and adoption services. 
However, the achievement of some priorities has been undermined by 

children looked after, which has led to the council and its partners not 
consistently achieving its targets.  



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

39 

Leadership and management Grade 3 (adequate) 

158. Leadership and management are adequate. The council and its partners 
have experienced senior managers who provide clear and visible 
leadership for children looked after services. Within 
services, senior managers are working strenuously to ensure that those 
children who require care are looked after and receive appropriate support 
and case planning. Managers are actively engaged in delivering guidance 
and training and monitoring performance to ensure that the basic 
expected requirements of practice are met. However, this has not yet had 
sufficient sustained impact on the quality of practice.  

159. Leadership has resulted in improved strategic planning in some areas, 
such as the remodelling of . A robust 
sufficiency strategy is in place, however commissioning of placements has 
been under-developed. This has not enabled the best use of the resources 
and clarity on outcomes that need to be achieved for children and young 
people, and there has been limited evidence of management of the 
market. A new regional fostering contract has put the council in a sound 
position to be able to ensure more effective matching of placements for 
individual children as well as better use of resources. The council projects 
that the contract will lead to significant savings. The commissioning of 

placements is underdeveloped and there are plans in 
place to improve commissioning in this area. 

160. A detailed workforce strategy was updated in March 2012 in the C
Social Care Workforce Development Strategy. This clearly analyses needs 

are services and outlines appropriate measures to 
tackle the need to recruit and retain social work and managerial staff and 
to ensure that there are sufficient experienced staff to undertake or 
manage the range of complex work. The Pathways team and fostering and 
adoption services have been able to achieve a greater stability of staff. 
However, in some key services, such as in the PACTs there has been 
significant turnover of staff which has negatively impacted on the 
provision of services. The council has focused on recruiting and supporting 
newly qualified social workers with some success, although numbers 
recruited are insufficient to meet vacancies. Few and insufficient 
experienced social work staff, who are readily able to take on more 
complex work, have been recruited to offset the high number of 
experienced social workers who left the service during 2011/2012.  

161. High staff turnover and over reliance on agency staff 
social care services is significantly and adversely impacting on the quality 
of provision and the value for money. Managers are working directly to 
minimise the impact of changes of social workers and to support new or 
inexperienced staff. Whilst this is appropriate and necessary to maintain 
some areas of children looked after services, it detracts from the time 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

40 

available to senior managers to focus on strategic development of services 
and improving their overall quality. 

162. Social workers report that they have ready access to training which is of 
good quality, and this training is also accessed by agency staff. Those 
staff who have remained in the service express confidence in their 
managers and commitment to sustaining and improving services for 
children looked after. 

163. The council recognises the need to improve opportunities for young 
people to develop their economic well-being and clear priorities for 
improvement have been identified based on an accurate self assessment. 
The recently established leadership team for promoting the educational 
achievements of children looked after is well placed to prepare young 
people for progression to post-16 education or training and on to higher 
education or employment.  

Performance management and quality assurance  
Grade 3 (adequate) 

164. Performance management and quality assurance are adequate. A wide 
range of performance management information is routinely made available 
to and analysed by managers across the partnership, which enables them 
to have a sound understanding of issues affecting children looked after. 
Performance information and analysis is routinely reported to key strategic 
groups such as the Corporate P
and Scrutiny committee to enable them to monitor the effectiveness of 
provision and guide service developments. Operational managers have 
regular access to management information and there is evidence that this 
is used increasingly to improve practice and to ensure that the key 
elements of practice are met.  

165. A range of case and service audits are undertaken across the partnership. 
some individual case audits have 

been undertaken that have resulted in the identification of practice and 
managerial issues that have been appropriately addressed, together with 
some areas of good practice. However, auditing has not been consistently 
or regularly undertaken across children looked after service to enable 
managers to assess whether actions taken to address issues have been 
effective and led to sustained improvements. 

166. looked after supervision 
and management oversight is mostly regularly provided. However the 
effectiveness of supervision is too variable. Most files seen by inspectors 
sufficiently recorded case discussion and consideration of issues from 
previous supervision. However, not all case planning was sufficiently 
detailed, specific or measurable and actions were often repeated from 
previous supervision sessions, with examples of actions not being followed 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

41 

through. Supervision does not focus sufficiently on the experience of the 
child and there is insufficient challenge of the effectiveness of planning 
and intervention.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Southampton inspection of safeguarding and looked after children 

 

42 

Record of main findings: 

Safeguarding services 

Overall effectiveness adequate 

Capacity for improvement adequate  

Safeguarding outcomes for children and young people 

Children and young people are safe and feel safe adequate  

Quality of provision inadequate  

The contribution of health agencies to keeping children 
and young people safe 

adequate  

 

Ambition and prioritisation adequate 

Leadership and management adequate 

Performance management and quality assurance adequate  

Partnership working adequate  

Equality and diversity adequate  

Services for looked after children  

Overall effectiveness adequate  

Capacity for improvement adequate  

How good are outcomes for looked after children and care leavers? 

Being healthy good 

Staying safe adequate  

Enjoying and achieving adequate  

Making a positive contribution, including user 
engagement 

adequate  

Economic well-being inadequate 

Quality of provision inadequate 

 

Ambition and prioritisation adequate  

Leadership and management adequate  

Performance management and quality assurance adequate  

Equality and diversity adequate  

 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         1 

Appendix 2: Quality Improvement Plan in response to OfSTED Announced Inspection 2012 

 
The 2012 safeguarding and children looked after Ofsted report makes 17 recommendations. These 
include three for immediate implementation; 10 for completion within three months (September 2012) and 
four to be addressed within six months (December 2012).  The areas for immediate implementation are 
concerned with: quality of social work, ‘core group’ meetings and delivery of statutory visits to children in 
care.  This improvement plan contains two tables: Table 1: Safeguarding with seven recommendations 
and Table 2: Children looked after with ten recommendations.  The table has five columns:  
 

• Column one contains the recommendation 

• Column two activity to take place 

• Column three outcome measure 

• Column four costs associated to activity  

• Column five lead agency 
 

TABLE 1: SAFEGUARDING  

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Safeguarding: Immediately 

1. Ensure that 
the quality of 
social work to 
safeguard 
children is of a 
consistently high 
standard and 
that this is 
supported by 
regular high 
quality 
supervision by 
managers. 

Rollout revised Quality 
Assurance Framework; self 
assessment, quality 
improvement planning and 
management audit and 
review. 

Updated self assessment, 
QIP and introduction of 
regular management audit 
process to ensure ongoing 
overview of service quality 
and consistent.  
 
Audit trail of improvements, 
linked to audits, implemented. 
  

Existing 
resources  

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

Review and reconfigure as 
necessary front line 
safeguarding services in 
consultation with staff teams 
and partners using LEAN 
process review as 
appropriate. 

Structures and service 
processes better placed to 
deliver consistent case 
management, added value 
and timely and consistent 
assessment and recording.  

To be 
confirmed 

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 
Safeguarding 

Secure specialist HR 
support to free up capacity 
for management and 
leadership and development 
of the service. 

Reduction in management 
time spent in recruitment. 

£3k per 
month 

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 
Safeguarding 

Review and reconfigure 
CSL and corporate 
Safeguarding support 
services. 

Business support, ICT, legal , 
commissioning, procurement, 
performance management, 
accommodation, HR and 
other support to underpin 
effective social work.  

Existing 
resources  

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 – 
Commissioning  
 
Resources 

Review existing Supervision 
Policy. 

Provision of high quality, 
timely supervision to all 
frontline social care staff.  
 

Existing 
resources  

SCC -CSL 
Directorate 

Agenda Item 9
Appendix 2



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         2 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Development of working 
environment - wireless and 
working spaces for 
supervision  

Increased flexible working 
opportunities. 
 
Adherence to the Supervision 
Policy.  

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate 

Continue to progress a 
rigorous recruitment 
campaign supported by a 
comprehensive workforce 
development programme, 
inclusive of induction. 

Sufficient levels of workforce 
recruited.   
 
All employees, including 
temps, complete an induction 
and have an individualised 
comprehensive 
training/development 
programme  

To be 
comfirmed 

SCC – 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate 

Appoint/designate the 
Principal Social Worker, in 
line with Munro Review.  

Principal Social Worker 
operating in the city, working 
alongside practitioners and 
strategic officers. 

£53k pa SCC – CSL and 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff 
on service improvements. 

Staff are actively contributing 
to service redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

2. Core groups 
are held 
regularly, that 
they include the 
active 
engagement of 
all relevant 
agencies and 
that they 
implement and 
develop the 
child protection 
plan to ensure 
that it is 
effective.  
 

Improve the regularity and 
multi agency attendance of 
all aspects of Core Group 
meetings: meetings, 
attendance note taking and 
parental engagement and 
support. 

All Core Group meetings held 
and minutes taken in 
accordance with timescales 
and procedures. 
 
Regular full attendance at 
Core Group meetings by all 
core partners.   
 
Partners responded positively 
to the activity required of 
them – through having copies 
of the meting notes/child 
protection conferences as 
soon as possible.   

To be 
confirmed 

LSCB, SCC - 
CSL 
Directorate, 
Health 
Providers, 
Police and 
Voluntary 
Sector 

Reconfigure existing 
Safeguarding resource 
differently to free up 2.5 
senior practitioners to chair 
core group meetings and 
identify additional business 
support to support effective 
communication, planning 
and noting. 

Core groups chaired by 
Senior practitioners and 
accurate notes taken by 
business support and 
recorded on case notes as 
necessary 

£145k to 
be found 
from 
reconfigur
ation of 
existing 
resources 

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff 
on service improvements. 
 

Staff are actively contributing 
to service redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         3 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Safeguarding: within three months 

3. Increase 
staffing stability, 
in particular in 
the protection 
and court 
teams, so that 
sufficient social 
workers are in 
place who are 
suitably 
qualified, trained 
and experienced 
to provide 
children at risk 
and those in 
need with timely 
and skilled 
support  

Locally established 
corporate ‘Social Work 
reform board’ to complete 
it’s task to: develop a 
comprehensive 
remuneration package for 
Social Worker practitioners.  

Recruitment of qualified 
Social Workers, at all levels, 
is in line with comparable 
authorities – South East.   

To be 
confirmed 

SCC - CSL and 
Cross-council 
representation  

Review and reconfigure as 
necessary front line 
safeguarding services in 
consultation with staff teams 
and partners using LEAN 
process review as 
appropriate and making 
effective use of qualified 
social workers across 
teams. 

Structures and service 
processes better placed to 
deliver consistent case 
management, added value 
and timely and consistent 
assessment and recording.  
 
Social work case load system 
implemented and adhered to.  
 
Contact, referrals and 
assessment are delivered 
professionally, timely and 
producing positive outcomes 
for children and young 
people. 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 
Safeguarding 

Develop a comprehensive 
recruitment strategy, which 
explores opportunities for, 
radio advertising, 
recruitment open days, 
recruiting from USA 

Recruitment strategy is 
operating and yielding 
benefits to the city.  

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL and 
Capita 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff 
on staff recruitment and 
retention. 

Engage staff on their ideas 
for attracting and retaining 
high quality staff at all levels 
in the service.    

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

4. The needs of 
homeless 
children and 
young people 
are fully 
assessed and 
that sufficient 
suitable 
accommodation 
is available for 
them, including 
emergency 
provision  

Provide assessments for 
children and young people 
presenting as in need. 

All children young people 
presenting as at risk are 
assessed and provided with 
relevant services.  
 
Young people who are 
assessed as in need of 
accommodation under 
Section 20 of the 1989 
Children Act are provided 
with relevant emergency, 
short and long term 
accommodation.  
 
 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL and 
Economic 
Directorate 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         4 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Analysis of the trend data to 
assess the level of need 
against the current provision 
of emergency and 
independent 
accommodation for older 
young people.  

Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment details the 
needs of children and young 
people, with regards 
accommodation. 
 
Volume of emergency 
accommodation and single 
independent accommodation 
is available – under 
supporting people.   

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL, 
Adults and 
Economic 
Directorate  

5. Facilities for 
the medical 
examination of 
children and 
young people 
under 13 years 
of age who are 
the victims of 
abuse, including 
sexual assault, 
are available 
and are readily 
accessible at 
weekends  

Review and appraise 
demand and need for 
weekend specialist medical 
examination provision. 
 
 
Implementation of 
recommendations. 

Dependent upon outcome of 
review, but improved 
provision for victims of sexual 
assault aged under 13 at 
weekends. 

To be 
confirmed 

NHS 
Southampton 

6. Ensure that 
service users 
are made aware 
of complaints 
processes and 
that lessons 
learnt from 
complaints are 
used to inform 
service 
development.  

From July 2012 all 
practitioners, and support 
staff will distribute the 
compliments, complaints 
and comments leaflet to all 
service users.   

Record of information 
distributed to users in case 
records.  
 
Increased volume of 
compliments, complaints and 
comments from users.  

To be 
confirmed 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate 

A management instruction 
to be issued to all regulated 
services managers 
reminding them of the 
national minimum standards 
requirement. 

Fewer complaints arising 
from not meeting minimum 
standards 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate 
 

A quarterly report to Social 
care management team, 
Children’s services and 
Learning management 
team, Corporate parenting 
and the Children’s Trust 
setting out the ‘lessons 
learnt from complaints’. 
 
 
 

Evidence of correlation 
between service redesign 
and the compliments, 
complaints and comments 
received from users.   
 
 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate  



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         5 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Safeguarding: within six months 

7. There are 
sufficient 
experienced 
social work staff 
and managers 
to effectively 
carry out the 
council’s 
safeguarding 
responsibilities.  

Locally established Social 
Work reform board to have 
developed a comprehensive 
remuneration package for 
Social Worker practitioners 
to make Southampton an 
attractive and competitive 
employer.  

Recruitment of qualified 
Social Workers, at all levels, 
is in line with comparable 
authorities – South East.   

To be 
confirmed 

SCC - CSL and 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate  

Develop a comprehensive 
recruitment strategy to 
attract and induct social 
workers at different levels of 
service into Southampton. 

Recruitment strategy is 
operating and yielding 
benefits to the city in terms of 
reduced share of agency staff 
and increased share of 
permanent staff in workforce.  

Net saving 
compared 
to agency 
costs. 

SCC – CSL and 
Capita 

 
 

TABLE 2: CHILDREN LOOKED AFTER  

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Children looked after: Immediately 

1. Ensure that 
statutory visits to 
children looked 
after are 
undertaken within 
the required 
timescales 

Investigate and review 
definition and recording of 
process for identifying 
permanent placements in 
foster care. This will impact 
on the frequency of visits 
required without increasing 
risk or damaging outcomes. 

Improved timeliness of 
statutory visits and better 
direction of workforce 
priorities in making this 
happen. 

Existing 
resources in 
re-
configured 
workforce 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Safeguarding  

Monitoring of compliance with 
statutory visit at team 
performance meeting and 
individual supervision.  
Supported through a 

Individual practitioners 
and teams complying 
with statutory 
requirements.  
 
All children and young 
people are seeing their 
social worker when they 
should be.   

Existing 
resources in 
re-
configured 
workforce. 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Safeguarding 

Development of a 
performance tool to support 
managers in monitoring 
compliance – an electronic 
alert which shows the 
required statutory visits that 
are due for completion in the 
next 10 working days. 

Team Managers and 
Senior Practitioners are 
sufficiently equipped to 
challenge and support 
practitioners and teams. 

Technical 
feasibility 
and costs of 
this to be 
confirmed. 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate – 
Commissioning 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         6 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

Children looked after: within three months 

2. Children looked 
after are aware of 
the complaints 
process and are 
enabled to 
access the 
advocacy service  
 

IROs to discuss with 
children/young people 
opportunities to take up 
advocacy – at statutory review 
meetings. 

Better take-up of 
advocacy and evidence 
children and young 
people understand the 
service and are aware of 
it. 

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Commissioning 

Commissioning to explore 
with potential providers scope 
and costs for developing 
value for money in a more 
attractive and better used 
advocacy service. 

Better take-up of 
advocacy and evidence 
children and young 
people understand the 
service and are aware of 
it. 

To be 
confirmed 
depending 
on spec. 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Commissioning 

From July 2012 all 
practitioners, and support 
staff will distribute the 
compliments, complaints and 
comments leaflet and the 
advocacy leaflet to all children 
and young people in care.   

Record of information 
distributed to users in 
case records.  
 
Increased volume of 
compliments, complaints 
and comments from 
users.  

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Safeguarding 

Complaints and advocacy 
information posted on Young 
People in Care Council 
facebook and Youth 
Southampton. 

Better take-up of 
advocacy and evidence 
children and young 
people understand the 
service and are aware of 
it. 
 
Increased volume of 
compliments, complaints 
and comments from 
users. 

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Commissioning 

Improve format of complaint 
reporting to service, 
directorate and corporate 
audiences to show how 
services have improved from 
learning from complaints. 

Fewer complaints on 
repeat issues in future 
years. 

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate – 
Commissioning / 
Chief 
Executive’s 
Department  

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

3. Pathway plans 
are in place for all 
care leavers, that 
they are 

Review and reconfigure as 
necessary front line 
safeguarding services in 
consultation with staff teams 

Structures and service 
processes better placed 
to deliver consistent 
case management, 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC - CSL 
Directorate 
 
Safeguarding 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         7 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

comprehensive 
and specific and 
effectively support 
care leavers in 
achieving their 
objectives, 
including the 
development of 
independence 
skills and the 
transition to 
independence  

and partners using LEAN 
process review as appropriate 
and making effective use of 
qualified social workers 
across teams. 

added value and timely 
and consistent 
assessment and 
recording.  
 
Social work case load 
system implemented and 
adhered to.  
 
Contact, referrals and 
assessment are 
delivered professionally, 
timely and producing 
positive outcomes for 
children and young 
people. 

All Social Workers will be 
issued with a management 
instruction on the statutory 
requirements to develop, in 
partnership with children, 
young people and their 
families/carers, appropriate, 
high quality pathway plans. 

All children and young 
people have a Pathway 
Plan that is personal, 
appropriate and owed by 
them.   
 
Children and young 
people life outcomes are 
improved, especially 
independence skills. 
 
Young people are 
successful in their 
transition to 
independence.  

Existing 
resources in 
re-
configured 
workforce. 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate and 
Health  

Increase regularity of 
management audit activity 
carried out on Pathway plans 
in line, reflection and quality 
improvement in line with the 
Quality Assurance 
Framework. 

Quarterly audit reports 
outline training needs of 
individuals or teams in 
completing Pathway 
Plans.  
 
All Pathway Plans are 
appropriately challenging 
and supporting young 
people.  

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate and 
Health  

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

4. High quality 
personal 
education plans 
are in place for all 
relevant children 
looked after  

Delivery of training for social 
workers, designated teachers, 
senior practitioners and team 
managers to ensure high 
quality PEPS are in place. 

Personal Education 
Plans are relevant, 
challenging and enabling 
for children and young 
people to progress in 
their leaving.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate,  
Schools and 
Capita 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         8 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

  
Rise in percentage of 
children and young 
people making expected 
and good progress and 
attainment compared to 
their peers.   

Extend Quality Assurance 
Framework to cover 
production and review of 
PEPS. 
 
Undertake PEP audits, in line 
with the Quality Assurance 
Framework. 

Quality and consistency 
of PEP’s  improved as 
indicated by audit and 
inspection. 
 
 

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate and 
Schools 

Develop and implement a 
Virtual School development 
plan to improve timeliness 
and accuracy of oversight and 
intervention on CLA 
attainment and attendance.   

Rise in percentage of 
children and young 
people making expected 
and good progress and 
attainment compared to 
their peers.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding/ 
Commissioning 

Develop and test pilot 
approaches to ways of 
integrating PEP review activity 
alongside other meetings, 
such as Children Looked 
After statutory reviews.   

To be evaluated – but 
intended to be clearer, 
more meaningful review 
meetings to improve 
care planning and child 
and partner involvement. 
  

To be 
confirmed 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding/ 
Commissioning 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

5.Comprehensive 
up to date 
assessments are 
in place for 
children looked 
after and care 
leavers which are 
analytical and 
robustly identify 
risks, needs and 
protective factors 
and effectively 
inform care 
planning  

Review all available 
assessment materials 
(available locally and 
nationally) and develop an 
assessment tool which 
identifies the child/young 
person’s needs to underpin 
planning. 

Children and young 
people outcomes are 
improved through 
SMART care planning.   

Existing 
resources in 
re-
configured 
workforce. 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate - 
Safeguarding 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

6. Care plans are 
specific with clear 
intended 
outcomes, that 
these are 

Embed the new electronic 
Care Plan document onto 
PARIS by 1September 2012. 

All staff using the new 
Care Plan electronic 
system from 1 
September 2012.  

Training 
priority. 
Paris costs 
to be 
confirmed. 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Infrastructure / 
Commissioning / 
Safeguarding 



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         9 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

recorded on the 
electronic 
recording system 
and that the 
implementation of 
the care plans is 
robustly 
monitored  

Introduce regular 
management audit of care 
plans in line with the quality 
assurance framework.   

Improve consistency and 
quality of care plans and 
analysis of child’s needs. 
Better care plans.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate - 
Commissioning / 
Safeguarding 

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

7. Legal planning 
meetings are 
timely and that 
actions from 
these meetings 
are robustly 
monitored and 
implemented.  

Continue to use the system to 
track cases following legal 
gateway meetings to enable 
any delay to be challenged at 
an early stage.  

Weekly legal 
consultation services are 
become shorter as staff 
knowledge and 
confidence develops.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC – 
Corporate 
Services 
Directorate  

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

Children looked after: within six months 

8. Robust 
systems are in 
place that enable 
children looked 
after and care 
leavers to 
effectively 
contribute to 
developments in 
strategic 
planning, policy 
and practice  

The Children in Care Council 
continues to be supported in 
its development to improve 
the influence of children 
looked after over their care. 

Termly meetings with 
elected members and 
senior managers 
increase their ability to 
give examples of where 
their views have 
positively shaped 
services.  
 
 
 

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate 

Independent Reviewing 
Officers collect and record in 
annual report evidence of 
children and young people’s 
views of service provision.   

Annual report presented 
to Care Council, 
Corporate Parenting, 
Children’s Trust, LSCB, 
Health board and Police 
Commissioner.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate – 
Commissioning 

Social Workers, including 
residential workers, fosters 
carers, collect and record 
children and young people’s 
views of service into the 
service redesign.   

Those in the services 
can demonstrate how 
their practice and care 
planning is influenced 
and improved by children 
and young people.  

Existing 
resources 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate – 
Commissioning / 
Safeguarding 

9. Sufficient high 
quality 
accommodation is 
available to 
effectively meet 
the needs of care 
leavers  

Encourage foster carers and 
young people to continue to 
live together in line with the 
Staying Put draft statutory 
guidance. 

More young people 
remaining with foster 
carers until they post 20 
year olds. 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL 
Directorate - 
Safeguarding 

Explore and pilot other 
approaches to open up 
opportunities for independent 
and supported semi 

Increase the range and 
choice of independent 
accommodation options 
open to care leavers. 

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL, 
Adults and 
Economic 
Directorate  



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         10 

Area for 

development - 

Ofsted report 

Activity to be delivered Outcome measure 
Cost (if 

app.) 
Lead agency 

independent accommodation 
for young people approaching 
the end of care based on 
good practice elsewhere. 

Reduce accommodation 
problems for care 
leavers due to not being 
prepared. 

Analysis of cohort data to 
predict accommodation needs 
of care leavers. 
 
 

A five year rolling plan 
that responds to the 
needs of care leavers 
annually.  
 
Growth in provision of 
single independent 
accommodation 
dedicated to young 
people leaving care.   

To be 
confirmed 

SCC – CSL, 
Adults and 
Economic 
Directorate  

Embed a systematic 
approach to engaging staff on 
service improvements. 

Staff are actively 
contributing to service 
redesign.   

Existing 
resources 

SCC CSL – 
Directorate – 
Safeguarding / 
Commissioning 

10. NHS 
Southampton 
PCT should 
ensure that there 
is sufficient 
capacity within 
the children 
looked after 
health team to 
meet the health 
needs of children 
looked after 

Commissioning review of 
children looked after health 
team to identify current need 
against existing capacity to 
maximize effective use of 
resource and address 
resource needs. 
 
Implementation of 
recommendations from 
review. 

Strong performance 
against standards of 
service provision and 
positive health outcomes 
of children looked after 
are sustained and 
improve further. 

To be 
confirmed 

NHS 
Southampton 

  



DRAFT 

OSMC: Ofsted report 12 July – Appendix 2         11 

Summary of Safeguarding and Children Looked After Ofsted Inspection recommendations  

 

Safeguarding services  

 

Immediately, ensure that:  

• the quality of social work to safeguard children is of a consistently high standard and that this is 
supported by regular high quality supervision by managers.  

• core groups are held regularly, that they include the active engagement of all relevant agencies and 
that they implement and develop the child protection plan to ensure that it is effective.  

 

Within three months, ensure that:  

• staffing stability, in particular in the protection and court teams, so that sufficient social workers are in 
place who are suitably qualified, trained and experienced to provide children at risk and those in need 
with timely and skilled support  

• the needs of homeless children and young people are fully assessed and that sufficient suitable 
accommodation is available for them, including emergency provision  

• facilities for the medical examination of children and young people under 13 years of age who are the 
victims of abuse, including sexual assault, are available and are readily accessible at weekends  

• service users are made aware of complaints processes and that lessons learnt from complaints are 
used to inform service development.  

 

Within six months, ensure that:  

• there are sufficient experienced social work staff and managers to effectively carry out the council’s 
safeguarding responsibilities.  

 

Children Looked After services  

 

Immediately, ensure that:  

• statutory visits to children looked after are undertaken within the required timescales  
 

Within three months, ensure that:  

• children looked after are aware of the complaints process and are enabled to access the advocacy 
service  

• pathway plans are in place for all care leavers, that they are comprehensive and specific and 
effectively support care leavers in achieving their objectives, including the development of 
independence skills and the transition to independence  

• high quality personal education plans are in place for all relevant children looked after  

• comprehensive up to date assessments are in place for children looked after and care leavers which 
are analytical and robustly identify risks, needs and protective factors and effectively inform care 
planning  

• care plans are specific with clear intended outcomes, that these are recorded on the electronic 
recording system and that the implementation of the care plans is robustly monitored  

• legal planning meetings are timely and that actions from these meetings are robustly monitored and 
implemented.  

 

Within six months, ensure that:  

• robust systems are in place that enable children looked after and care leavers to effectively contribute 
to developments in strategic planning, policy and practice  

• sufficient high quality accommodation is available to effectively meet the needs of care leavers  

• NHS Southampton PCT should ensure that there is sufficient capacity within the children looked after 
health team to meet the health needs of children looked after.  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: SAFE CITY PARTNERSHIP PLAN 

DATE OF DECISION: 12th JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: COMMUNITY SAFETY MANAGER 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

Southampton Safe City Partnership is responsible for bringing key partners together 
to jointly reduce crime and disorder. The Partnership has a statutory duty under the 
Police and Justice Act 2006 to meet national minimum standards which includes 
producing an annual Strategic Assessment and a Partnership Plan. The coalition 
government has affirmed intention to retain this statutory duty. The Partnership Plan is 
included in the Policy Framework and hence requires full council approval.  

The Plan which is attached in full looks back at the achievements and performance of 
the partnership in the last year and then looks forward by setting priorities and actions 
for 2012/13.   

The Safe City Partnership (SCP) has a rolling list of actions to be taken by partners to 
deliver the priorities within the Plan which will be a working document shared within 
the partnership.  These actions will have read-across with the Council Plan, 
Directorate Plans and the City Plan. In addition links including joint projects and 
actions with other relevant partnerships such as Southampton Connect, Children & 
Young Peoples Trust, and Health and Wellbeing Board have been established. 

The council is a key member of the Safe City Partnership and has a pivotal role in 
working with partners to make Southampton a safer city.  This report outlines some of 
the contributions the council is asked to make towards the delivery of this Plan within 
existing budgets 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 (i) That the Committee consider this report and discuss the content of 
the Plan and indentify any related issues or concerns. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. This annual plan is a statutory duty and part of the Policy Framework.  It has 
been developed to reflect the findings of the annual joint strategic 
assessment which covers crime trends and patterns as well as community 
feedback.  The draft plan has been considered by the members of Safe City 
Partnership, Children and Young People’s Trust, Management Board of 
Directors, and Cabinet Member.  

2. Approval of the recommendation will enable the Partnership to work to a 
clear and concise set of priorities for the forthcoming year and to deliver the 
actions relating to those priorities. 

3. It is proposed by the Safe City Partnership that the top 3 priorities remain for 
3 years in order to take a longer term focus and delivery period, but the plan 
itself and related actions will be reviewed annually as required by legislation. 

Agenda Item 10



 

 2

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

4. As this is a statutory duty there is no alternative but to produce a plan.  This 
plan will be available solely on the website in order to reduce associated 
costs. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

5. The key messages in this plan are very positive; 

• All crime’ – that is the overall crime level in the city – has reduced 
substantially over the last 5 years from 36,340 in 2007 to 27,214 in 
2011 (26% reduction); 

• The Partnership achieved targets set against the top priority in 2011/12 
Partnership Plan to reduce violent crime, this reduced 4% on the 
previous year. Violent crime has declined year on year for 5 years with 
step change reductions in violence in the night time economy (down 
20% over 2 years) and in domestic violence repeat incidents (down 
17% in 2011); 

• Burglary rates which had a steep rise in 2010 has decreased in the last 
year; 

• There has been a 10% reduction in criminal damage on the previous 
year and a 51% drop since 2007; 

• Southampton has repeatedly struggled when compared with our 'Most 
Similar Group' and ‘core cities’ for some crime-types. However, year-
end figures for the first time show a positive shift for ‘All Crime’ of 3 
places in the Most Similar Group placing the city 10th out of 15; for 
Burglary Southampton is 5th out of 15 in the lowest quartile.  Violent 
crime and alcohol-related crime remain the biggest challenges as 
Southampton is consistently in the top quartile; 

• Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) reports have risen slightly but the number 
of young offenders as first time entrants to the criminal justice system 
continues to fall. 

6. The Plan details examples of the partnership activity that has contributed to a 
successful year in reducing crime. This includes the Safe City Partnership as 
the 2011 national winners of the Tilley Award for crime reduction and 
partnership work in the Night Time Economy.  The Plan also identifies the 
areas for improvement which are then translated to the top 3 priorities for 
three years (2012/15).  Specifically, the partnership has agreed to focus 
collective effort on the following annual improvement priorities: 

1. Reducing crime and anti-social behaviour in 'priority areas' – 
specifically the areas identified in Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 
and emerging hotspots.  This will join up the work of the Safe City 
Partnership with that led by Southampton Connect to improve 
outcomes in the 5 top areas of multiple deprivation as well as council 
services such as Economic Development and Housing which are also 
focused on this issue. 
 

 

 



 3

2. Reduce the harms caused by drugs and alcohol. This recognises 
the significant impact of alcohol and substance misuse on both 
offending behaviour and increasing the vulnerability of victims. 
Alcohol and drugs are key drivers of crime across multiple crime-
types including violent crime, anti-social behaviour, burglary, robbery 
and sexual offences.  This priority covers the range of alcohol misuse 
including under-age drinking, street drinking, binge drinking and 
longer term alcohol misuse.  This priority also has strong links with 
many council services including Public Health, Licensing, Trading 
Standards, Environmental Health and Children's Services. 

3. Reduce repeat victimisation with a focus on identifying and 
protecting vulnerable victims.  This priority reflects improved joint 
practice and growing awareness of the specific issues presented by 
and for victims with additional vulnerabilities such as mental health 
and learning disability and those made ‘vulnerable’ by the type of 
crime they experience – for example domestic violence or anti social 
behaviour.  This area has strong links with Adult Safeguarding and 
Mental Health Services. 

7. In addition to the top 3 priorities the Partnership has agreed a small set of key 
actions for focus in 2012/13.  These actions are listed in the Plan, page 7. 

8. The Council has both a statutory duty and civic leadership role in working with 
partners to promote a safer city and contribute to the Safe City Partnership 
objectives.  More specifically, the council is a crucial partner in achieving a 
safer city through direct service delivery, for example through the community 
safety team, safeguarding children and adults, CCTV, Environmental Health, 
Licensing and Housing functions.  While many other council services 
significantly contribute to tackling the root causes of crime from economic 
development to environment and the communications team.  A thriving 
economy, improved educational standards and reduced absenteeism, more 
resilient families, and cleaner and greener environments all contribute to 
reducing crime.   

9. The Council’s significant contribution to the Safe City Partnership recognises 
the causes and impacts of crime in the city on the well-being of residents and 
the need to continue to support actions that prevent, educate, challenge, 
enforce and protect local communities. This also directly contributes to the 
Southampton Partnership priorities and challenges.  National and local 
evidence robustly reinforces the added value of working together with 
partners to achieve crime and safety. 

10. A few examples of the range of outcomes specifically from the council-led    
activities contributing to crime reduction and safety include: 

• Troubled Families Initiative – delivering the new national initiative to 
‘turn around’ the lives of identified families – this includes reducing re-
offending; 

• Learning from Serious Case Reviews and Domestic Homicide 
Reviews and thus strengthening joint work in relation to safeguarding; 

• Reducing seasonal peaks for crime and anti-social behaviour, 
burglary, accidental fires and alcohol related violent crime in autumn 
months (recognising October for peak offences); 

 



 4

• Delivering focussed and joint activities to tackle enviro-crime, Anti-
social behaviour and related issues in agreed locations; 

• Launching the ‘Pippa’ Domestic and Sexual Violence Alliance to 
improve access to advice and support; 

• Improving Communications with residents including those from harder 
to reach and diverse communities; 

• Preparing for the changes arising from the election of the Police and 
Crime Commissioners; and 

• Supporting Operation Fortress to reduce drug related organised 
crime. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital  

11. None as a direct result of this report.   

Revenue 

12. The actions identified by respective agencies and SCC services within the 
SCP Plan must be included within existing approved budgets.  There is a 
small Community Safety Budget (£75k) which the SCP currently allocates as 
grants to four priority voluntary sector groups. 

Property/Other 

13. None. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

14. The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (amended by the Police and Justice Act 
2006) places a statutory duty on Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships 
to produce a strategic assessment and a Partnership Plan outlining its 
priorities to tackle crime and disorder. 

Other Legal Implications:  

15. None 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

16. The Safe City Partnership Plan forms part of the Council’s approved Policy 
Framework. 



 5

AUTHOR: Name:  Linda Haitana Tel: 023 8083 3989 

 E-mail: Linda.haitana@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Draft Safe City Partnership Plan 2012-13 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None  

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

Yes 

 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) . 

 

1. None  

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Safe City Partnership
Annual Plan

2012/13

Agenda Item 10
Appendix 1



C
o
n
te

n
ts

O
u

r 
p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 l

a
s

t 
y

e
a

r

Th
e 

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
 S

af
e 

C
it

y 
P
a
rt

n
er

sh
ip

 (
S
C
P

) 
is

 a
 g

ro
u

p
 

o
f 

a
ge

n
ci

es
 w

o
rk

in
g
 t

o
ge

th
er

 t
o
 r

ed
u

ce
 c

ri
m

e 
a
n
d

 a
n
ti

-

so
ci

a
l 
b

eh
av

io
u

r,
 a

s 
w

el
l 
as

 t
h
e 

h
a
rm

 c
a
u
se

d
 b

y 
d

ru
g
 

a
n
d

 a
lc

o
h
o
l 
m

is
u
se

. 

Th
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 i
s 

le
g
a
ll
y 

o
b

li
g
a
te

d
 t

o
 p

u
b

li
sh

 a
n

 

a
n

n
u

a
l 

p
la

n
 b

a
se

d
 o

n
 a

 S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 A
ss

es
sm

e
n

t 
o
f 

cr
im

e
 (

a
n

d
 c

ri
m

e
-r

e
la

te
d

 d
a
ta

) 
in

 S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
. 

 
 

O
u

r 
a
ss

es
sm

e
n

t 
is

 p
a
rt

 o
f 

th
e
 S

o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 P

ro
fi

le
 

a
n

a
ly

si
s 

p
ro

je
ct

 a
n

d
 c

a
n

 b
e
 v

ie
w

e
d

 a
t 

 
 

w
w

w
.s

o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
-c

o
n
n
ec

t.
co

m
/p

ro
fi

le
. 

Th
is

 p
la

n
 o

u
tl

in
es

 t
h

e
 p

e
rf

o
rm

a
n

ce
 o

f 
th

e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

o
ve

r 
th

e
 l
a
st

 y
ea

r 
a
n

d
 i
d

e
n

ti
fi

es
 t

h
e
 t

o
p

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

 f
o
r 

20
12

/1
3,

 a
n

d
 b

ey
o
n

d
. 
Th

e
 d

a
ta

 u
se

d
 i
n

 t
h

is
 p

la
n

 r
e
la

te
s 

to
 t

h
e
 p

e
ri

o
d

 J
a
n

u
a
ry

 2
0

11
 t

o
 D

e
ce

m
b

e
r 

20
11

.

W
h

a
t 

h
a

v
e

 y
o

u
 

p
re

v
io

u
sl

y
 t

o
ld

 u
s?

R
e
d

u
ci

n
g

 c
ri

m
e
 i
s 

a
 v

e
ry

 

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t 
is

su
e
 f

o
r 

lo
ca

l 

re
si

d
e
n

ts
. 
Th

e
 b

ie
n

n
ia

l 
S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 s

u
rv

ey
 

o
f 

re
si

d
e
n

ts
 (

la
st

 t
a
ke

n
 i
n

 2
0

10
/1

1)
 t

e
ll
s 

u
s 

th
a
t 

cr
im

e
 i
s 

se
co

n
d

 o
n

ly
 t

o
 t

h
e
 g

lo
b
a
l 

e
co

n
o
m

ic
 s

it
u

a
ti

o
n

 a
s 

a
 t

o
p

 

is
su

e
 o

f 
co

n
ce

rn
 f

o
r 

lo
ca

l 
p

e
o
p

le
. 

M
o
re

 r
e
ce

n
tl

y,
 y

o
u

 

to
ld

 u
s 

th
e
 c

ri
m

e
-r

e
la

te
d

 i
ss

u
es

 o
f 

g
re

a
te

st
 c

o
n

ce
rn

 a
re

 

a
n

ti
so

ci
a
l 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

r,
 a

lc
o
h

o
l-

re
la

te
d

 c
ri

m
e,

 a
n

d
 d

ru
g
s.

2
0

1
1

 p
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 
su

cc
e

ss
: w

in
n

e
rs

 o
f 

th
e

 
T

ill
e

y
 A

w
a

rd

S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 S

a
fe

 C
it

y 
Pa

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
n

 

th
e
 2

0
11

 T
il

le
y 

A
w

a
rd

 f
o
r 

cr
im

e
 r

e
d

u
ct

io
n

 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 w
o
rk

 i
n

 t
h

e
 n

ig
h

t 
ti

m
e
 

e
co

n
o
m

y.
 T

h
is

 p
re

st
ig

io
u

s 
n

a
ti

o
n

a
l 

a
w

a
rd

 i
s 

g
iv

e
n

 i
n

 r
e
co

g
n

it
io

n
 o

f 
jo

in
t 

in
it

ia
ti

ve
s 

d
ev

e
lo

p
e
d

 i
n

 S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 w

h
ic

h
 a

im
 t

o
 

ta
ck

le
 a

lc
o
h

o
l-

re
la

te
d

 v
io

le
n

ce
. 
Th

es
e
 h

a
ve

 i
n

cl
u

d
e
d

 t
h

e
 

in
tr

o
d

u
ct

io
n

 o
f 

th
e
 I

C
E
 B

u
s 

(I
n

 C
a
se

 o
f 

E
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
 B

u
s 

p
ro

vi
d

es
 m

e
d

ic
a
l 

a
n

d
 w

e
lf
a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

),
 S

tr
e
et

 P
a
st

o
rs

, 

th
e
 Y

e
ll

o
w

 C
a
rd

 s
ch

e
m

e
 a

n
d

 t
a
xi

 m
a
rs

h
a
ls

, 
a
lo

n
g
si

d
e
 

e
ff

e
ct

iv
e
 p

o
li

ci
n

g
 a

n
d

 l
ic

e
n

si
n

g
 i
n

 t
h

e
 c

it
y 

ce
n

tr
e
 a

n
d

 

e
ffi

ci
e
n

t 
u

se
 o

f 
h

o
sp

it
a
l 

E
m

e
rg

e
n

cy
 D

e
p
a
rt

m
e
n

t 
d
a
ta

. 
 

A
s 

a
 r

es
u

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 w

o
rk

, 
th

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

ca
se

s 
in

vo
lv

in
g

 

a
lc

o
h

o
l-

re
la

te
d

 v
io

le
n

ce
 i
n

 S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 l
a
te

 a
t 

n
ig

h
t 

h
a
s 

re
d

u
ce

d
 o

ve
r 

tw
o
 s

u
cc

es
si

ve
 y

ea
rs

, 
m

a
ki

n
g

 o
u

r 
ci

ty
 

ce
n

tr
e
 a

 s
a
fe

r 
p

la
ce

 t
o
 b

e
 a

t 
n

ig
h

t.

W
h

o
 a

re
 w

e
?

Th
e
 S

o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 S

a
fe

 C
it

y 
Pa

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 c
o
n

si
st

s 
o
f 

se
n

io
r 

re
p

re
se

n
ta

ti
ve

s 
fr

o
m

:

So
u
th

am
p
to

n
 C

it
y 

Co
u
n
ci

l

H
am

p
sh

ir
e 

Co
ns

ta
b
u
la

ry

H
am

p
sh

ir
e 

Fi
re

 a
n
d
 R

es
cu

e 
Se

rv
ic

e

P
o
lic

e 
A

u
th

o
ri

ty
 (

u
n

ti
l 

N
o
ve

m
b

e
r 

20
12

)

N
H

S

H
am

p
sh

ir
e 

P
ro

b
at

io
n
 T

ru
st

V
o
lu

nt
ar

y 
se

ct
o
r

Yo
u
th

 O
ff

en
d
in

g
 S

er
vi

ce

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
 S

af
e 

C
it

y 

P
a
rt

n
er

sh
ip

 a
n
n
u

a
l 
p

la
n

O
u

r 
p

er
fo

rm
a
n
ce

 l
a
st

 y
ea

r

O
u

r 
cu

rr
en

t 
le

ve
l 
o
f 

p
ro

g
re

ss

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n
 o

f 
cr

im
e 

ac
ro

ss
 S

o
u
th

am
p
to

n

S
u
m

m
a
ry

 o
f 

o
u
r 

p
ri

n
ci

p
a
l 
a
im

s 

a
n
d

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
es

O
u

r 
p

la
n
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

n
ea

r 
fu

tu
re

 a
n
d

 h
o
w

w
e 

p
la

n
 t

o
 i
m

p
le

m
en

t 
th

em

2

3

3 4 6 7 8

2

S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n
 S

a
fe

 C
it

y
 P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
 a

n
n

u
a

l 
p

la
n

V
io

le
n

t 
cr

im
e

 c
o

n
ti

n
u

e
s 

to
 d

e
cl

in
e

B
u

rg
la

ry
 r

a
te

s 
h

a
v

e
 d

e
cl

in
e

d

2
5
0
0
0

3
0
0
0
0

3
5
0
0
0

4
0
0
0
0

20
05

/0
6

20
06

/0
7

20
07

/0
8

20
08

/0
9

20
09

/1
0

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

Y
e

a
r

Number of crimes

4
0
0

6
0
0

8
0
0

1
0
0
0

2
0
0
8
/0

9
 

  
  
  
  
 2

0
0
9
/1

0
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 2

0
1
0
/1

1
 

  
  
 2

0
1
1
/1

2

T
o

ta
l 

v
io

le
n

ce

T
re

n
d

 l
in

e
 (

to
ta

l 
v

io
le

n
ce

)

0

2
0
0

4
0
0

6
0
0

8
0
0

1
0
0
0

1
2
0
0

1
6
0
0

1
4
0
0

2
0
1
0
 

  
  

 2
0
1
1

1
4
1
2

1
2
1
9

Y
e

a
r

Number of burglaries

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

d
w

e
ll

in
g

 b
u

rg
la

ri
e

s

To
ta

l 
cr

im
e 

in
 S

o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 h

as
 

re
d
u

ce
d
 s

u
b
st

a
n
ti
a
ll
y 

o
ve

r 
th

e 
la

st
 fi

ve
 

ye
a
rs

. 
C
ri

m
es

 r
ec

o
rd

ed
 b

y 
th

e 
p
o
li
ce

 i
n

 2
0

0
7 

to
ta

ll
ed

 3
6,

5
40

, 
w

h
er

ea
s 

in
 2

0
11

, 
th

e 
n

u
m

b
er

 

o
f 
re

co
rd

ed
 o

ff
en

ce
s 

d
ip

p
ed

 t
o
 2

7,
21

4
. 
Th

is
 

si
g
n
a
ls

 a
n

 o
ve

ra
ll
 r

ed
u

ct
io

n
 i
n

 c
ri

m
e 

o
f 
26

%
.

In
 2

0
11

 o
ve

ra
ll
 v

io
le

n
t 

cr
im

e 
re

d
u

ce
d
 b

y 
4
%

 o
n

 

th
e 

p
re

vi
o
u
s 

ye
a
r.
 T

h
is

 c
o
n
ti

n
u

es
 t
h

e 
ye

a
r-

o
n

-y
ea

r 

d
ec

li
n

e 
in

 c
ri

m
e 

ra
te

s,
 w

h
ic

h
 h

as
 n

o
w

 e
xt

en
d
ed

 t
o
 i
ts

 

fi
ft

h
 y

ea
r.
 S

in
ce

 2
0

0
7 

vi
o
le

n
t 

cr
im

e 
h
as

 f
a
ll
en

 b
y 

26
%

 

fr
o
m

 9
,0

0
9
 o

ff
en

ce
s 

to
 6

,6
5
8
. 
A

lc
o
h

o
l-

re
la

te
d
 v

io
le

n
t 

cr
im

e 
d
u

ri
n

g
 t
h

e 
n

ig
h
t 

ti
m

e 
ec

o
n

o
m

y 
(c

it
y 

ce
n
tr

e
 

la
te

 a
t 

n
ig

h
t)

 d
ec

li
n

ed
 b

y 
10

%
. 
A

d
d
it

io
n
a
ll
y,

 r
ep

ea
t 

in
ci

d
en

ts
 o

f 
d
o
m

es
ti

c 
vi

o
le

n
ce

 f
o
r 

th
o
se

 i
d
en

ti
fi

ed
 a

t 

h
ig

h
es

t 
ri

sk
 d

ec
li
n

ed
 b

y 
17

%
, 
w

h
il
e 

yo
u

th
 o

ff
en

d
in

g
 

d
a
ta

 s
h

o
w

s 
a
 d

ro
p
 o

f 
16

%
 i
n

 v
io

le
n
t 

o
ff

en
ce

s.

H
is

to
ri

ca
ll
y,

 i
n

 c
o
m

p
a
ri

so
n

 t
o
 o

th
er

 

si
m

il
a
r 

ci
ti

es
, 
S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 h

as
 

w
it
n

es
se

d
 v

er
y 

lo
w

 r
a
te

s 
o
f 
h

o
u
se

 b
u

rg
la

ry
. 

H
o
w

ev
er

, 
in

 2
0

0
9
/1

0
 t
h

er
e 

w
as

 a
 r

a
p
id

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 i
n

 

th
is

 c
ri

m
e-

ty
p
e.

 C
o
n
se

q
u

en
tl
y,

 i
n

 2
0
11

/1
2,

 t
h

e 
p
o
li
ce

 

a
n

d
 p

a
rt

n
er

sh
ip

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
se

d
 t
h

ei
r 

ef
fo

rt
 t

o
 r

ed
u

ce
 

b
u

rg
la

ry
 r

a
te

s.
 A

lt
h

o
u

g
h

 t
h

e 
ra

te
 o

f 
b
u

rg
la

ry
 b

eg
a
n

 

to
 d

ec
li
n

e 
n

ea
r 

th
e 

en
d
 o

f 
20

11
 (

in
 c

o
m

p
a
ri

so
n

 t
o
 

o
ff

en
ce

s 
in

 2
0
10

),
 t
h

e 
av

er
a
g
e 

ra
te

 o
f 
b
u

rg
la

ry
 f
o
r 

th
e
 

en
ti

re
 y

ea
r 

w
as

 u
p
 b

y 
7%

. 
D

es
p
it
e 

th
is

, 
M

a
rc

h
 2

0
12

 

sa
w

 a
 r

ed
u

ct
io

n
 o

f 
9
%

. 

O
n
e 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

g
ro

u
p
 s

o
m

et
im

es
 t
ar

ge
te

d
 b

y 
b
u
rg

la
rs

 is
 

H
o
u
se

s 
in

 M
u
lt
ip

le
 O

cc
u
p
at

io
n
 (

H
M

O
s)

, 
w

h
ic

h
 in

cl
u
d
es

 

p
ro

p
er

ti
es

 w
h
er

e 
st

u
d
en

ts
 li

ve
. 
La

st
 y

ea
r,
 t
h
e 

Sa
fe

 C
it
y 

Pa
rt

n
er

sh
ip

 w
o
rk

ed
 w

it
h
 lo

ca
l u

n
iv

er
si

ti
es

 v
ia

 t
h
e 

Sa
fe

r 

St
u
d
en

t 
Fo

ru
m

, 
to

 e
n
su

re
 s

tu
d
en

ts
 w

er
e 

vi
g
ila

n
t 
an

d
 a

w
ar

e
 

o
f 
th

e 
n
ee

d
 t
o
 k

ee
p
 t
h
ei

r 
h
o
m

es
 s

ec
u
re

 a
t 
al

l t
im

es
. 

Ex
am

p
le

s 
o
f 
co

lla
b
o
ra

ti
ve

 w
o
rk

 in
cl

u
d
e 

vi
si

ts
 b

y 
th

e 
p
o
lic

e
 

an
d
 S

o
u
th

am
p
to

n
 C

it
y 

Co
u
n
ci

l C
o
m

m
u
n
it
y 

Sa
fe

ty
 T

ea
m

 t
o
 

ap
p
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
1,

50
0
 h

o
m

es
 in

 t
h
e 

st
u
d
en

t 
ar

ea
s.

 If
 o

cc
u
p
an

ts
 

w
er

e 
n
o
t 
av

ai
la

b
le

 fo
r 

a 
ch

at
 o

n
 t
h
e 

d
o
o
rs

te
p
, 
m

es
sa

ge
s 

w
er

e 
le

ft
, 
u
rg

in
g
 t
h
em

 t
o
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 t
h
ei

r 
p
ro

p
er

ti
es

 w
er

e
 

se
cu

re
. T

h
is

 a
ct

io
n
 w

as
 v

er
y 

w
el

l r
ec

ei
ve

d
 b

y 
re

si
d
en

ts
 a

n
d

 

h
el

p
ed

 p
ro

m
o
te

 g
o
o
d
w

ill
 b

et
w

ee
n
 n

ei
g
h
b
o
u
rs

, 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

an
 a

w
ar

en
es

s 
o
f 
cr

im
e 

p
re

ve
n
ti
o
n
 m

ea
su

re
s.

W
e

 w
o

rk
 t

o
g

e
th

e
r 

to
 r

e
d

u
ce

 b
u

rg
la

ry



O
u

r 
cu

rr
e

n
t 

le
v

e
l 

o
f 

p
ro

g
re

s
s

 

4
5

D
id

 y
o

u
 k

n
o

w
? 

C
ri

m
in

a
l 
d
a
m

a
ge

 r
at

es
 h

av
e 

fa
ll
en

 b
y 

51
%

 s
in

ce
 2

0
07

 f
ro

m
 9

,0
0
5 

to
 4

,4
0
6
 

o
ff

en
ce

s 
in

 2
0
11

. 
Th

ef
t 

fr
o
m

 a
 v

eh
ic

le
 r

at
es

 

h
av

e 
a
ls

o
 d

ec
re

as
ed

 b
y 

58
%

 i
n
 fi

ve
 y

ea
rs

.

O
u

r 
re

co
rd

s 
sh

o
w

 t
h

a
t 

w
e
 

a
re

 m
o
vi

n
g

 i
n

 t
h

e
 r

ig
h

t 
d

ir
e
ct

io
n

. 
Th

is
 

ye
a
r 

th
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s 

fo
r 

th
e
 m

a
jo

ri
ty

 o
f 

cr
im

e
-

ty
p

es
 h

a
s 

re
d

u
ce

d
, 
in

 c
o
m

p
a
ri

so
n

 t
o
 p

re
vi

o
u

s 
ye

a
rs

. 

Th
is

 c
o
n

ti
n

u
es

 a
 fi

ve
 y

ea
r 

tr
e
n

d
 w

h
ic

h
 r

ev
ea

ls
 a

n
 

o
ve

ra
ll

 d
e
cl

in
e
 i
n

 c
ri

m
e
 r

a
te

s.
 T

h
e
 p

o
li

ce
 a

n
d

 S
a
fe

 C
it

y 

Pa
rt

n
e
rs

 i
n

te
n

d
 t

o
 a

d
d

re
ss

 a
n
y 

in
cr

ea
se

s 
in

 c
ri

m
e
- 

ty
p

es
 o

ve
r 

th
e
 f

o
rt

h
co

m
in

g
 y

ea
r,

 a
n

d
 c

u
rb

 

th
e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s.

C
o
ll
a
b

o
ra

ti
ve

 w
o
rk

 b
et

w
e
e
n

 t
h

e
 p

o
li

ce
 a

n
d

 t
h

e
 Y

o
u

th
 

O
ff

e
n

d
in

g
 T

ea
m

 (
YO

T
) 

to
 ‘

tr
ia

g
e
’ 

(p
ro

vi
d

e
 i
n

te
rv

e
n

ti
o
n

s 

a
t 

a
n

 e
a
rl

y 
st

a
g
e
) 

h
a
s 

d
ir

e
ct

ly
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
te

d
 t

o
 a

 y
ea

r-
o
n

-

ye
a
r 

d
e
cl

in
e
 i
n

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

yo
u

n
g

 p
e
o
p

le
 e

n
te

ri
n

g
 t

h
e
 

cr
im

in
a
l 
ju

st
ic

e
 s

ys
te

m
 f

o
r 

th
e
 fi

rs
t 

ti
m

e.

Th
e
 d

e
li
ve

ry
 o

f 
a
 j
o
in

t 
a
p

p
ro

a
ch

 i
n

 i
d

e
n

ti
fy

in
g

 a
n

d
 

su
p

p
o
rt

in
g

 v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

 v
ic

ti
m

s 
o
f 

a
n

ti
-s

o
ci

a
l 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

r 

(A
S
B

) 
h

a
s 

le
d

 t
o
 a

 s
ig

n
ifi

ca
n

t 
in

cr
ea

se
 i
n

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

ca
se

s 
id

e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 a
s 

‘v
u

ln
e
ra

b
le

’ 
a
n

d
 m

o
re

 c
ro

ss
- 
 

a
g
e
n

cy
 s

u
p

p
o
rt

.

O
u

r 
p

ro
g

re
ss

 in
 2

0
1

1

E
x

a
m

p
le

s 
o

f 
su

cc
e

ss
fu

l v
e

n
tu

re
s

10
%

se
ri

o
u

s
se

xu
a

l 

7
%

a
n

ti
-s

o
ci

a
l

b
e

h
a

v
io

u
r

14
%

th
e

ft
 o

f 
v

e
h

ic
le

s

10
%

cr
im

in
a

l
d

a
m

a
g

e

5
%

a
rs

o
n

(d
e

lib
e

ra
te

 

Fo
ll

o
w

in
g

 t
h

e
 s

u
cc

es
s 

o
f 

o
u

r 
St

re
et

 P
as

to
rs

in
it

ia
ti

ve
, 

w
h

e
re

 t
ra

in
e
d

 

vo
lu

n
te

e
rs

 h
e
lp

 r
e
d

u
ce

 

cr
im

e
 a

n
d

 p
ro

vi
d

e
 

w
e
lf
a
re

 s
u

p
p

o
rt

 l
a
te

 

a
t 

n
ig

h
t 

in
 t

h
e
 c

it
y 

ce
n

tr
e,

 t
h

e
re

 w
il

l 
so

o
n

 

b
e
 S

ch
o
o
l 

Pa
st

o
rs

 

p
a
tr

o
ll

in
g

 a
ft

e
r 

sc
h

o
o
l 

to
 h

e
lp

 p
re

ve
n

t 
a
n

ti
-

so
ci

a
l 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

r 
a
lo

n
g

 

ke
y 

ro
u

te
s.

M
an

y 
Fa

ce
s 

O
n
e 

V
o
ic

e 
is

 a
 n

ew
 a

p
p
ro

a
ch

 t
o
 p

ro
vi

d
in

g
 t
h

e
 

sa
m

e 
sh

a
re

d
 s

af
et

y 
m

es
sa

g
es

 (
b
et

w
ee

n
 t
h

e 
p
o
li
ce

, 
fi

re
 a

n
d

 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
sa

fe
ty

 s
er

vi
ce

s)
, 
o
ff

er
in

g
 r

es
id

en
ts

 a
p
p
ro

p
ri

a
te

 

re
fe

rr
a
l 
ro

u
te

s 
w

h
er

e 
m

o
re

 a
d
vi

ce
 is

 r
eq

u
ir

ed
.

B
u
zz

 W
it

h
o
u
t 

B
o
oz

e 
is

 a
 j
o
in

t 
ca

m
p
a
ig

n
 l

e
d

 b
y 

N
H

S
 

S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 t

o
 p

ro
m

o
te

 p
a
rt

ic
ip

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 e

n
jo

ym
e
n

t 

in
 s

o
ci

a
l 

a
ct

iv
it

ie
s,

 w
it

h
o
u

t 
a
lc

o
h

o
l.

 T
h

e
 p

ro
je

ct
 t

a
rg

et
s 

yo
u

n
g

 p
e
o
p

le
 a

g
e
d

 1
1 

to
 1

6
 y

ea
rs

.

Th
e
 c

o
u

n
ci

l,
 

p
o
li

ce
 a

n
d

 fi
re

 

se
rv

ic
e
 j
o
in

e
d

 

to
g
et

h
e
r 

to
 f

u
n

d
 

a
 n

e
w

 p
ro

je
ct

 i
n

 

th
e
 c

it
y 

ca
ll

e
d

 

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
 

S
af

e 
a
n
d

 

S
ec

u
re

 S
ch

em
e,

d
e
li
ve

re
d

 

th
ro

u
g
h

 t
h

e
 

B
lu

e
 L

a
m

p
 T

ru
st

 

ch
a
ri

ty
. 
Th

e
 

sc
h

e
m

e
 o

ff
e
rs

 

re
si

d
e
n

ts
 f

re
e
 h

o
m

e
 

sa
fe

ty
 c

h
e
ck

s,
 s

a
fe

ty
 a

d
vi

ce
 a

n
d

 p
ra

ct
ic

a
l 

su
p

p
o
rt

 (
e.

g
. 

lo
ck

 fi
tt

in
g
s)

, 
to

 m
a
ke

 h
o
m

es
 m

o
re

 s
e
cu

re
. 
Th

is
 p

ro
je

ct
 

se
e
ks

 t
o
 r

ea
ch

 v
ic

ti
m

s 
o
f 

cr
im

e,
 t

o
 s

to
p

 r
e
p

ea
t 

in
ci

d
e
n

ts
, 

a
n

d
 t

o
 p

ro
a
ct

iv
e
ly

 h
e
lp

 i
n

d
iv

id
u

a
ls

, 
o
r 

p
a
rt

ic
u

la
r 

a
re

a
s 

su
sc

e
p
ti

b
le

 t
o
 b

u
rg

la
ry

.

Th
is

 y
ea

r 
C
ri

m
e 

R
ep

o
rt

s 
w

a
s 

la
u

n
ch

e
d

 t
o
 p

ro
vi

d
e
 u

p
 

to
 d

a
te

 l
o
ca

l 
d
a
ta

 o
n

 c
ri

m
e
 a

n
d

 fi
re

s.
 T

o
 a

cc
es

s 
th

is
 s

e
e
 

w
w

w
.c

ri
m

e
re

p
o
rt

s.
co

.u
k

H
o

w
 w

e
 c

o
m

p
a

re
 t

o
 o

th
e

r 
ci

ti
e

s
C
o
m

p
a
re

d
 t

o
 ‘

C
o
re

 C
it

ie
s’

 (
th

e
 m

a
jo

r 
ci

ti
es

 i
n

 t
h

e
 

co
u

n
tr

y)
, 
S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 s

e
es

 2
8
.3

2 
cr

im
es

 p
e
r 

1,
0

0
0

 

p
e
rs

o
n

s,
 w

h
e
re

a
s 

th
e
 a

ve
ra

g
e
 f

o
r 

th
e
 g

ro
u

p
 i
s 

24
.3

7 

p
e
r 

10
0

0
. 

D
es

p
it

e
 t

h
is

, 
th

e
 d

is
cr

e
p
a
n

cy
 b

et
w

e
e
n

 t
h

e
 

n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s 

in
 a

ll
 t

h
e
 c

o
re

 c
it

ie
s 

is
 s

m
a
ll

. 

W
e
 r

a
n

k 
tw

o
 p

la
ce

s 
b

e
h

in
d

 o
u

r 
n

e
ig

h
b

o
u

r 
ci

ty
, 

P
o
rt

sm
o
u

th
, 

fo
r 

‘A
ll

 C
ri

m
e
’ 

(o
u

t 
o
f 

a
 t

o
ta

l 
o
f 

15
 c

it
ie

s)
.

H
a

vi
n

g
 a

 c
u

p
p

a
 d

u
ri

n
g

 
N

e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

 
 

W
a

tc
h

 W
e

e
k

 

Th
is

 y
ea

r 
a
ll

 N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 W
a
tc

h
 

co
o
rd

in
a
to

rs
 a

n
d

 r
es

id
e
n

ts
 w

e
re

 

in
vi

te
d

 t
o
 ‘

e
n

jo
y 

a
 c

u
p

p
a
’ 

w
it

h
 t

h
e
ir

 

n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rs
 a

n
d

 j
o
in

 t
o
g
et

h
e
r 

a
t 

a
 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 W
a
tc

h
 c

o
n

fe
re

n
ce

. 

A
s 

a
 r

es
u

lt
 o

f 
th

is
 c

a
m

p
a
ig

n
 a

lo
n

e,
 

22
 n

e
w

 s
ch

e
m

es
 w

e
re

 e
st

a
b

li
sh

e
d

.

O
th

e
r 

n
e

w
 p

ro
je

ct
s

O
u

r 
w

o
rk

 w
it

h
 r

e
si

d
e

n
ts

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 W
a
tc

h
 i
s 

o
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 k

ey
 w

ay
s 

th
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 

m
ea

su
re

s 
re

si
d

e
n

t 
in

vo
lv

e
m

e
n

t 
in

 c
ri

m
e
 r

e
d

u
ct

io
n

. 
O

ve
r 

th
e
 l
a
st

 

ye
a
r,

 w
e
 h

a
ve

 i
n

cr
ea

se
d

 t
h

e
 n

u
m

b
e
r 

o
f 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 W
a
tc

h
 

sc
h

e
m

es
 b

y 
30

, 
a
n

 i
n

cr
ea

se
 i
n

 s
ch

e
m

es
 o

f 
23

%
. 
Th

is
 i
s 

th
e
 t

h
ir

d
 

ye
a
r 

o
f 

g
ro

w
th

. 
Fo

r 
in

fo
rm

a
ti

o
n

 a
b

o
u

t 
w

h
e
re

 N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 

W
a
tc

h
 s

ch
e
m

es
 a

re
 l

o
ca

te
d

, 
a
n

d
 h

o
w

 t
o
 j
o
in

 o
r 

se
t 

o
n

e
 u

p
, 
vi

si
t 

w
w

w
.s

o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
.g

o
v.

u
k
/l

iv
in

g
/s

af
er

so
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
/S

af
eC

it
y/

N
ei

g
h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

W
at

ch



6
7

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

 o
f 

cr
im

e
 a

cr
o

s
s

 S
o

u
th

a
m

p
to

n

S
o
m

e 
n
ei

g
h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

s 
a
n
d

 l
o
ca

li
ti

es
 i
n
 t

h
e 

ci
ty

 e
xp

er
ie

n
ce

 d
is

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
at

el
y 

h
ig

h
 l

ev
el

s 
o
f 

cr
im

e 
a
n
d

 a
n
ti

-s
o
ci

a
l 

b
eh

av
io

u
r 

(A
S
B

).
 T

h
is

 is
 s

o
m

et
im

es
 l

in
ke

d
 t

o
 o

th
er

 s
o
ci

a
l 
o
r 

ec
o
n
o
m

ic
 f

a
ct

o
rs

 u
n
iq

u
e 

to
 a

n
 a

re
a
. 

D
u

e 
to

 t
h
e 

h
ea

vy
 

fo
o
tf

a
ll
 a

n
d

 a
lc

o
h
o
l-

re
la

te
d

 o
ff

en
ce

s 
th

at
 a

re
 p

re
va

le
n
t 

d
u

ri
n
g
 t

h
e 

n
ig

h
t 

ti
m

e 
ec

o
n
o
m

y,
 t

h
e 

C
it

y 
C
en

tr
e 

(s
im

il
a
r 

to
 a

ll
 

u
rb

a
n
 a

re
as

) 
w

il
l 
in

ev
it

a
b

ly
 b

e 
th

e 
b

ig
ge

st
 h

o
ts

p
o
t 

fo
r 

cr
im

e.
 T

h
e 

ta
b

le
s 

b
el

o
w

 a
re

 a
 s

a
m

p
le

 o
f 

th
e 

d
if

fe
re

n
t 

d
at

as
et

s 

th
at

 h
ig

h
li

g
h
t 

o
th

er
 h

o
ts

p
o
t 

a
re

as
. 

Th
er

e 
ar

e 
a 

n
u
m

b
er

 o
f 

w
el

l-
ev

id
en

ce
d
 fa

ct
o
rs

 t
h
at

 

co
rr

el
at

e 
w

it
h
 c

ri
m

e 
an

d
 

co
m

m
u
n
it
y 

sa
fe

ty
. T

h
es

e
 

in
cl

u
d
e 

th
e 

p
re

se
n
ce

 o
f 

al
co

h
o
l o

r 
d
ru

gs
, 
p
o
ve

rt
y,

 

u
n
em

p
lo

ym
en

t,
 a

n
d
 p

o
o
r 

h
ea

lt
h
. 
O

th
er

 s
o
ci

o
-

ec
o
n
o
m

ic
 is

su
es

 w
h
ic

h
 

m
ay

 a
ls

o
 c

o
n
tr

ib
u
te

 t
o
 t
h
e
 

p
re

va
le

n
ce

 o
f 
cr

im
e 

in
 a

 

p
ar

ti
cu

la
r 

ar
ea

 in
cl

u
d
e
 

th
e 

p
ro

p
o
rt

io
n
 o

f 
fa

m
ili

es
 

w
it
h
 c

o
m

p
le

x 
n
ee

d
s 

an
d

 

in
d
iv

id
u
al

s 
w

it
h
 a

d
d
it
io

n
al

 

vu
ln

er
ab

ili
ti
es

, 
su

ch
 a

s 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lt
h
 o

r 
le

ar
n
in

g
 

d
is

ab
ili

ti
es

. 

In
 s

ee
ki

n
g
 to

 r
ed

u
ce

 

cr
im

e 
an

d
 im

p
ro

ve
 

co
m

m
u
n
ity

 s
af

et
y,

 th
e
 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 w
ill

 p
ri

or
iti

se
 

m
an

y 
of

 th
e 

fa
ct

or
s 

id
en

tifi
ed

 h
er

e 
as

 th
e 

m
os

t 

co
m

m
on

 c
au

se
s 

of
 c

ri
m

e
 

fo
r 

fu
tu

re
 fo

cu
s.

 

In
d

ex
 o

f 
m

u
lt

ip
le

 
d

ep
ri

va
ti

o
n

Sm
al

l a
re

as
 w

it
h
 m

o
re

 
cr

im
e 

an
d
 o

th
er

 is
su

es

To
p
 fi

ve
 a

re
as

:
N

o
rt

h
am

R
ed

b
ri

d
ge

M
ill

b
ro

o
k

W
es

to
n

Th
o
rn

h
ill

V
u

ln
er

a
b

le
 

lo
ca

li
ti

es
 i
n
d

ex

A
re

as
 m

os
t 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 t
o
 

cr
im

in
al

it
y,

 v
ic

ti
m

is
at

io
n

 
an

d
 c

o
m

m
u
n
it
y 

te
n
si

o
n

To
p
 fi

ve
 a

re
as

:
P
o
ly

go
n

N
o
rt

h
am

M
ill

b
ro

o
k

Ci
ty

 C
en

tr
e 

&
 N

ew
to

w
n

St
 M

ar
y’

s

A
ll
 c

ri
m

e

To
p
 fi

ve
 p

o
lic

e 
b
ea

ts
 

fo
r 

al
l c

ri
m

e:
Ci

ty
 C

en
tr

e
 

Co
xf

o
rd

M
ill

b
ro

o
k

Fr
ee

m
an

tl
e

P
o
ly

go
n

A
n
ti

-s
o
ci

a
l 

B
eh

av
io

u
r 

(A
S
B

)

To
p
 5

 a
re

as
:

M
ill

b
ro

o
k

Co
xf

o
rd

P
o
ly

go
n

Fr
ee

m
an

tl
e

U
p
p
er

 S
h
ir

le
y

D
o
m

es
ti

c 
in

ci
d

en
ts

 
re

p
o
rt

ed
 t

o
 p

o
li

ce

To
p
 fi

ve
 a

re
as

:
M

ill
b
ro

o
k

Th
o
rn

h
ill

Co
xf

o
rd

R
eg

en
ts

 P
ar

k 
&

 F
re

em
an

tl
e

B
it
te

rn
e 

&
 T

ow
n
h
ill

A
p

p
ea

ra
n
ce

 i
n
 t

o
p

 fi
ve

M
ill

b
ro

o
k 

5/
5

Th
o
rn

h
ill

 3
/5

P
o
ly

go
n
 3

/5
Co

xf
o
rd

 3
/5

R
eg

en
ts

 P
ar

k 
&

 F
re

em
an

tl
e 

3/
5

R
e

si
d

e
n

ts
’k

e
y

 c
o

n
ce

rn
s

Th
e
 t

h
re

e
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 i
ss

u
es

 i
n

 n
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d
s,

 a
s 

re
la

ye
d

 b
y 

re
si

d
e
n

ts
  

 

to
 t

h
e
 p

o
li

ce
, 

a
re

 s
h

o
w

n
 i
n

 t
h

e
 m

a
p

 b
e
lo

w
. 
Th

e
 m

o
st

 c
o
m

m
o
n

 i
ss

u
es

 

id
e
n

ti
fi

e
d

 t
h

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

is
 s

o
u

rc
e
 w

e
re

 a
n

ti
-s

o
ci

a
l 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

r,
 r

o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

a
cc

id
e
n

ts
, 

a
n

d
 

d
ru

g
s.

 T
o
 g

et
 i
n

vo
lv

e
d

 i
n

 r
es

id
e
n

t 
co

n
su

lt
a
ti

o
n

 a
b

o
u

t 
cr

im
e
 i
n

 y
o
u

r 
a
re

a
, 

co
n

ta
ct

 y
o
u

r 

N
e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o
o
d

 P
o
li

ci
n

g
 T

ea
m

.

W
h

a
t 

st
im

u
la

te
s 

cr
im

e
 r

a
te

s?

D
ru

g
s/

A
S
B

/s
tr

e
et

 d
ri

n
ki

n
g

D
ru

g
s/

A
S
B

/r
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s

R
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

A
S
B

/n
o
is

e
 n

u
is

a
n

ce

B
u

rg
la

ry
/c

yc
li
n

g
 o

n
 p

a
ve

m
e
n

t/
ro

a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s

A
S
B

/l
it

te
r/

b
u

rg
la

ry

A
S
B

/b
u

rg
la

ry

B
u

rg
la

ry
/A

S
B

/n
o
is

e
 n

u
is

a
n

ce

A
S
B

/v
a
g
ra

n
cy

 a
n

d
 b

e
g
g
in

g
/r

o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

n
o
is

e
 n

u
is

a
n

ce

R
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

A
S
B

/y
o
u

th
 d

ri
n

ki
n

g

A
S
B

/a
lc

o
h

o
l/

d
ru

g
s/

li
tt

e
r

A
S
B

/r
o
w

d
y 

b
e
h

a
vi

o
u

r/
ro

a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s

R
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

A
S
B

/d
ru

g
s

D
ru

g
s/

ro
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

A
S
B

/ 
d

o
g

 
fo

u
li
n

g

B
u

rg
la

ry
/A

S
B

A
S
B

/v
e
h

ic
le

 c
ri

m
e

A
S
B

/v
e
h

ic
le

 n
u

is
a
n

ce
/r

o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

A
S
B

/l
it

te
r

R
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

p
a
rk

in
g

 i
ss

u
es

R
o
a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

cy
cl

in
g

 o
n

 p
a
ve

m
e
n

t/
A

S
B

/n
o
is

e
 n

u
is

a
n

ce
/v

a
g
ra

n
cy

 &
 b

e
g
g
in

g

V
io

le
n

ce
/d

is
o
rd

e
r/

th
e
ft

/v
a
g
ra

n
cy

 &
 

b
e
g
g
in

g
/t

h
e
ft

Cy
cl

in
g

 o
n

 p
a
ve

m
e
n

t/
ro

a
d

 t
ra

ffi
c 

o
ff

e
n

ce
s/

d
a
n

g
e
ro

u
s 

p
a
rk

in
g

/s
p

e
e
d

in
g

/A
S
B

A
S
B

/s
tr

e
et

 d
ri

n
ki

n
g

/n
o
is

e
 n

u
is

a
n

ce
/r

o
a
d

 
tr

a
ffi

c 
o
ff

e
n

ce
s

D
ru

g
s/

a
lc

o
h

o
l/

ve
h

ic
le

 c
ri

m
e
 &

 n
u

is
a
n

ce
 

p
a
rk

in
g

S
u

m
m

a
ry

 o
f 

o
u

r 
p

ri
n

ci
p

a
l a

im
s

 a
n

d
 p

ri
o

ri
ti

e
s

Th
e 

p
ri

m
ar

y 
ai

m
 a

n
d
 c

or
e 

b
u
si

n
es

s 
of

 t
h
e 

Sa
fe

 C
it

y 

Pa
rt

n
er

sh
ip

 is
 t
o 

p
re

ve
nt

 a
n
d
 r

ed
u
ce

 c
ri

m
e,

 a
nt

i-
so

ci
al

 

b
eh

av
io

u
r,
 fi

re
s 

an
d
 r

oa
d
 c

ol
lis

io
ns

 a
cr

os
s 

So
ut

ha
m

p
to

n
. T

h
e 

p
ar

tn
er

sh
ip

 a
ls

o 
ai

m
s 

to
 h

el
p
 t
ac

kl
e 

th
e 

ro
ot

 c
au

se
s 

of
 c

ri
m

e.

Th
e
 p

a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

’s
 p

ri
o
ri

ty
 f

o
r 

th
e
 n

ex
t 

th
re

e
 y

ea
rs

 (
20

12
-1

5
) 

is
 t

o
 p

re
ve

n
t 

a
n

d
 r

e
d

u
ce

 c
ri

m
e
 a

n
d

 o
ff

e
n

d
in

g
 b

e
h

a
vi

o
u

r 

in
 l

o
ca

li
ti

es
 t

h
a
t 

ex
p

e
ri

e
n

ce
 d

is
p

ro
p

o
rt

io
n

a
te

ly
 h

ig
h

 l
ev

e
ls

 

o
f 

cr
im

e.
 T

h
es

e
 a

re
a
s 

m
ay

 b
e
 l

o
n

g
 s

u
ff

e
ri

n
g
, 

o
r 

e
m

e
rg

in
g

 

h
o
ts

p
o
ts

 f
o
r 

cr
im

e.
 C

o
n

se
q

u
e
n

tl
y,

 t
h

e
 S

a
fe

 C
it

y 
Pa

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 

w
il

l 
b

e
 c

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

n
g

 t
o
 S

o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 C

o
n

n
e
ct

*
 p

ri
o
ri

ti
es

 

b
y 

fo
cu

si
n

g
 o

n
 I
M

D
 (

In
d

ex
 o

f 
M

u
lt

ip
le

 D
e
p

ri
va

ti
o
n

) 
a
re

a
s 

(N
o
rt

h
a
m

, 
C
o
xf

o
rd

, 
P
o
ly

g
o
n

, 
R

e
d

b
ri

d
g
e,

 W
es

to
n

) 
p

lu
s 

Fr
e
e
m

a
n

tl
e.

 W
e
 

w
il

l 
a
ls

o
 p

ri
o
ri

ti
se

 

o
n

e
 o

f 
th

e
 c

ru
ci

a
l 

fa
ct

o
rs

 c
o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

n
g

 

to
 c

ri
m

e
 a

n
d

 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
sa

fe
ty

: 

d
ru

g
s 

a
n

d
 a

lc
o
h

o
l 

m
is

u
se

. 
W

e
 w

il
l 

co
n

ti
n

u
e
 t

o
 f

o
cu

s 

jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

 t
o
 

re
d

u
ce

 r
is

ks
 t

o
 v

u
ln

e
ra

b
le

 

re
si

d
e
n

ts
 a

n
d

 p
re

ve
n

t 
re

p
ea

t 
vi

ct
im

is
a
ti

o
n

. 
 

 

S
e
e

w
w

w
.s

o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
-c

o
n
n
ec

t.
co

m
 f

o
r 

d
et

a
il
s.

  
 

S
a

fe
 C

it
y

 P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

 p
ri

o
ri

ti
e

s
 f

o
r 

2
0

12
-1

5

R
ed

u
ci

n
g
 c

ri
m

e,
 a

n
ti

-s
o
ci

a
l 
b

eh
av

io
u

r,
 fi

re
s 

a
n
d

 r
o
a
d

 c
o
ll

is
io

n
s 

in
 s

tr
at

eg
ic

 

lo
ca

li
ti

es
 a

cr
o
ss

 t
h
e 

ci
ty

.

R
ed

u
ci

n
g
 t

h
e 

h
a
rm

 c
a
u
se

d
 b

y 
d

ru
g
s 

a
n
d

 a
lc

o
h
o
l.

R
ed

u
ci

n
g
 r

ep
ea

t 
vi

ct
im

is
at

io
n
 w

it
h
 a

 f
o
cu

s 
o
n
 v

u
ln

er
a
b

le
 v

ic
ti

m
s 

a
n
d

 

ta
rg

et
ed

 c
o
m

m
u

n
it

ie
s.

1 2 3

*
S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
 C

o
n

n
e
ct

 i
s 

th
e
 c

it
y-

w
id

e
 S

tr
a
te

g
ic

 P
a
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 i
n

 S
o
u

th
a
m

p
to

n
.

D
el

iv
er

in
g
 t

h
e 

n
at

io
n
a
l 

Tr
o
u

b
le

d
 F

a
m

il
ie

s 
a
ge

n
d

a
, 

le
d

 b
y 

th
e 

C
h
il

d
re

n
’s

 T
ru

st
.

P
ro

g
re

ss
in

g
 t

h
e 

R
ed

u
ci

n
g
 

R
eo

ff
en

d
in

g
 P

ro
je

ct
, 

le
d

 b
y 

H
a
m

p
sh

ir
e 

P
ro

b
at

io
n
 T

ru
st

.

D
el

iv
er

y 
o
f 

th
e 

A
lc

o
h
o
l 

Tr
ea

tm
en

t 
P

ro
g
ra

m
m

e,
 l

ed
 

b
y 

N
H

S
 S

o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
.

D
el

iv
er

 O
p

er
at

io
n
 F

o
rt

re
ss

 

to
 r

ed
u

ce
 s

er
io

u
s 

o
rg

a
n
is

ed
 

cr
im

e 
a
n
d

 r
et

a
in

 t
h
e 

‘n
o
 

ga
n
g
s’

 p
o
si

ti
o
n
 i
n
 t

h
e 

ci
ty

.

R
ed

u
ci

n
g
 s

ea
so

n
a
l 
p

ea
ks

 i
n
 

cr
im

e 
(e

.g
. 

d
u

ri
n
g
 O

ct
o
b

er
),

 

le
d

 b
y 

H
a
m

p
sh

ir
e 

Fi
re

 a
n
d

 

R
es

cu
e 

S
er

vi
ce

 a
n
d

 t
h
e 

p
o
li

ce
.

Im
p

le
m

en
ti

n
g
 

re
co

m
m

en
d

at
io

n
s 

fr
o
m

 

ca
se

 r
ev

ie
w

s,
 i
n
cl

u
d

in
g
 t

h
e 

D
o
m

es
ti

c 
H

o
m

ic
id

e 
R

ev
ie

w
, 

le
d

 b
y 

S
o
u
th

a
m

p
to

n
 C

it
y 

C
o
u

n
ci

l.

P
re

p
a
ri

n
g
 f

o
r 

th
e 

n
ew

 P
o
li

ce
 

a
n
d

 C
ri

m
e 

C
o
m

m
is

si
o
n
er

 

im
p

le
m

en
ta

ti
o
n
, 

le
d

 b
y 

H
a
m

p
sh

ir
e 

P
o
li

ce
 A

u
th

o
ri

ty
.

T
h

e
 s

p
o

tl
ig

h
t 

Th
e
 S

a
fe

 C
it

y 

Pa
rt

n
e
rs

h
ip

 D
e
li
ve

ry
 

P
la

n
s 

fo
r 

20
12

/1
3 

a
re

 

st
il

l 
b

e
in

g
 d

ev
e
lo

p
e
d

. 

B
a
se

d
 o

n
 t

h
e
 

S
tr

a
te

g
ic

 A
ss

es
sm

e
n

t 

a
n

d
 e

m
e
rg

in
g

 i
ss

u
es

 

p
la

n
s 

w
il

l 
in

cl
u

d
e
:



www.southampton.gov.uk/safersouthampton
Designed, printed & produced by Southampton City Council 04.12.23992

This written information is available on request in other formats 

or languages. Please contact 023 8083 3988 for help.

Our plans for the near future and 
how we plan to implement them

The partnership will deliver joint work identified in 

a list of actions. These actions will form the basis for 

monitoring performance.

The area based work and core performance will be 

overseen at partnership review meetings and delivered 

by the time-limited IMD project group.

The wider strategic and preventative measures which 

aim to reduce the harms caused by alcohol and drug 

misuse (citywide) will be developed and delivered 

through the Tackling Alcohol Partnership (TAP) and the 

Drug Action Team (DAT). Here, the focus will   

be on improving and commissioning treatment 

pathways and preventing re-offending.

The strategies and approaches which aim to prevent 

harm to vulnerable victims will be developed and 

delivered through the new Vulnerable Victims group 

which is also accountable to the Southampton 

Safeguarding Adults Board. This partnership activity 

will focus on victims with additional vulnerabilities 

including mental health and learning disabilities.

All subgroups report to the Safe City Partnership 

Executive (see diagram above for Safe City 

Partnership structure).

Southampton
Connect

Children and 
Young People’s 

Trust

Health and
wellbeing

board

Southampton 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

(SSAB)

Local
Safeguarding 

Children’s Board 
(LSCB)

Safe City
Partnership
Executive

Operations groups supporting Safe City Partnership
e.g. domestic violence/sexual violence groups

Safer Students Forum
Community Tasking Coordinating Groups (CTCGs)

Review
meetings

Partners’ 
relevant core 

data and 
monitoring 
priorities 

Tackling
Alcohol

Partnership
(TAP)

Drug
Action
Team
(DAT)

Priority 2

Index of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD)

Reducing Crime 
Project Group

Priority 1

Vulnerable 
Victims Group

Priority 3

Key

Safe City Partnership

delivery groups

Linked partnerships

Safe City Partnership structure



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: FORWARD PLAN 

DATE OF DECISION: 12 JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: SENIOR MANAGER – CUSTOMER AND BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This item enables the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee to examine the 
content of the Forward Plan and to discuss issues of interest or concern with the 
Executive to ensure that forthcoming decisions made by the Executive benefit local 
residents.   

RECOMMENDATION: 

 (i) That the Committee discuss the Forward Plan item listed in paragraph 3 
of the report to highlight any matters which Members feel should be 
taken into account by the Executive when reaching a decision. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To enable Members to identify any matters which they feel the Cabinet 
should take into account when reaching a decision. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. The Forward Plan for the period July 2012 – October 2012 has been 
circulated to members of the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee.  
The following issue was identified for discussion with the Decision Maker: 
 

Portfolio Decision Requested By 

Resources Changes to existing Revenue and Capital 
Budgets 

Cllr Moulton 

 

4. A briefing paper responding to the Forward Plan item identified by members 
of the Committee is appended to this report.  Members are invited to use the 
paper to explore the issues with the decision maker. 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

5. The details for the item on the Forward Plan will be set out in the Executive 
decision making report issued prior to the decision being taken. 

Property/Other 

6. The details for the item on the Forward Plan will be set out in the Executive 
decision making report issued prior to the decision being taken. 

Agenda Item 11



 

 2

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

7. The details for the item on the Forward Plan will be set out in the Executive 
decision making report issued prior to the decision being taken. 

The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Section 21 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Other Legal Implications:  

8. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

9. None. 

AUTHOR: Name:  Mark Pirnie Tel: 023 8083 3886 

 E-mail: Mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None directly as a result of this report. 

 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Briefing Paper – Changes to existing Revenue and Capital Budgets 

2 Cabinet / Cabinet Report  

3 Cabinet / Cabinet Appendices 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing 
document to be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

 None  

 



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

  

SUBJECT: CHANGES TO EXISTING REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGETS 

DATE: 12 JULY 2012 

RECIPIENT: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
  

 

THIS IS NOT A DECISION PAPER 

SUMMARY: 

 This report which is to be published on 2 July will be presented to Cabinet on 10 July 
2012 and Council on 11 July 2012. 

The purpose of this report is to outline proposed variations to the Budget for 2012/13 
in response to the priorities of the new Executive whilst recognising the financial 
challenges facing Local Government and to set out further savings in advance of the 
budget for 2013/14. 

Consultation will be undertaken on these savings proposals and the results will be 
reported alongside the Executive’s final proposals which will be presented to Cabinet 
in September and recommended to Council on 12 September 2012. 

Further proposals may be brought forward to Cabinet and Council if appropriate 
throughout the course of the year in order to continue to effect change at the earliest 
opportunity and ensure timely delivery in keeping with the principles of sound 
financial management. 

BACKGROUND and BRIEFING DETAILS: 

1.  The recommendations have been put forward to ensure that the operating budget for 
2012/13 reflects the priorities of the Executive and to ensure that proposals are 
advanced as early as possible as part of the budget process for 2013/14. 

Consultation & Communications 

2.  Informal consultation on the proposals as set out in Appendix 2 to the report 
commenced on 2 July 2012. 

3.  Formal consultation on the proposals as set out in Appendix 2 to the report will 
commence with trades unions, affected staff and any people or organisations 
affected by the proposals to ensure all options have been considered after the 
Council Meeting on 11 July 2012. 

Resource and Policy Implications 

4.  The budget is in itself a major policy exercise dealing with resource allocation within 
the Council and is supported by Management Board of Directors (MBD), together 
with specific legal and financial advice. 

5.  Appendix 1 to the report details the new one off spending proposals that have been 
highlighted for 2012/13 which total £240,000 and which will be funded from 
balances. 

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 1



BRIEFING PAPER 
 

6.  Appendix 2 to the report sets out savings proposals which where possible will be 
implemented as soon as practicable in the current financial year, leading to savings 
of £833,000 in 2012/13 which can be added to balances and utilised to make a one 
off contribution to reduce the gap in 2013/14.  For the majority of the proposals 
contained in Appendix 2, however, the intention is to take steps during 2012/13 to 
implement the saving so that they become effective from 1 April 2013 leading to 
savings of just under £2.0M in 2013/14 rising to just over £2.5M in 2014/15. 

Options 

7.  There are almost limitless options that can be applied to budget changes in the year 
most of which are driven by political priorities.  In formulating the final options to 
present in this paper the Executive have taken into account the relevant impact of all 
options that were under consideration and as a result some have not been 
progressed.  Alternative options may be presented to Council at the meeting on 
September at which a decision will be taken after the end of the consultation process. 

Appendices/Supporting Information: 

8.  Report and Associated Appendices (Appendix 1 & 2) 

Further Information Available From: Name: Alison Chard 

 Tel:  023 8083 4897 

E-mail:  Alison.Chard@southampton.gov.uk  

 



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  CABINET 

COUNCIL 

SUBJECT: CHANGES TO EXISTING REVENUE AND CAPITAL 
BUDGETS 

DATE OF DECISION: 10 JULY 2012 

11 JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY: 

NOT APPLICABLE 

BRIEF SUMMARY: 

The purpose of this report is to outline proposed variations to the Budget for 2012/13 
in response to the priorities of the new Executive whilst recognising the financial 
challenges facing Local Government and to set out further savings in advance of the 
budget for 2013/14. 

Consultation will be undertaken on these savings proposals and the results will be 
reported alongside the Executive’s final proposals which will be presented to Cabinet in 
September and recommended to Council on 12 September 2012. 

Further proposals may be brought forward to Cabinet and Council if appropriate 
throughout the course of the year in order to continue to effect change at the earliest 
opportunity and ensure timely delivery in keeping with the principles of sound financial 
management. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 Cabinet recommends Full Council to: 

 (i)  Approve one-off expenditure of £240,000 in 2012/13 set out in 
Appendix 1 to be funded from balances. 

 (ii)  Note the high level forecast for the General Fund for 2013/14 as 
detailed in paragraphs 13 to 16. 

 (iii)  Note the Executive’s proposals for efficiencies and service 
reductions which are put forward for consultation and are set out in 
Appendix 2. 

 (iv)  Note that formal consultation on the proposals as set out in Appendix 
2 will now commence with trades unions, affected staff and any 
people or organisations affected by the proposals to ensure all 
options have been considered 

 (v)  Delegate authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) following 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources to do anything 
necessary to give effect to the recommendations in this report. 

  

 

That Full Council: 

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 2



 2

 (i)  Approve one-off expenditure of £240,000 in 2012/13 set out in 
Appendix 1 to be funded from balances. 

 (ii)  Note the high level forecast for the General Fund for 2013/14 as 
detailed in paragraphs 13 to 16. 

 (iii)  Note the Executive’s proposals for efficiencies and service 
reductions which are put forward for consultation and are set out in 
Appendix 2. 

 (iv)  Note that formal consultation on the proposals as set out in Appendix 
2 will now commence with trades unions, affected staff and any 
people or organisations affected by the proposals to ensure all 
options have been considered 

 (v)  Delegate authority to the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) following 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Resources to do anything 
necessary to give effect to the recommendations in this report. 

   

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS: 

1.  The recommendations have been put forward to ensure that the operating 
budget for 2012/13 reflects the priorities of the Executive and to ensure that 
proposals are advanced as early as possible as part of the budget process for 
2013/14. 

2.  The current medium term financial forecast highlights the challenges facing 
the Authority.  This combined with the potential impact of reductions in future 
funding levels for Local Government and a continuing weak economic position 
make it imperative that proposals for 2013/14 onwards are developed and 
savings achieved as early as possible. 

  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED: 

3.  The option to not consider changes to existing revenue and capital budgets 
is not compatible with the need to ensure effective and robust financial 
planning given the financial challenges facing the Authority.  There are 
almost limitless options that can be applied to budget changes in the year 
most of which are driven by political priorities.  In formulating the final 
options to present in this paper the Executive have taken into account the 
relevant impact of all options that were under consideration and as a result 
some have not been progressed. 

  

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out): 

 CONSULTATION 

4.  Where new proposals have been put forward these have been subject to 
consultation with the Management Board of Directors and relevant Cabinet 
Members. 

5.  Consultation will be undertaken with trades unions and staff affected by the 
proposals in line with the agreed HR policies. 



 3

6.  Full consultation will be undertaken with any people or organisations affected 
by the proposals to ensure all options have been considered. 

  

 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

7.  The Equality Duty is a duty on public bodies which came into force on 5 April 
2011 and requires the Council to show that it has 'had regard' to the impact of 
its decisions on its equality duties and the need to advance equality of 
opportunity between people who have protected characteristics and those who 
do not. 

8.  While the Equality Duty does not impose a legal requirement to conduct an 
Equality Impact Assessment (EIA), it does require public bodies to show how 
they considered the Equality Duty and that they have been consciously 
thinking about the aims of the Equality Duty as part of the process of decision-
making.  To comply with these requirements as well as the Community Safety 
legislation, the Council has used its existing Impact Assessment framework so 
that it can ensure the use of a consistent, council wide mechanism to evidence 
how decision making took into account equality and safety considerations. 

9.  Individual EIAs have been completed by Directors and Senior Managers for 
those proposals contained in Appendix 2 that they identified require such an 
assessment, as they could have an adverse impact on a particular group or 
individuals.  The individual EIAs for services delivered by the Council are 
available in Members’ Rooms.  For proposals that relate to contractual or 
commissioning arrangements, further work will be undertaken to assess the 
impact. 

  

 SPENDING INITIATIVES 

10.  The Executive have been considering additional priorities that they may wish 
to progress in the current year and have put forward proposals for new one off 
expenditure in 2012/13 in order to take these forward.   

11.  Appendix 1 details the new one off spending proposals that have been 
highlighted for 2012/13 which total £240,000.   

12.  These initiatives will be funded from balances which subject to the approval of 
the recommendations contained in the General Fund Revenue Outturn 
2011/12 report elsewhere on the agenda will stand at £5.5M.  The Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO) recommends that the minimum level of the General 
Fund Balance should be £5.0M, which has been derived by looking at a risk-
based approach to the overall General Fund Revenue Account and after 
funding these one off spending proposals they will reduce to £5.3M. 

 

  

 

 

 HIGH LEVEL FORECAST 2013/14 to 2015/16 



 4

13.  The medium term financial forecast presented to Council in February 2012 
highlighted the challenges facing the Authority.  The position for 2013/14 and 
2014/15 based on a 2.5% Council Tax increase are forecast budget gaps of 
£30M and £46M respectively after allowing for potential pressures the council 
may face. 

14.  This forecast has been further developed and extended to maintain a three 
year planning horizon.   

Whilst no figures have been released for 2013/14 onwards, it has been 
assumed for planning purposes that further reductions in grant funding of 7% 
per annum will be made and this indicates that the council faces a cumulative 
budget gap of £60M by 2015/16.   

15.  The savings proposals approved in February 2012 have been implemented 
and the incremental increase in a number of these savings proposals serves to 
reduce the gap in future years as shown below:  

  

  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Roll Forward    29,305.5    43,716.2    57,236.0 

Unknown Pressures      1,000.0      2,000.0      3,000.0 

Published Gap – February 2012    30,305.5    45,716.2    60,236.0 

Future Years Impact of February 
2012 Approved Savings Proposals 

(2,305.0) (2,490.0) (2,490.0) 

Roll Forward Gap    28,000.5    43,226.2    57,746.0 
 

  

16.  This forecast provides an indication of the likely gap that will be faced by the 
Council each year, but there remains a significant element of uncertainty in 
forecasting the position for future years.  There are a range of variables which 
can impact on the budget, and in particular the actual grant funding position for 
individual authorities will not be known until December 2012.  Nevertheless our 
current assumptions provide the medium term financial forecast set out above 
to inform the financial strategy for tackling the overall position that is presented 
for future years.   

  

 OPTIONS FOR SAVINGS 

17.  The budget setting process within the Council has generally been focused on 
the final decisions made at the February Council meeting, although in reality 
the development of the budget is a year long activity. 

18.  In the past there has been a general tendency to wait until the February 
meeting before progressing new options for spending and saving which can 
mean that implementation is delayed until later in the financial year depending 
on the lead in times required for the different proposals. 

19.  The scale of the financial challenge facing the Council combined with the 



 5

potential impact of an ongoing difficult economic position make it imperative 
that proposals for 2013/14 onwards are developed and savings achieved as 
early as possible.   

20.  Appendix 2 sets out savings proposals which have been developed and where 
possible these will be implemented as soon as practicable in the current 
financial year, leading to savings of £833,000 in 2012/13 which can be added 
to balances and utilised to make a one off contribution to reduce the gap in 
2013/14. 

21.  For the majority of the proposals contained in Appendix 2, however, the 
intention is to take steps during 2012/13 to implement the saving so that they 
become effective from 1 April 2013 leading to savings of just under £2.0M in 
2013/14 rising to just over £2.5M in 2014/15. 

  

 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 

22.  It is inevitable that when the Council is faced with such a significant funding 
shortfall, that the savings proposals put forward by the Council will have an 
impact on staff cost and staff numbers. 

23.  Aware of this fact, the Council has continued to have in place a carefully 
planned approach to recruitment, ensuring that vacant posts have only been 
recruited to where absolutely necessary. 

24.  Based on the savings proposals contained in this budget report 20.13 FTE 
posts are affected of which 4.00 are currently vacant and 16.13 are in post 
and are at risk of redundancy. 

25.  Through the consultation process the Executive are keen to explore all 
avenues with the Trade Unions and staff to minimise the level of staffing 
redundancies.  The City Council has an excellent past record of using its 
redeployment policies to minimise any compulsory redundancies arising out 
of the budget proposals, and the Executive will seek to strengthen the support 
for employees who find themselves on the redeployment register as a result 
of savings implemented as part of the proposals contained in this report. 

26.  Moving forward, the Executive remain committed to minimising job losses 
within the Council, and will bring forward proposals to Full Council in 
September for a revised redeployment policy which it will seek to pilot for any 
proposed redundancies which arise as a consequence of the proposals 
contained in this report.  The revised policy will also apply to any savings 
which were agreed for 2012/13 as part of the February 2012 budget, but 
which have not yet been progressed. 

  

 BUDGET DEVELOPMENT FOR 2013/14 AND FUTURE YEARS 

27.  The savings proposals for 2012/13 and future years will be taken into account 
in the development of the budget for 2013/14 as part of the approach detailed 
but early decision making will enable implementation to be progressed in 
advance of the February 2013 budget meeting. 

28.  The overall impact of the savings proposals,  as set out in paragraphs 20 and 



 6

21 above is shown below: 

  

  2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

 £000’s £000’s £000’s 

Roll Forward Gap (Paragraph 15)    28,000.5    43,226.2    57,746.0 

Savings Proposals (1,997.0) (2,537.0) (2,537.0) 

Contribution from Balances (833.0)   

Remaining Gap    25,170.5    40,689.2    55,209.0 
 

  

29.  Given the forecast for future years a fundamental review of all service areas is 
underway to consider what changes could be made to deliver up to £55M of 
additional savings over the next three years with £25M to be delivered for 
2013/14.  Options will be developed by Officers and the Cabinet over the 
summer period with a view to producing a consultation report for publication in 
October. 

  

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: 

Capital/Revenue:  

30.  There are no capital implications and the revenue implications are set out in 
the report. 

  

Property/Other: 

31.  None. 

  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

32.  Local Government Acts 1972, 2000 and 2003 and Local Government Finance 
Act 1992. 

  

Other Legal Implications:  

33.  Not applicable. 

  

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS: 

34.  This report proposes variations to the budget that was approved by Council 
on 15 February 2012. 

  

AUTHOR: Name:  Alison Chard Tel: 023 8083 4897 



 7

 E-mail: Alison.Chard@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  Yes/No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED:  

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices: 

1. Summary of Spending Initiatives 

2. Summary of Efficiencies and Service Reductions 

Documents In Members’ Rooms: 

1. Budget Proposals - Equality and Safety Impact Assessments 

2.  

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

Yes/No 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 
Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

1. GENERAL FUND REVENUE BUDGET 
2012/13 TO 2014/15 – Council 15 February 
2012 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
1

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

C
O

M
M

1
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

S
tr

e
e

tC
R

E
D

T
h

is
w

ill
e

n
a

b
le

th
e

C
o

u
n

c
il

to
im

p
ro

v
e

th
e

g
e

n
e

ra
l
p

e
rc

e
p

ti
o

n
th

a
t

th
e

c
it
y

is
s
h

a
b

b
y

a
n

d
ti
re

d

lo
o

k
in

g
b

y
b

u
ild

in
g

o
n

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

e
n

g
a

g
e

m
e

n
t

a
c
ti
v
it
y

in
th

e
c
it
y

to
m

a
k
e

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

in
h

o
w

th
e

c
it
y

lo
o

k
s

a
n

d
fe

e
ls

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

lly
.

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
th

ro
u

g
h

a
c
it
y

w
id

e
m

o
d

e
l
(S

tr
e

e
tC

R
E

D
)

o
f

1
2

–
1

6

in
te

lli
g

e
n

c
e

le
d

C
le

a
n

u
p

s
a

c
ro

s
s

th
e

c
it
y

b
a

s
e

d
o

n
3

d
if
fe

re
n

t
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
o

f
A

S
B

,
H

M
O

s
(4

ti
m

e
s

p
e

r

y
e

a
r

e
a

c
h

)
a

n
d

g
e

n
e

ra
l
c
le

a
n

u
p

o
f

th
e

e
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

8
ti
m

e
s

p
e

r
y
e

a
r.

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
th

ro
u

g
h

re
s
h

a
p

in
g

e
x
is

ti
n

g
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

a
n

d
th

e
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
fu

n
d

in
g

w
ill

b
e

u
s
e

d
to

d
e

s
ig

n
a

n
d

d
e

liv
e

r
a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s

ra
is

in
g

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
to

p
ro

m
o

te
w

h
a

t
w

e
d

o
,

e
n

c
o

u
ra

g
e

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

in
v
o

lv
e

m
e

n
t

a
n

d
s
e

e
k

fu
rt

h
e

r

fe
e

d
b

a
c
k

fr
o

m
re

s
id

e
n

ts
.

1
0

D
a

w
n

B
a

x
e

n
d

a
le

C
O

M
M

2
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

J
o

in
e

d
u

p
E

n
fo

rc
e

m
e

n
t

T
h

is
w

ill
e

n
a

b
le

th
e

c
o

u
n

c
il

to
e

n
fo

rc
e

e
ff

e
c
ti
v
e

ly
a

n
d

in
a

jo
in

e
d

u
p

m
a

n
n

e
r

a
n

d
to

ra
is

e
a

w
a

re
n

e
s
s

a
b

o
u

t
th

e
c
o

u
n

c
il’

s
s
tr

o
n

g
a

p
p

ro
a

c
h

a
n

d
b

e
n

e
fi
ts

o
f

th
is

a
p

p
ro

a
c
h
.

T
h

e
a

d
d

it
io

n
a

l
fu

n
d

in
g

is
to

p
lu

g

th
e

c
ri

ti
c
a

l
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

g
a

p
s

in
d

e
liv

e
ri

n
g

le
g

a
l
w

o
rk

a
t

th
e

ri
g

h
t

ti
m

e
a

n
d

fo
r

ra
is

in
g

a
w

a
re

n
e

s
s

a
n

d

e
d

u
c
a

ti
o

n

3
0

D
a

w
n

B
a

x
e

n
d

a
le

C
O

M
M

3
S

a
fe

r
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
ie

s
T

a
x
i
M

a
rs

h
a

lls

T
h

e
a

n
n

u
a

l
c
o

s
t

is
£

2
5

,0
0

0
o

f
w

h
ic

h
£

1
5

,0
0

0
h

a
s

b
e

e
n

s
e

c
u

re
d

.
T

h
is

w
ill

e
n

a
b

le
th

e
s
e

rv
ic

e
to

c
o

n
ti
n

u
e

in
2

0
1

2
/1

3
w

h
ile

o
th

e
r

s
o

u
rc

e
s

o
f

fu
n

d
in

g
a

re
e

x
p

lo
re

d
.

T
h

e
a

n
n

u
a

l
c
o

s
t

o
f

ta
x
i
m

a
rs

h
a

ls

e
q

u
a

te
s

to
th

e
c
o

s
ts

o
f

o
n

e
s
e

ri
o

u
s

w
o

u
n

d
in

g
o

r
le

s
s

th
a

n
tw

o
a

s
s
a

u
lt
s
.

In
p

re
v
e

n
ti
n

g
v
io

le
n

c
e

a
n

d

a
s
s
a

u
lt

th
e

ta
x
i
m

a
rs

h
a

ls
o

ff
-s

e
t

th
e

in
d

ir
e

c
t

c
o

s
ts

o
f

v
io

le
n

t
c
ri

m
e

to
p

u
b

lic
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

m
a

n
y

ti
m

e
s

o
v
e

r

1
0

J
o

n
D

y
e

r

S
la

d
e

C
O

M
M

4

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
&

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

C
o

h
e

s
io

n
/

D
iv

e
rs

it
y

T
h

is
w

ill
p

ro
v
id

e
c
a

p
a

c
it
y

to
im

p
ro

v
e

th
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t

s
y
s
te

m
o

f
m

o
n

it
o

ri
n

g
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

te
n

s
io

n
s
,

fa
c
ili

ta
te

re
g

u
la

r
d

ia
lo

g
u

e
w

it
h

d
iv

e
rs

e
c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
a

n
d

h
e

lp
d

e
v
e

lo
p

e
a

rl
y

s
o

lu
ti
o

n
s

to
p

re
v
e

n
t

e
s
c
a

la
ti
o

n
o

f

te
n

s
io

n
s

1
0

D
a

w
n

B
a

x
e

n
d

a
le

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
6

0

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
S

P
E

N
D

IN
G

IN
IT

IA
T

IV
E

S

Agenda Item 11
Appendix 3



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
1

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
S

P
E

N
D

IN
G

IN
IT

IA
T

IV
E

S

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

E
&

T
1

P
a

rk
in

g
a

n
d

P
a

tr
o

l
N

e
w

C
a

r
P

a
rk

in
g

C
h

a
rg

e
P

o
lic

y
T

h
e

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti
o

n
o

f
n

e
w

c
h

a
rg

e
s

w
o

u
ld

in
c
u

r
o

n
e

o
ff

c
o

s
ts

to
p

u
t

th
e

n
e

c
e

s
s
a

ry
T

ra
ff

ic
R

e
g

u
la

ti
o

n

O
rd

e
rs

in
p

la
c
e

,
c
h

a
n

g
e

s
ig

n
a

g
e

a
n

d
ta

ri
ff

s
p

la
te

s
o

n
m

a
c
h

in
e

s
a

s
n

e
c
e

s
s
a

ry
.

4
0

M
it
c
h

S
a

u
n

d
e

rs

E
&

T
2

H
ig

h
w

a
y
s

In
tr

o
d

u
c
ti
o

n
o

f
m

a
rk

e
d

p
a

rk
in

g
b

a
y
s

in

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

re
a

s
.s

a
tr

ia
l

Im
p

le
m

e
n

t
a

tr
ia

l
to

m
a

rk
o

u
t

s
ta

n
d

a
rd

s
iz

e
p

a
rk

in
g

b
a

y
s

o
n

s
tr

e
e

t
in

a
re

a
s

o
f

h
ig

h
p

a
rk

in
g

d
e

n
s
it
y

to

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
if

in
c
re

a
s
e

s
th

e
o

v
e

ra
ll

p
a

rk
in

g
le

v
e

ls
.

1
0

M
it
c
h

S
a

u
n

d
e

rs

E
&

T
3

P
u

b
lic

T
ra

n
s
p

o
rt

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
re

v
e

n
u

e
fu

n
d

in
g

to
s
u

p
p

o
rt

b
u

s
tr

a
n

s
p

o
rt

a
ti
o

n
2

5
P

a
u

l

N
ic

h
o

ls

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

7
5

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

e
is

u
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

H
L

S
1

L
e

is
u

re
&

C
u

lt
u

re
S

o
u

th
a

m
p

to
n

F
e

s
ti
v
a

l

F
o

r
m

a
rk

e
ti
n

g
a

n
d

in
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
c
o

s
t

fo
r

a
m

o
d

e
s
t

fe
s
ti
v
a

l
th

is
y
e

a
r,

w
it
h

a
v
ie

w
to

d
e

v
e

lo
p

in
g

it

fu
rt

h
e

r
fo

r
n

e
x
t

y
e

a
r

–
ti
m

in
g

w
ill

b
e

b
e

tw
e

e
n

th
e

B
o

a
t

S
h

o
w

a
n

d
th

e
s
ta

rt
o

f
th

e
U

n
iv

e
rs

it
y

a
u

tu
m

n

te
rm

2
5

M
ik

e

H
a

rr
is

H
L

S
1

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
ta

l

H
e

a
lt
h

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
L

ic
e

n
s
in

g
fo

r
H

o
u

s
e

s
in

M
u

lt
ip

le
O

c
c
u

p
a

ti
o

n
(H

M
O

's
)

P
u

m
p

p
ri

m
in

g
fu

n
d

in
g

fo
r

th
e

p
ro

je
c
t

w
o

u
ld

a
llo

w
e

x
is

ti
n

g
s
ta

ff
s
e

tt
in

g
u

p
th

e
lic

e
n

s
in

g
s
c
h

e
m

e
to

b
e

b
a

c
k
fi
lle

d
b

y
te

m
p

o
ra

ry
a

g
e

n
c
y

s
ta

ff
to

e
n

s
u

re
th

a
t

th
e

te
a

m
s

o
th

e
r

im
p

o
rt

a
n

t
p

ri
o

ri
ti
e

s
a

re
m

e
t

i.
e

.

s
a

fe
g

u
a

rd
in

g
o

f
v
u

ln
e

ra
b

le
te

n
a

n
ts

in
p

ri
v
a

te
re

n
te

d
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n
.

2
0

M
it
c
h

S
a

u
n

d
e

rs

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

e
is

u
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

4
5



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
1

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f
S

e
rv

ic
e

A
c

ti
v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

H
e

a
d

o
f

S
e

rv
ic

e

£
0

0
0

's

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
S

P
E

N
D

IN
G

IN
IT

IA
T

IV
E

S

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o

L
E

A
D

1
S

k
ill

s
,

E
c
o

n
o

m
y

&

H
o

u
s
in

g
R

e
n

e
w

a
l

P
re

-A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h

ip
p

ro
g

ra
m

m
e

T
h

e
s
c
h

e
m

e
s
u

p
p

o
rt

y
o

u
n

g
p

e
o

p
le

w
h

o
d

o
n

o
t

y
e

t
h

a
v
e

th
e

s
k
ill

s
o

r
c
o

n
fi
d

e
n

c
e

to
c
o

m
m

e
n

c
e

a
n

A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h

ip
.

It
p

ro
v
id

e
s

a
s
ix

m
o

n
th

s
p

a
id

p
la

c
e

m
e

n
t

w
h

ils
t

d
e

v
e

lo
p

in
g

th
e

s
e

s
k
ill

s
w

it
h

a
n

a
im

o
f

p
ro

g
re

s
s
io

n
to

a
n

A
p

p
re

n
ti
c
e

s
h

ip
w

it
h

th
e

h
o

s
t

o
r

a
n

o
th

e
r

e
m

p
lo

y
e

r.

3
5

B
a

rb
a

ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

L
E

A
D

2
S

k
ill

s
,

E
c
o

n
o

m
y

&

H
o

u
s
in

g
R

e
n

e
w

a
l

‘D
ra

g
o

n
’s

D
e

n
’
s
u

p
p

o
rt

fo
r

s
m

a
ll

b
u

s
in

e
s
s
e

s

R
e

n
t

o
f

tw
o

U
n

it
s

a
t

S
o

le
n

t
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

C
e

n
tr

e
fo

r
n

e
w

e
n

te
rp

ri
s
e

s
s
e

le
c
te

d
th

ro
u

g
h

a
‘D

ra
g

o
n

s
D

e
n

’

s
ty

le
p

ro
c
e

s
s
.

1
0

B
a

rb
a

ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

L
E

A
D

3

C
u

s
to

m
e

r
&

B
u

s
in

e
s
s

Im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
t

F
a

ir
n

e
s
s

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n

T
o

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
a

F
a

ir
n

e
s
s

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
to

c
o

n
s
id

e
r

w
a

y
s

o
f

in
c
re

a
s
in

g
fa

ir
n

e
s
s

a
n

d
re

d
u

c
in

g
in

e
q

u
a

lit
y

fo
r

lo
c
a

lit
ie

s
a

n
d

c
o

m
m

u
n

it
ie

s
o

f
in

te
re

s
t.

T
h

is
w

ill
b

e
th

ro
u

g
h

c
o

n
s
id

e
ra

ti
o

n
o

f
e

v
id

e
n

c
e

a
n

d
a

n
a

ly
s
is

o
f

k
e

y
d

a
ta

le
a

d
in

g
to

a
n

o
p

e
n

a
n

d
tr

a
n

s
p

a
re

n
t

p
u

b
lic

d
ia

lo
g

u
e

o
v
e

r
a

p
e

ri
o

d
o

f
ti
m

e
to

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
th

e

le
v
e

l
o

f
in

e
q

u
a

lit
y
,

im
p

a
c
t

a
n

d
fu

tu
re

ri
s
k

o
f

th
is

im
p

a
c
t

in
a

p
a

rt
ic

u
la

r
a

re
a

.

1
0

S
u

k
i

S
it
a

ra
m

L
E

A
D

4
L

e
g

a
l
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

re
fe

re
n

d
u

m
C

o
s
ts

to
b

e
m

in
im

is
e

d
b

y
ti
m

in
g

th
is

w
it
h

th
e

e
le

c
ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
P

o
lic

e
C

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
e

r
5

R
ic

h
a

rd

Iv
o

ry

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
P

o
rt

fo
li

o
T

o
ta

l
6

0

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

2
4

0



APPENDIX 2a

Portfolio Efficiencies Income Service

Reductions

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Services (307.0) (307.0)

Leader's (20.0) (20.0)

Resources (406.0) (100.0) (506.0)

Total (733.0) 0.0 (100.0) (833.0)

Portfolio Efficiencies Income Service

Reductions

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Services (560.0) (20.0) (580.0)

Children's Services (400.0) (400.0)

Environment & Transport (50.0) (50.0)

Housing & Leisure Services (277.0) (235.0) (512.0)

Leader's (20.0) (14.0) (62.0) (96.0)

Resources (359.0) (359.0)

Total (1,616.0) (84.0) (297.0) (1,997.0)

Housing & Leisure Services 14.13 1.00 15.13

Leader's 1.00 1.00 2.00

Resources 1.00 2.00 3.00

Total 16.13 4.00 20.13

Portfolio
FTE In Post FTE Vacant FTE Total

SUMMARY OF EFFICIENCIES AND SERVICE REDUCTIONS

IMPACT OF PROPOSALS ON STAFFING

2012/13

2013/14



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2
b

N
e

w

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f

S
e

rv
ic

e
A

c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
t

R
is

k
V

a
c

a
n

t
S

e
n

io
r

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
F

T
E

F
T

E

A
d

u
lt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

A
S

1
A

c
ro

s
s

P
o

rt
fo

lio

J
o

in
t/
in

te
g

ra
te

d
c
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
a

n
d

s
e

rv
ic

e
re

m
o

d
e

lli
n

g
w

it
h

A
d

u
lt
s

S
o

c
ia

l

C
a

re
/S

C
P

C
T

/
w

it
h

o
th

e
r

a
u

th
o

ri
ti
e

s

T
o

c
o

v
e

r
e

ff
ic

ie
n

c
y

s
a

v
in

g
s

in
c
o

n
tr

a
c
ts

a
n

d
C

o
m

m
u

n
it
y

C
a

re

m
ic

ro
-c

o
m

m
is

s
io

n
in

g
s
p

e
n

d
.

(2
0

0
)

(2
0

0
)

S
te

p
h

a
n

ie

R
a

m
s
e

y

A
S

2
D

ir
e

c
to

rs
O

ff
ic

e
A

c
c
u

m
u

la
ti
o

n
o

f
v
a

ri
o

u
s

m
in

o
r

u
n

d
e

r

s
p

e
n

d
s

in
1

1
/1

2
th

a
t
a

re
re

c
u

rr
in

g
.

R
e

d
u

c
e

s
th

e
fl
e

xi
b

ili
ty

o
f

th
e

P
o

rt
fo

lio
to

o
ff

s
e

t
p

o
te

n
ti
a

l

o
v
e

rs
p

e
n

d
s

o
n

d
e

m
a

n
d

le
d

s
e

rv
ic

e
s
.

(3
0

7
)

(3
6

0
)

(3
6

0
)

M
a

rg
a

re
t

G
e

a
ry

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(3

0
7

)
(5

6
0

)
(5

6
0

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

A
d

u
lt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
In

c
o

m
e

A
S

3
A

d
u

lt
D

is
a

b
ili

ty
C

a
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

T
o

in
c
re

a
s
e

in
c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
c
lie

n
ts

in

re
s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
a

n
d

n
o

n
re

s
id

e
n

ti
a

l
c
a

re

th
ro

u
g

h
a

lt
e

ri
n

g
th

e
c
h

a
rg

in
g

p
o

lic
y

a
n

d

b
e

c
o

m
in

g
m

o
re

e
ff

ic
ie

n
t
w

it
h

b
ill

in
g

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

.

T
h

is
c
h

a
rg

e
w

ill
b

e
p

a
id

o
n

ly
b

y
th

o
s
e

p
e

o
p

le
w

h
o

c
a

n
a

ff
o

rd
to

p
a

y.
O

th
e

rs
w

ill
s
ta

y
o

n
th

e
s
a

m
e

c
h

a
rg

e
.
T

h
is

b
ri
n

g
s

th
e

s
h

o
rt

s
ta

y
c
h

a
rg

in
g

o
n

to
a

n
e

q
u

it
a

b
le

fo
o

ti
n

g
w

it
h

th
e

lo
n

g
s
ta

y
c
lie

n
ts

.

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

C
a

ro
l

V
a

le
n

ti
n

e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

A
d

u
lt

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(3
0

7
)

(5
8

0
)

(5
8

0
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
-

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c

ie
s

C
S

1

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g

P
o

lic
y

&

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c
e

C
o

m
m

is
s
io

n
in

g
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
a

n
d

c
h

a
n

g
e

s
in

P
re

v
e

n
ti
o

n
&

In
c
lu

s
io

n
c
o

n
tr

a
c
tu

a
l

a
rr

a
n

g
e

m
e

n
ts

(4
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

A
lis

o
n

A
le

xa
n

d
e

r

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(4
0

0
)

(4
0

0
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

C
h

il
d

re
n

's
S

e
rv

ic
e

s
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

T
o

ta
l

0
(4

0
0

)
(4

0
0

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2
b

N
e

w

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f

S
e

rv
ic

e
A

c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
t

R
is

k
V

a
c

a
n

t
S

e
n

io
r

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
F

T
E

F
T

E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

-
In

c
o

m
e

E
&

T
1

P
la

n
n

in
g

,
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

&
S

u
s
ta

in
a

b
ili

ty

A
d

d
it
io

n
a

l
in

c
o

m
e

fr
o

m
in

fr
a

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

c
h

a
rg

e
s

(a
d

m
in

fe
e

s
)

N
e

w
p

ro
p

o
s
a

l
re

fl
e

c
ts

C
o

m
m

u
n

it
y

In
fr

a
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
L

e
v
y

(C
IL

)

G
u

id
a

n
c
e

.
Y

ie
ld

is
u

n
c
e

rt
a

in
a

n
d

w
ill

d
e

p
e

n
d

o
n

m
a

rk
e

t
re

c
o

v
e

ry
.

(5
0

)
(9

0
)

P
a

u
l

N
ic

h
o

ls

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(5
0

)
(9

0
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

E
n

v
ir

o
n

m
e

n
t

&
T

ra
n

s
p

o
rt

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

0
(5

0
)

(9
0

)
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

e
is

u
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

H
L

S
1

P
a

rk
s

&
S

tr
e

e
t

C
le

a
n

s
in

g

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
y

im
p

ro
v
e

m
e

n
ts

to
th

e
s
p

e
c
ia

lis
t

s
p

o
rt

s
p

it
c
h

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

te
a

m
.

In
te

g
ra

te
s
u

p
e

rv
is

io
n

a
n

d
p

ro
v
id

e
P

it
c
h

&
P

u
tt
,
fo

o
tb

a
ll

a
n

d
c
ri
c
k
e

t

p
it
c
h

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

in
d

is
tr

ic
t
p

a
rk

s
b

y
p

e
ri
p

a
te

ti
c

te
a

m
s

ra
th

e
r

th
a

n

s
ta

ff
b

a
s
e

d
d

ir
e

c
tl
y

in
a

ll
th

e
v
e

n
u

e
s
.

(2
1

)
(2

1
)

1
.0

0
J
o

n
D

ye
r-

S
la

d
e

H
L

S
2

M
a

jo
r

P
ro

je
c
ts

R
e

m
o

v
a

l
o

f
fu

n
d

in
g

fo
r

O
ly

m
p

ic
s

a
n

d

T
it
a

n
ic

e
v
e

n
ts

a
ft

e
r

2
0

1
2

S
e

ri
e

s
o

f
e

v
e

n
ts

/
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
p

la
n

n
e

d
le

a
d

in
g

u
p

to
th

e
A

p
ri
l
T

it
a

n
ic

C
e

n
te

n
a

ry
C

o
m

m
e

m
o

ra
ti
o

n
s

a
n

d
L

o
n

d
o

n
O

ly
m

p
ic

s
in

2
0

1
2

.

F
u

n
d

in
g

is
n

o
t
re

q
u

ir
e

d
p

o
s
t
th

e
e

v
e

n
ts

.
N

o
im

p
a

c
t
a

n
ti
c
ip

a
te

d
.

(6
0

)
(6

0
)

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

H
L

S
3

S
p

o
rt

&
R

e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s
fr

o
m

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c
ie

s
fr

o
m

S
p

o
rt

s
&

R
e

c
re

a
ti
o

n
P

a
rt

n
e

rs
h

ip
a

lt
e

rn
a

ti
v
e

m
a

n
a

g
e

m
e

n
t
a

rr
a

n
g

e
m

e
n

ts
(7

6
)

(7
6

)
M

ik
e

H
a

rr
is

H
L

S
4

H
o

u
s
in

g
N

e
e

d
s

R
e

a
s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
o

f
s
p

lit
o

f
c
o

s
ts

b
e

tw
e

e
n

th
e

H
R

A
a

n
d

th
e

G
F

B
a

s
e

d
o

n
a

re
a

s
s
e

s
s
m

e
n

t
o

f
s
ta

ff
a

llo
c
a

ti
o

n
to

a
c
ti
v
it
ie

s
a

n
d

th
e

a
llo

c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
th

e
c
o

s
t
o

f
a

c
ti
v
it
ie

s
to

th
e

G
F

th
e

H
R

A
w

ill
p

ic
k

u
p

a

la
rg

e
r

s
h

a
re

o
f

th
e

c
o

s
ts

o
f

n
o

n
-s

ta
tu

to
ry

h
o

m
e

le
s
s
n

e
s
s

s
u

p
p

o
rt

.

(1
2

0
)

(1
2

0
)

N
ic

k
C

ro
s
s

0
(2

7
7

)
(2

7
7

)
0

.0
0

1
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

e
is

u
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

H
L

S
5

S
p

o
rt

&
R

e
c
re

a
ti
o

n
C

lo
s
e

O
a

k
la

n
d

s
P

o
o

l
R

e
m

o
v
a

l
o

f
s
u

b
s
id

y
to

o
p

e
ra

te
O

a
k
la

n
d

s
s
w

im
m

in
g

p
o

o
l

(2
3

5
)

(2
3

5
)

1
4

.1
3

M
ik

e
H

a
rr

is

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(2
3

5
)

(2
3

5
)

1
4

.1
3

0
.0

0

H
o

u
s

in
g

&
L

e
is

u
re

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

0
(5

1
2

)
(5

1
2

)
1

4
.1

3
1

.0
0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2
b

N
e

w

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f

S
e

rv
ic

e
A

c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
t

R
is

k
V

a
c

a
n

t
S

e
n

io
r

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
F

T
E

F
T

E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
-

E
ff

ic
ie

n
c

ie
s

L
E

A
D

1
A

c
ro

s
s

P
o

rt
fo

lio
R

a
ti
o

n
a

lis
a

ti
o

n
o

f
s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

N
o

n
e

-
S

a
v
in

g
s

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
th

ro
u

g
h

a
g

g
re

g
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

in
c
re

a
s
e

d

c
o

n
tr

o
l

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(2

0
)

(2
0

)
(2

0
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
-

In
c

o
m

e

L
E

A
D

2
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

In
c
re

a
s
e

in
m

a
rk

e
t
in

c
o

m
e

N
e

g
o

ti
a

te
d

u
n

d
e

r
a

n
e

w
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t.

(1
4

)
(1

4
)

B
a

rb
a

ra

C
o

m
p

to
n

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(1
4

)
(1

4
)

0
.0

0
0

.0
0

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
-

S
e

rv
ic

e
R

e
d

u
c

ti
o

n
s

L
E

A
D

3
C

o
rp

o
ra

te

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

S
to

p
p

u
b

lic
a

ti
o

n
o

f
C

it
y

V
ie

w
in

p
ri
n

te
d

fo
rm

a
t

W
o

u
ld

re
q

u
ir
e

d
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t
o

f
d

ig
it
a

l
c
h

a
n

n
e

ls
fo

r
re

s
id

e
n

t

c
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

a
ls

o
im

p
a

c
t
o

n
b

o
th

d
e

s
ig

n
a

n
d

a
d

v
e

rt
is

in
g

in
c
o

m
e

.

(3
6

)
(3

6
)

1
.0

0
B

e
n

W
h

it
e

L
E

A
D

4
C

o
rp

o
ra

te

C
o

m
m

u
n

ic
a

ti
o

n
s

R
e

m
o

v
e

o
n

e
M

e
d

ia
O

ff
ic

e
r

p
o

s
t

L
o

s
s

o
f

s
o

m
e

p
ro

a
c
ti
v
e

c
a

p
a

c
it
y

-
w

o
u

ld
a

im
to

re
d

u
c
e

m
e

d
ia

m
o

n
it
o

ri
n

g
to

m
it
ig

a
te

(2
6

)
(2

6
)

1
.0

0
B

e
n

W
h

it
e

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
0

(6
2

)
(6

2
)

1
.0

0
1

.0
0

L
e

a
d

e
r'

s
P

o
rt

fo
li
o

T
o

ta
l

(2
0

)
(9

6
)

(9
6

)
1

.0
0

1
.0

0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2
b

N
e

w

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f

S
e

rv
ic

e
A

c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
t

R
is

k
V

a
c

a
n

t
S

e
n

io
r

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
F

T
E

F
T

E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

-
E

ff
ic

ie
n

c
ie

s

R
E

S
1

C
a

p
it
a

P
a

rt
n

e
rs

h
ip

C
o

s
ts

R
e

d
u

c
e

d
in

te
re

s
t
p

a
ym

e
n

ts
N

o
n

e
-

P
a

rt
o

f
c
o

n
tr

a
c
t
s
tr

u
c
tu

re
a

n
d

a
ls

o
d

u
e

to
lo

w
e

r
in

te
re

s
t

ra
te

s
(1

0
0

)
(1

0
0

)
(1

0
0

)
J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

R
E

S
2

O
rg

a
n

is
a

ti
o

n
a

l

R
e

v
ie

w
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
R

e
s
tr

u
c
tu

re

E
a

rl
ie

r
a

c
h

ie
v
e

m
e

n
t
o

f
a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
s
a

v
in

g
s

w
it
h

in
th

e
C

o
rp

o
ra

te

S
e

rv
ic

e
s

D
ir
e

c
to

ra
te

a
s

a
c
o

n
s
e

q
u

e
n

c
e

o
f

th
e

re
s
tr

u
c
tu

re

a
ff

e
c
ti
n

g
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t
a

n
d

P
A

's
,

P
h

a
s
e

2
o

f
w

h
ic

h
w

a
s

im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

in
N

o
v
e

m
b

e
r

2
0

1
1

(9
3

)
1

.0
0

M
a

rk
H

e
a

th

R
E

S
3

F
in

a
n

c
e

S
e

rv
ic

e
R

e
d

u
c
e

d
E

xt
e

rn
a

l
A

u
d

it
F

e
e

s
N

o
n

e
-

S
a

v
in

g
s

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
fo

llo
w

in
g

te
n

d
e

ri
n

g
o

f
s
e

rv
ic

e
(1

5
0

)
(1

5
0

)
(1

5
0

)
A

n
d

y
L

o
w

e

R
E

S
4

A
c
ro

s
s

P
o

rt
fo

lio
R

a
ti
o

n
a

lis
a

ti
o

n
o

f
s
u

p
p

lie
s

a
n

d
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

b
u

d
g

e
ts

N
o

n
e

-
S

a
v
in

g
s

a
c
h

ie
v
e

d
th

ro
u

g
h

a
g

g
re

g
a

ti
o

n
a

n
d

in
c
re

a
s
e

d

c
o

n
tr

o
l

(5
0

)
(5

0
)

(5
0

)
M

a
rk

H
e

a
th

R
E

S
5

A
d

m
in

B
u

ild
in

g
s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

b
u

ild
in

g
s

o
c
c
u

p
ie

d

S
a

v
in

g
s

a
ri
s
in

g
fr

o
m

th
e

c
u

rr
e

n
t
a

p
p

ro
v
e

d
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n

s
tr

a
te

g
y

re
la

ti
n

g
to

th
e

p
la

n
n

e
d

v
a

c
a

ti
o

n
o

f
b

u
ild

in
g

s
a

n
d

ra
ti
o

n
a

lis
a

ti
o

n
o

f
a

c
c
o

m
m

o
d

a
ti
o

n

(5
0

0
)

J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

R
E

S
6

A
d

m
in

B
u

ild
in

g
s

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
T

o
w

n
S

e
rg

e
a

n
t
fu

n
c
ti
o

n
s

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
R

e
c
e

p
ti
o

n
d

u
ti
e

s
a

n
d

S
e

n
io

r
T

o
w

n
S

e
rg

e
a

n
t
ro

le
(1

3
)

(3
8

)
(3

8
)

1
.0

0
J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

R
E

S
7

A
d

m
in

B
u

ild
in

g
s

R
e

v
ie

w
o

f
B

u
s
in

e
s
s

S
u

p
p

o
rt

P
o

s
ts

&

O
p

e
ra

ti
o

n
s

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

A
s

a
re

s
u

lt
o

f
th

e
d

o
w

n
s
iz

in
g

o
f

C
iv

ic
B

u
ild

in
g

s
,
a

n
d

s
tr

e
a

m
lin

in
g

o
f

s
e

rv
ic

e
d

e
liv

e
ry

,
a

re
d

u
c
ti
o

n
in

th
e

a
m

o
u

n
t
o

f
b

u
s
in

e
s
s

s
u

p
p

o
rt

re
q

u
ir
e

d
fo

r
th

e
C

iv
ic

B
u

ild
in

g
s

T
e

a
m

.
P

o
s
s
ib

le

o
u

ts
o

u
rc

in
g

/t
ra

n
s
fe

r
o

f
ID

c
a

rd
a

d
m

in
,
b

u
t
re

q
u

ir
e

s
m

o
re

d
e

ta
ile

d

in
v
e

s
ti
g

a
ti
o

n
.

(2
1

)
(2

1
)

1
.0

0
J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(4

0
6

)
(3

5
9

)
(8

5
9

)
1

.0
0

2
.0

0



A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
2
b

N
e

w

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

R
e

f

S
e

rv
ic

e
A

c
ti

v
it

y
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

o
f

It
e

m
Im

p
a

c
t

/
Is

s
u

e
s

2
0

1
2

/1
3

2
0

1
3

/1
4

2
0

1
4

/1
5

A
t

R
is

k
V

a
c

a
n

t
S

e
n

io
r

M
a

n
a

g
e

r

£
0

0
0

's
£

0
0

0
's

£
0

0
0

's
F

T
E

F
T

E

S
U

M
M

A
R

Y
O

F
E

F
F

IC
IE

N
C

IE
S

A
N

D
S

E
R

V
IC

E
R

E
D

U
C

T
IO

N
S

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

-
S

e
rv

ic
e

R
e

d
u

c
ti

o
n

s

R
E

S
8

A
d

m
in

B
u

ild
in

g
s

R
e

d
u

c
ti
o

n
o

f
s
u

p
p

lie
s
,
s
e

rv
ic

e
s

a
n

d

m
a

in
te

n
a

n
c
e

b
u

d
g

e
ts

A
fu

tu
re

a
p

p
ro

v
e

d
re

d
u

c
ti
o

n
in

b
u

d
g

e
ts

m
a

in
ta

in
in

g
C

iv
ic

B
u

ild
in

g
s
,
w

h
e

re
th

e
re

is
d

is
c
re

ti
o

n
a

ry
s
p

e
n

d
e

.g
.
le

g
a

l
a

n
d

p
o

lic
y

c
o

m
p

lia
n

c
e

w
o

rk
s
,
F

ir
e

R
e

fu
g

e
w

o
rk

s
,
to

ile
t
re

fu
rb

is
h

m
e

n
ts

(f
o

r

H
&

S
a

n
d

D
D

A
re

a
s
o

n
s
),

re
d

e
c
o

ra
ti
o

n
s
,
re

c
a

rp
e

tt
in

g
,
w

a
yf

in
d

in
g

a
n

d
in

fo
rm

a
ti
o

n
b

o
a

rd
s
,
fu

rn
it
u

re
a

n
d

s
e

c
u

ri
ty

e
q

u
ip

m
e

n
t
p

u
rc

h
a

s
e

a
n

d
m

a
in

te
n

a
n

c
e

c
a

n
b

e
a

c
h

ie
v
e

d
in

2
0

1
2

/1
3

.

(1
0

0
)

J
o

h
n

S
p

ie
rs

S
u

b
-t

o
ta

l
(1

0
0

)
0

0
0

.0
0

0
.0

0

R
e

s
o

u
rc

e
s

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

T
o

ta
l

(5
0

6
)

(3
5

9
)

(8
5

9
)

1
.0

0
2

.0
0

G
R

A
N

D
T

O
T

A
L

(8
3

3
)

(1
,9

9
7

)
(2

,5
3

7
)

1
6

.1
3

4
.0

0



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1  

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: SHARED SERVICES 

DATE OF DECISION: 12th JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: CABINET MEMBER FOR RESOURCES 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report has been requested by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Committee. It summarises the council’s developing approach to the 
development of shared services. 

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Committee considers the report and provides feedback. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To assist the Committee in understanding the council’s approach to shared 
services.  

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. The council faces tough financial challenges and is already making 
significant savings this financial year. It will need to make an estimated 
further £46 million in savings over the next two financial years (2013/14 and 
2014/15). This requirement to make large savings coupled with the 
administration’s commitment to protect front line services necessitates new 
ways of delivering services. In doing so, we want to consider a range of 
service delivery options are low cost and high value including: 
 

• Internal Transformation: Redesign of services / activities to achieve 
step changes in customer experience, costs reductions or 
performance  

• Lead Organisation / Trading Company: Lead authority establishes 
vehicle and provides services on behalf of other organisations 

• Shared Services: Merger of services between organisations  

• Strategic Partnerships: Contractual arrangement to jointly plan and 
deliver long term transformation objectives 

• Joint Ventures: New organisation (usually a company) created with 
another public / private or voluntary sector organisation. 

 
4. Our strategic, planned and coordinated approach will focus on maximising 

opportunities for improvement and efficiency as well as delivering the 
savings through: 

• Working with partners who share the same customer base e.g. public 
sector partners on Southampton Connect who provide services to 
residents and businesses in the city 

• Working with councils who provide similar services, thereby exploring 
the potential for reducing costs through joint provision 

• Working with councils who share a common focus e.g. Capita contract 
or external funding bids 

• Working with councils who share a common purpose within the sub 

Agenda Item 12



Page 2  

region 

• Networking within the LGA to explore shared services across a wider 
geographic region for example, working on issues such as HMO 
licensing. 

5. In doing so, we want to initially  focus on the following: 

• Support existing joint appointments with other public sector 
organisations e.g.  Health (Joint and Integrated Commissioning for 
Health and Adult Social Care) and Portsmouth City Council (Joint 
Director for Health and Adult Social Care) 

• Encourage and support managers who are developing or have 
developed successful ideas for shared services e.g. Internal Audit 
(with Hampshire County Council), Building Control Partnership (with 
Eastleigh Council), Legal Services (Fareham Borough Council) and 
Educational Support Services (Isle of Wight Council) 

• Actively explore shared arrangements for those services that can be 
delivered across community boundaries rather than council 
boundaries e.g. with Eastleigh Borough Council 

• Work with Portsmouth City Council on joint arrangements for direct 
services as well as functions such as Communications 

• While we want to ensure we have complete focus for strategic 
environment and economic development issues at director level 
within the city, we remain committed to joint working and will continue 
to develop our relationship with the Isle of Wight. Therefore, 
managers are continuing the work currently being undertaken within 
Planning, Transport and Sustainability to fully consider options for 
shared services 

• We have confirmed our support specifically for the ongoing 
development of joint working with Isle of Wight Council in Children’s 
Services and Learning, and also with Portsmouth City Council in 
Adult Social Care. 

6. We want to work public sector partners in Southampton to explore fully the 
potential for joint working to deliver better outcomes for local residents and 
businesses. We are committed, for example, to: 

• piloting the concept of using a school as a community hub with a wide 
range of public services provided from the site, e.g. health, advice, 
police 

• Sharing Communications with other public bodies 

• Our commitment to the green agenda will be reflected in the work we 
intend to do with other local authorities and housing associations to 
set up an Arms-Length Company to deliver green energy. 

 
7. Needless to say, we are in the processes of translating our vision into 

achievable plans and are in active discussions with a number of partners – 
we intend to keep an open mind to deliver the best possible outcomes for 
local communities. 
 

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

8. None 

Property/Other 

9. None 



Page 3  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

10. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Section 21 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Other Legal Implications:  

11. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

12. None. 

AUTHOR: Name:  Alistair Neill Tel: 023 8083 2417 

 E-mail: Alistair.neill@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None directly as a result of this report. 

 
SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. None 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 
Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 
Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to 

Information Procedure Rules / Schedule 
12A allowing document to be 
Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1

DECISION-MAKER:  OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MANAGEMENT 
COMMITTEE 

SUBJECT: SCRUTINY REVIEW PROGRAMME 2012/13 

DATE OF DECISION: 12th JULY 2012 

REPORT OF: SENIOR MANAGER – CUSTOMER AND BUSINESS 
IMPROVEMENT 

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY 

None 

BRIEF SUMMARY 

This report requests that the Overview and Scrutiny Management Committee (OSMC) 
agrees a draft Scrutiny Review programme for 2012/13.  A list of potential review 
topics is detailed in Appendix 1.  This list has been developed in consultation with the 
Chair of the Committee and the Chairs of the Scrutiny Panels.  The Committee is 
asked to identify two reviews to be undertaken in 2012/13, one each for Scrutiny 
Panel’s A and B.  Terms of reference for each review can then be developed and 
presented to this Committee for approval at the August meeting.  

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

 (i) That the Committee agree a Scrutiny Review programme for 2012/13 
and delegate authority to the Senior Manager – Customer and Business 
Improvement, to develop draft terms of reference for the reviews, in 
consultation with the Chair of the OSMC, and present them for approval 
at the August 2012 meeting of the Committee. 

REASONS FOR REPORT RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. To determine the Scrutiny Review programme for the 2012/13 municipal year 
and to enable draft terms of reference for the reviews to be developed. 

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED 

2. None. The Overview and Scrutiny Procure Rules within the Council’s 
Constitution require the OSMC to establish a programme of scrutiny reviews. 

DETAIL (Including consultation carried out) 

3. For 2012/13 two Scrutiny Panels have been established to undertake scrutiny 
reviews, Scrutiny Panel A and Scrutiny Panel B.  It is the role of the OSMC to 
agree a review programme for the Scrutiny Panels to undertake.  

4. There is capacity within the Council to undertake 2 scrutiny reviews in 
2012/13 to run consecutively.  Members are asked to identify 2 areas for the 
Scrutiny Panel’s to reviews.  A list of potential reviews, developed by the 
Chair of the OSMC and the Scrutiny Panel Chairs, is attached at Appendix 1 
to aid the decision making process.  

5. Once this Committee has agreed a review programme terms of reference 
detailing the scope and timescales of the reviews will be developed by the 
Senior Manager – Customer and Business Improvement, in consultation with 
the Chair of the OSMC, and presented to this Committee for comment and 
approval in August 2012. 

Agenda Item 13



 

 2

RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS 

Capital/Revenue  

6. The revenue costs of undertaking the inquiries will be contained within the 
approved 2012/13 General Fund revenue budget. 

Property/Other 

7. None 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Statutory power to undertake proposals in the report:  

8. The duty to undertake overview and scrutiny is set out in Section 21 of the 
Local Government Act 2000 and the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007. 

Other Legal Implications:  

9. None. 

POLICY FRAMEWORK IMPLICATIONS 

10. None. 

AUTHOR: Name:  Mark Pirnie Tel: 023 8083 3886 

 E-mail: Mark.pirnie@southampton.gov.uk 

KEY DECISION?  No 

WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED: None directly as a result of this report. 

 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION 

Non-confidential appendices are in the Members’ Rooms and can be accessed 
on-line 

Appendices  

1. Potential Scrutiny Areas – 2012/13 

Documents In Members’ Rooms 

 None 

Integrated Impact Assessment  

Do the implications/subject of the report require an Integrated Impact 
Assessment (IIA) to be carried out. 

No 

Other Background Documents 

Integrated Impact Assessment and Other Background documents available for 
inspection at: 

Title of Background Paper(s) Relevant Paragraph of the Access to Information 
Procedure Rules / Schedule 12A allowing document to 
be Exempt/Confidential (if applicable) 

 None  

 



Appendix 1 

POTENTIAL SCRUTINY AREAS FOR 2012/13 

 

INQUIRY AREA POTENTIAL FOCUS OF THE REVIEW 

 

Benefit changes and welfare 
reform 

Impact of benefit changes and welfare reform 
on Southampton and how to mitigate the 
negative impacts.  Potential reference to HRA 
funding and the Think Families Initiative 

 

Bus Transport  In light of a number of changes made to bus 
services across Southampton an inquiry into 
bus services and provision 

 

Housing Affordability 

 

Housing affordability in Southampton 

Equality of access to higher 
education 

Identify the prospects of people from different 
schools in Southampton going on to university 

 

Apprenticeships 
 

How can Southampton City Council 
encourage more suitable and sustainable 
apprenticeships for residents of 
Southampton? 

 

Education – Focus to be 
developed 

 

 

 

Agenda Item 13
Appendix 1



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the Previous Meeting (including matters arising)
	Minutes April & May

	8 Annual Meeting Programme 2012 - 2013
	9 Safeguarding Children
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	10 Safe City Partnership Plan
	Appendix

	11 Forward Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	12 Shared Services
	13 Scrutiny Review Programme 2012/13
	Appendix


